
Agenda

East Area Planning Committee

Date: Wednesday 5 July 2017

Time: 6.00 pm

Place: The Old Library, Town Hall

For any further information please contact the Committee 
Services Officer: 
Jennifer Thompson, Committee and Member Services Officer
Telephone: 01865 252275
Email: democraticservices@oxford.gov.uk

New deadline for registering to speak at a planning committee
Those wishing to speak must register with the Committee Services Officer by noon on 
the working day before the meeting*, giving their name, the application/agenda item they 
wish to speak on, and whether they are objecting to or supporting the application. 
You can register to speak:
 on-line from the agenda webpage
 by e-mail to democraticservices@oxford.gov.uk
 by telephone using the contact details on the committee agenda
* For the avoidance of doubt noon on the working day before the meeting means 12 noon on Monday for a 
Tuesday meeting; 12 noon on a Tuesday for a Wednesday meeting.

If you intend to record the meeting, it would be helpful if you speak to the 
Committee Services Officer before the start of the meeting.

mailto:democraticservices@oxford.gov.uk


East Area Planning Committee

Membership

Chair Councillor Sian Taylor Northfield Brook;

Vice-Chair Councillor David Henwood Cowley;

Councillor Nigel Chapman Headington Hill and Northway;

Councillor Mary Clarkson Marston;

Councillor Ben Lloyd-Shogbesan Lye Valley;

Councillor Sajjad Malik Cowley Marsh;

Councillor John Tanner Littlemore;

Councillor Ruth Wilkinson Headington;

Councillor Dick Wolff St. Mary's;

The quorum for this meeting is five members.  Substitutes are permitted.

Copies of this agenda

Reference copies are available to consult in the Town Hall Reception. Agendas are published 6 
working days before the meeting and the draft minutes a few days after.

All agendas, reports and minutes are available online and can be:
- viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk
- downloaded from our website
- viewed using the computers in the Customer Services, St Aldate’s, or
- subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20169/council_meetings
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/ielogon.aspx?lp=1&RPID=2852798&HPID=2852798&Forms=1&META=mgSubscribeLogon


AGENDA

Pages

1  Apologies for absence and substitutions

2  Declarations of interest

3  16/03006/FUL: Templars Square, Between Towns Road, 
Oxford

11 - 120

Proposal: Mixed use phased development comprising residential 
(Use Class C3), hotel (Use Class C1), retail (Use Class A1/A3/A4) 
with associated car parking, demolition of car park, high level walkway 
and public house, public realm improvements, landscaping, highways 
and refurbishment of car parks and enhancement to shopping centre 
entrances. (amended information) (amended plans).
Site Address: Templars Square, Between Towns Road  
Officer recommendation:
The Committee is recommended to:

a) approve the application for the reasons given in the report 
and subject to the required planning conditions set out in 
section 12 of this report and grant planning permission 
subject to: 

The satisfactory completion of a legal agreement under s.106 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and other enabling 
powers to secure the planning obligations set out in the 
recommended heads of terms which are set out in this report; 
and 

b) Agree to delegate authority to the Head of Planning & 
Regulatory Services to: 

1. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report 
including such refinements, amendments, additions and/or 
deletions as the Head of Planning & Regulatory Services 
considers reasonably necessary;

2. Finalise the recommended legal agreement under section 106 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and other enabling 
powers as set out in this report, including refining, adding to, 
amending and/or deleting the obligations detailed in the heads 
of terms set out in this report (including to dovetail with and 
where appropriate, reinforce the final conditions and 
informatives to be attached to the planning permission) as the 
Head of Planning & Regulatory Services considers reasonably 



necessary; and 
3. Complete the section 106 legal agreement referred to above 

and issue the planning permission.

4  17/00923/FUL: Royal Mail, 7000 Alec Issigonis Way, 
Oxford, OX4 2JZ

121 - 134

Proposal: External alterations of the former Royal Mail Sorting Office 
building including alterations to the existing building facade and 
changes to the layout and levels of the existing service yard and car 
park.
Site Address: Royal Mail 7000 Alec Issigonis Way Oxford
Officer recommendation: The Committee is recommended to: 
a) approve the application for the reasons given in the report and 

subject to the required planning conditions set out in section 10 of 
the officer’s report and grant planning permission; 

b) agree to delegate authority to the Head of Planning, Sustainable 
Development and Regulatory Services to finalise the 
recommended conditions as set out in this report including such 
refinements, amendments, additions and/or deletions as the Head 
of Planning, Sustainable Development and Regulatory Services 
considers reasonably necessary.

5  17/01101/CEU: 99 Gipsy Lane 135 - 140

Proposal: Application to certify that the existing use as a House in 
Multiple Occupation (Use Class C4) is lawful development.
Site Address: 99 Gipsy Lane, Oxford, OX3 7PU
Officer recommendation: The Committee is recommended to 
approve the application for the reasons given in the report and to grant 
a certificate of lawfulness for the development.

6  17/01102/CEU: 7 Old Road, OX3 7JY 141 - 146

Proposal:  Application to certify that the existing use as a House in 
Multiple Occupation (Use Class C4) is lawful development.
Site Address:  7 Old Road, Oxford, OX3 7JY
Officer recommendation: The Committee is recommended to 
approve the application for the reasons given in the report and to grant 
a certificate of lawfulness for the development.



7  17/01115/CT3 Btw 21 and 45 Van Diemans Lane 147 - 156

Proposal:  Provision of 16no. parking spaces.
Site Address: Land  Between 21 And 45, Van Diemans Lane, Oxford, 
Oxfordshire
Officers Recommendation 
East Area Planning Committee is recommended to: 
(a) Approve the application for the reasons given in the report and 

subject to the required planning conditions set out in section 12 
of this report.

(b)  Agree to delegate authority to the Head of Planning, Sustainable 
Development and Regulatory Services to finalise the 
recommended conditions as set out in this report including such 
refinements, amendments, additions and/or deletions as the 
Head of Planning, Sustainable Development and Regulatory 
Services considers reasonably necessary;

8  17/00586/FUL: 3 David Nicholls Close,Oxford, OX4 4QX 157 - 168

Proposal: Enlargement of 1no. existing window including formation 
of Juliette balcony. Insertion of 1no. side door. Relocation of cycle and 
bin storage. Erection of single storey front extension to existing 
annexe (part retrospective).

Site Address: 3 David Nicholls Close Oxford OX4 4QX

Officers Recommendation 
East Area Planning Committee is recommended to: 
(a) Approve the application for the reasons given in the report and 

subject to the required planning conditions set out in section 12 
of this report and grant planning permission. 

(b) Agree to delegate authority to the Head of Planning, 
Sustainable Development and Regulatory Services to finalise 
the recommended conditions as set out in this report including 
such refinements, amendments, additions and/or deletions as 
the Head of Planning, Sustainable Development and Regulatory 
Services considers reasonably necessary;

9  Minutes 169 - 172

Recommendation: That the minutes of the meeting held on 5 June 
2017 are approved as a true and accurate record.



10  Forthcoming applications

Items currently expected to be for consideration by the committee at 
future meetings are listed for information. This is not a definitive list 
and applications may be added or removed at any point. These are 
not for discussion at this meeting.

15/03342/FUL: 16 Clive Road Called in
17/00963/FUL: Land Adjacent to 2, Rymers 
Lane, Oxford, OX4 3LA

Major development

17/00617/CT3: Oxford City Council Depot, 
Marsh Road, OX4 2HH

Council application

16/02549/FUL: Land Adjacent 4 Wychwood 
Lane, OX3 8HG

Non-delegated 
application (as at 
July, still awaiting 
additional 
information)

17/00584/FUL: Cotuit Hall Old House, Pullens 
Lane, Oxford, OX3 0DA

Major application

11  Dates of future meetings

The dates of future meetings are:

2 August 2017
6 September 2017
4 October 2017
8 November 2017
6 December 2017
17 January 2018
7 February 2018
7 March 2018
4 April 2018
23 May 2018



Councillors declaring interests 
General duty
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item 
on the agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to 
you.
What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your 
election expenses); contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the Council’s 
area; corporate tenancies; and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each 
councillor’s Register of Interests which is publicly available on the Council’s website.
Declaring an interest
Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a 
meeting, you must declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature 
as well as the existence of the interest.
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you 
must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the 
meeting whilst the matter is discussed.
Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code 
of Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and 
that “you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be 
questioned”.  What this means is that the matter of interests must be viewed within the 
context of the Code as a whole and regard should continue to be paid to the perception of 
the public.

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but 
also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if they 
were civil partners.



Code of practice for dealing with planning applications at area planning 
committees and planning review committee
Planning controls the development and use of land in the public interest. Applications 
must be determined in accordance with the Council’s adopted policies, unless material 
planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Committee must be conducted in an 
orderly, fair and impartial manner. Advice on bias, predetermination and declarations of 
interest is available from the Monitoring Officer.
The following minimum standards of practice will be followed.  
At the meeting
1. All Members will have pre-read the officers’ report.  Members are also encouraged 

to view any supporting material and to visit the site if they feel that would be helpful 
(in accordance with the rules contained in the Planning Code of Practice contained 
in the Council’s Constitution).

2. At the meeting the Chair may draw attention to this code of practice.  The Chair will 
also explain who is entitled to vote.

3. The sequence for each application discussed at Committee shall be as follows:- 
(a)  the Planning Officer will introduce it with a short presentation; 
(b)  any objectors may speak for up to 5 minutes in total; 
(c)  any supporters may speak for up to 5 minutes in total;
(d) speaking times may be extended by the Chair, provided that equal time is given 

to both sides.  Any non-voting City Councillors and/or Parish and County 
Councillors who may wish to speak for or against the application will have to do 
so as part of the two 5-minute slots mentioned above;

(e)  voting members of the Committee may raise questions (which shall be directed 
via the Chair to the  lead officer presenting the application, who may pass them 
to other relevant Officers and/or other speakers); and 

(f)  voting members will debate and determine the application. 
Preparation of Planning Policy documents – Public Meetings
4. At public meetings Councillors should be careful to be neutral and to listen to all 

points of view.  They should take care to express themselves with respect to all 
present including officers.  They should never say anything that could be taken to 
mean they have already made up their mind before an application is determined.

Public requests to speak
5. Members of the public wishing to speak must notify the Democratic Services Officer 

by noon on the working day before the meeting, giving their name, the 
application/agenda item they wish to speak on and whether they are objecting to or 
supporting the application.  Notifications can be made in person, via e-mail or 
telephone, to the Democratic Services Officer (whose details are on the front of the 
Committee agenda).



Written statements from the public
6. Any written statements that members of the public and Councillors wish to be 

considered should be sent to the planning officer by noon two working days before 
the day of the meeting. The planning officer will report these at the meeting. Material 
received from the public at the meeting will not be accepted or circulated, as 
Councillors are unable to view give proper consideration to the new information and 
officers may not be able to check for accuracy or provide considered advice on any 
material consideration arising. Any such material will not be displayed or shown at 
the meeting.

Exhibiting model and displays at the meeting
7. Applicants or members of the public can exhibit models or displays at the meeting 

as long as they notify the Democratic Services Officer of their intention by noon, two 
working days before the start of the meeting so that members can be notified. 

Recording meetings
8. Members of the public and press can record the proceedings of any public meeting 

of the Council.  If you do wish to record the meeting, please notify the Committee 
clerk prior to the meeting so that they can inform the Chair and direct you to the best 
place to record.  You are not allowed to disturb the meeting and the chair will stop 
the meeting if they feel a recording is disruptive.

9. The Council asks those recording the meeting:
• Not to edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation of the 

proceedings.  This includes not editing an image or views expressed in a way that 
may ridicule, or show a lack of respect towards those being recorded.

• To avoid recording members of the public present unless they are addressing the 
meeting.

Meeting Etiquette
10. All representations should be heard in silence and without interruption. The Chair 

will not permit disruptive behaviour.  Members of the public are reminded that if the 
meeting is not allowed to proceed in an orderly manner then the Chair will withdraw 
the opportunity to address the Committee.  The Committee is a meeting held in 
public, not a public meeting.

11. Members should not:
(a) rely on considerations which are not material planning considerations in law;
(b) question the personal integrity or professionalism of officers in public; 
(c)  proceed to a vote if minded to determine an application against officer’s 

recommendation until the reasons for that decision have been formulated; or 
(d) seek to re-design, or negotiate amendments to, an application. The Committee 

must determine applications as they stand and may impose appropriate 
conditions.

Code updated to reflect Constitution changes agreed at Council in April 2017.



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT

EAST AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 5th July 2017

Application Number: 16/03006/FUL

Decision Due by: 31st September  2017

Proposal: Mixed use phased development comprising residential (Use 
Class C3), hotel (Use Class C1), retail (Use Class 
A1/A3/A4) with associated car parking, demolition of car 
park, high level walkway and public house, public realm 
improvements, landscaping, highways and refurbishment of 
car parks and enhancement to shopping centre entrances. 
(amended information)(amended plans)

Site Address: Templars Square, Between Towns Road (Site Plan, 
Appendix 1a ) 

Ward: Cowley Ward

Agent: GL Hearn Applicant: Mr Jamie Whitfield

RECOMMENDATION:

East Area Planning Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Approve the application for the reasons given in the report and subject to 
the required planning conditions set out in section 12 of this report and grant 
planning permission subject to: 

1. The satisfactory completion of a legal agreement under s.106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and other enabling powers to secure the planning 
obligations set out in the recommended heads of terms which are set out in this 
report; and 

(b) Agree to delegate authority to the Head of Planning & Regulatory Services 
to: 

1. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report including such 
refinements, amendments, additions and/or deletions as the Head of Planning & 
Regulatory Services considers reasonably necessary;

2. Finalise the recommended legal agreement under section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and other enabling powers as set out in this report, 
including refining, adding to, amending and/or deleting the obligations detailed in 
the heads of terms set out in this report (including to dovetail with and where 
appropriate, reinforce the final conditions and informatives to be attached to the 
planning permission) as the Head of Planning & Regulatory Services considers 
reasonably necessary; and 

11

Agenda Item 3



REPORT

3. Complete the section 106 legal agreement referred to above and issue the 
planning permission.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. This report considers an application for a mixed use phased development of a 
number of sites within the Templars Square Primary District Shopping Centre 
comprising residential (Use Class C3), hotel (Use Class C1), retail (Use Class 
A1/A3/A4) with associated car parking, demolition of car park, high level walkway 
and public house, public realm improvements, landscaping, highways and 
refurbishment of car parks and enhancement to shopping centre entrances.  The 
development requires an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) because of its 
size and the Environmental Statement (ES) submitted with the application 
concludes that significant environmental effects have been avoided in the design 
of the proposed development and that likely effects have been considered and 
where necessary mitigation measures recommended to reduce those effects.

2. The report concludes that the development would be of a high quality, making 
best and most efficient use of land creating much needed homes, including a 
proportion of affordable units, create new retail units and meet the acknowledged 
need for hotel accommodation in the City whilst providing new jobs. The 
development would represent a significant opportunity to regenerate part of the 
district centre that is dated and in need of improvement, by providing more social 
activity and vibrancy to the centre itself and also to the public realm.  Whilst the 
development would be higher than other buildings locally and in particular the 
new residential tower block, it would enhance the character and appearance of 
the shopping centre and surrounding street scenes and would not harm the 
setting of the adjacent Conservation Area or listed building.  From more distant 
views, whilst the site is not in any protected view cones of Oxford, the cluster of 
buildings and tower may be considered to harm the views from the City Centre 
out of Oxford to the east.  However, this harm would be less than substantial to 
the overall to the setting of the historic core of Oxford or its landscape setting 
from other public vantage points.  Furthermore, it is considered that on balance 
the public benefits of the scheme in terms of regeneration and economic benefits, 
provision of housing, high quality architecture and public realm improvements, 
taking in to account viability issues and other material considerations are 
considered to outweigh any harm in this case.

3. The development would provide 226 residential flats on a windfall site in a mix of 
1, 2 and 3 bed units which is considered a large number of units towards meeting 
Oxford’s need for housing.  The overall mix of units generally accords with the 
balance of dwellings required and any shortfall is outweighed by the benefits fo 
the development.  Of these units 23% affordable housing would be provided 
contrary to Policy.  However, robust evidence has been submitted which 
demonstrates that the scheme is unviable at higher provisions.  It is considered 
on balance that the public benefits of development in terms of regeneration of the 
shopping centre,  economic terms, provision of substantial number of housing 
units and public realm improvements, outweigh the under provision of affordable 
housing in this case and an exception to Policy should be made.

12



REPORT

4. A small proportion of the flats would not have any private outdoor amenity space 
contrary to policy.  However a contribution in lieu of this amenity provision 
towards improvements to the public amenity space provided by John Allen Park 
opposite is considered acceptable in this case, taking into account the public 
benefits of the scheme overall and other material considerations. 

5. There would be a rationalisation of the existing car parks for the shopping centre, 
including parking for the new hotel and residential development, but a large 
proportion of flats would be car free.  The development is CIL liable and provision 
of a Controlled Parking Zone and highways works would be covered under this. 
However, in this case the Applicant has agreed to deliver these measures 
through a S278 agreement with the County Council.  Whilst the commitment to 
providing a CPZ and the highways works under a S278 agreement is beneficial to 
development it is a matter between the County Council and the Applicant and as 
the mechanism for raising such funds is via CIL, it cannot be considered direct 
mitigation for the development or material to the determination of the application.  
The County Council has raised no objection.  It is considered that development 
would provide significant public realm improvements in highways terms to 
Between Towns Road and improvements to the remaining multi-storey car parks.

6. In other respects the proposed development would provide significant 
landscaping and would not raise concerns in respect of Energy efficiency, 
Archaeology, Trees, flooding, air quality, wind micro-climate and biodiversity.  
There would be no significant harm to neighbouring residential amenities in terms 
of overlooking, loss of privacy, overbearing or overshadowing from the 
development.

7. The proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of the aims and objectives 
of the National Planning Policy Framework, and relevant policies of the Oxford 
Core Strategy 2026, Sites and Housing Plan 2011-2026, and Oxford Local Plan 
2001-2016 subject to appropriately worded planning conditions.

8. A legal agreement would be required to secure the affordable housing provision 
and contribution towards public amenity improvements to the John Allen Park.

SITE DESCRIPTION:

9. Templars Square Shopping Centre is situated within eastern suburb of Oxford on 
Between Towns Road, Crowell Road, Barns Road and Hockmore Street and lies 
to the east of the historic core of Oxford City Centre within Cowley Primary 
District Shopping Area.  The surrounding area is a mix of commercial uses and 
early 20th Century residential suburbs, close to the eastern Business Parks and 
industrial areas.  The shopping centre was originally constructed in the 1960’s 
together with 3 multi storey car parks.  Eventually the originally open air shopping 
centre was covered over and whilst changes and improvements have been made 
both internally and externally with one or two new buildings on Between Towns 
Road (e.g. William Morris PH), much of it is still mid-20th Century in appearance.

10.The application site comprises 3 larger development sites with the Shopping 

13



REPORT

Centre (Sites A, D & F) as follows:
 Site A: Castle Car Park - located in between Crowell Road, Beauchamp Lane, 

and Between Towns Road
 Site D: The former Nelson Public House and Barns Road Car Park – located 

at the eastern end of Between Towns Road at its junction with Barns Road
 Site F: Retail Parade - located between the Northern Entrance to the centre 

and Banjo Road.

11.These principle development sites can be viewed in Appendix 1b.

12. In addition to the principal plots, a number of smaller sites are included consisting 
of existing shopping centre entrances, façade treatments to shopping centre and 
car parks, extensions to the Barns Road and Knights Road Carparks (rest of 
these car parks are outside the application red line) and the whole of public realm 
of Between Towns Road itself.

13.Site A lies adjacent to the Beauchamp Lane Conservation Area (CA) and within 
the setting of No.1 Beauchamp Lane which is a circa 17th Century thatched 
cottage and Grade II listed.  The CA is a small area characterised by its rural 
village appearance and charm predominated by residential houses with front 
gardens informally planted with trees and shrubs.  Many buildings and boundary 
walls are constructed in stone and interspersed through the houses are a Church 
and old school buildings.  Beauchamp Lane, as its name suggests is a narrow 
vehicular lane, which typifies the character of the CA.

PROPOSAL:

14.The application is seeking permission for a mixed use development comprising a 
total of 226 new flats (1, 2 & 3 beds), hotel, commercial uses and public realm 
improvements as follows:
 Demolition of the Nelson PH and erection of 2 commercial ground floor units 

with a 71 bed Travel Lodge Hotel and a high rise block of 69 flats on 14 floors 
above, identified as Site D;

 Construction of 58 flats on 6 floors on top of the existing parade of shops on 
Between Towns Road, identified as Site F;

 Demolition of the Castle Multi-story Car park and bridge link over Crowell 
Road and erection of 99 flats in two blocks; 9 floors on corner of Crowell Road 
and Between Towns Road reducing down to 5 floors on the corner of 
Beauchamp Lane; second smaller block of flats on 4 floors facing onto 
Beauchamp Lane and corner with the access to the Ark T Centre/ Church, 
identified as Site A;

 New lift/ staircase cores to the existing Barns Rd & Knight Road car parks;
 Re-facing of the shopping centre and Barns Road Car Park on Between 

Towns Road and improvement to the all the existing entrances into the 
shopping centre; 

 Public realm enhancement on Between Towns Road, including widening of 
pavement, street trees with in planters that serve as seating and informal child 
play, widening of the pedestrian crossing to the John Allen Centre, re-location 
of bus stops (none removed) and new bus turning circle, relocation of taxi 
rank and limited waiting bays.

14



REPORT

15.The report considers the key issues arising in assessing the application.

LEGAL AGREEMENT:

16.A Legal Agreement between the Applicant and the City Council is required to 
secure affordable housing and contribution of £55,000 towards public amenity 
improvements to the John Allen Park on Between Towns Road.

Heads of Terms:

17.23% (units 51) affordable Housing including 1bed (2 person) & 2 bed (four 
person) units at Site F; 61% (31 units) of these would be social rent and 39% (20 
units) shared ownership.

18.A contribution of £55,000 towards specific improvements to the John Allen Park 
including new bins & benches, re-landscaping (planting and new footpaths) and 
child’s play facilities.  Full details to be agreed between all parties.

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL):

19.The development is CIL liable: of £1,003,339

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES:

20.The following policies are relevant to the application:

Topic National 
Planning 
Policy 
Framework 
(NPPF)

Local Plan Core 
Strategy

Sites and 
Housing Plan

Other Planning 
Documents

Design 7 CP.1, CP8, 
CP.9, 
CP.14, 
RC.13, 
RC.14

CS18 HP9

Conservation/ 
Heritage

12 HE.2, HE.3,   
HE.7, 
HE.8,HE.9, 
HE.10, 

Housing 6 CP.5, CP.6, 
CP.10

CS3, CS22, 
CS24,  

HP2, HP3, 
HP10, HP11, 
HP12, HP13, 
HP14, SP10

Balance of 
Dwellings 
SPD, 
Affordable 
Housing and 
Planning 
Obligations, 
Space 
Standards 
TAN, 

15



REPORT

Commercial 1, 2 EC.1,  
EC.8, 
RC.3,
RC.4, RC.5  
RC.12, 
RC.18, 
TA.4,

CS1, CS27, 
CS31 

SP10

Natural 
Environment

9, 11, 13 CP.11, 
CP.17, 
CP.18, 
NE.11, 
NE.12, 
NE.13, 
NE.14, 
NE.15,  
NE.23

CS2, CS9, 
CS11, 
CS12

HP11 Natural 
Resource 
Impact 
Analysis SPD

Social and 
community

8 CS19, 

Transport 4 TR.1, TR.2, 
TR.3, 
TR.4,TR.7 
TR.13, 
TR.14, 
SR.11

CS13, 
CS14, 
CS17

HP15, HP16 Parking 
Standards 
SPD

Environmental 10 CP.20, 
CP.21, 
CP.22, 
CP.23

CS10 Energy 
Statement 
TAN

Misc 5 CP.13, 
CP.24, 
CP.25

CS2 MP1

Other Planning Documents and Material Considerations
National Planning Policy Framework
Planning Practice Guidance
The site affects the setting of the Beauchamp Lane Conservation Area

PUBLIC CONSULTATION:

Statutory Consultees:

 Cherwell District Council:
Cherwell District Council has no objection to the proposal.

 County Council:
See Appendix 2 for their full comments.

 Environment Agency Thames Region:
Due to increased workload prioritisation we are unable to make a detailed 
assessment of this application. We have checked the environmental constraints 
for the location and have the following guidance. Groundwater Protection: The site 

16



REPORT

lies on a secondary aquifer. If infiltration drainage is proposed then it must be 
demonstrated that it will not pose a risk to groundwater quality. We consider any 
infiltration SuDS greater than 3m below ground level to be a deep system and 
generally not acceptable. All infiltration SuDS require a minimum of 1m clearance 
between the base and peak seasonal groundwater levels. All need to meet the 
criteria set out in our Groundwater Protection: Principles and Practice (GP3) 
document. In addition, they must not be constructed in ground affected by 
contamination. Surface water flood risk: The Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order changed on 15 April 
2015. The statutory responsibility to provide comments on surface water drainage 
proposals for major applications has passed to the relevant Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) from this date. In this case the LLFA is Oxfordshire County 
Council.

 Historic England Commission:
On the basis of this information, we do not wish to offer any comments. We 
suggest that you seek the views of your specialist conservation and archaeological 
advisers, as relevant.

 Thames Water Utilities Limited:
No objection: Waste Comments: There are public sewers crossing or close to your 
development. With the information provided Thames Water, has been unable to 
determine the waste water infrastructure needs of this application and 
recommends a 'Grampian Style' condition be applied requiring details of a 
drainage strategy detailing any on and/or off site drainage works in consultation 
with Thames Water.  The drainage strategy should detail the following (1) The 
existing Foul and Surface Water peak discharge rates from this site. (2) The 
proposed connection points for both foul and surface water discharge from the 
site. (3) confirmation of how foul water is discharged (i.e. gravity or pumped flow). 
Where a pumped flow is proposed, the drainage strategy should confirm the 
proposed pump rate. Thames Water would expect a significant reduction in 
surface water discharge post development from the greenfield/existing run-off 
rate. Discharges shall be attenuated to reduce the likelihood of flooding 
downstream of the point of connection. As a guide a discharge rate of 5 
litres/second/Hectare shall be applied. We would also expect the developer to 
demonstrate how they have considered the hierarchy of disposal methods for 
surface water disposal. The disposal hierarchy being;- 1st Soakaways; 2nd 
Watercourses; 3rd Sewer.  Water comments: Thames Water main crossing the 
development site which may/will need to be diverted. A condition is required so 
that no piling shall take place until a piling method statement has been agreed as 
proposed works will be in close proximity to underground water utility infrastructure

 
Third Parties & Individual Comments:
A summary of all comments received from third parties can be found in Appendix 3 
of this report

Pre – App Discussion / Public Consultation:

21.The Applicant has undertaken extensive  pre-application discussion with Officers 
of the Council, Oxford Design Review Panel (ODRP) and Oxfordshire County 

17



REPORT

Council.  An initial ODRP design workshop was held on 21st April 2015 and the 
vision for the shopping centre and development was considered at that stage.  
Further pre-app discussion was undertaken with the City Council and a further 
ODRP design workshop review was held on 10th September 2015.  The 
development proposals were refined subsequent to that session and further 
discussion with the Council.  A final full design review of these proposals was 
made by ODRP on the 3rd December 2015.   Copies of their advice can be found 
at Appendix 4.   In summary the ODRP at its last session advised that overall 
they supported the development proposals and that

“The proposal for Templars Square Shopping Centre has improved significantly 
since the ODRP Design Workshop on 21 April 2015 and the ODRP Design 
Review on 10 September 2015. Keeping the overall vision for the entire area in 
mind whilst redefining the red line boundary has helped focus on specific areas 
and achieve greater clarity in what NewRiver is committing to deliver. Many 
issues raised in the last ODRP Design Review relating to public realm and 
architectural expression have been successfully resolved. The proposed massing 
is acceptable.”

22.The Applicant undertook two public consultation events in the shopping centre 
with local residents and businesses, Members and local stakeholders including 
OPT & the Civic Society.  These sessions were held on the 1st & 2nd August 2015 
and 9th & 10th October 2015 respectively and attracted over 1200 people in total. 
These events were publicised in the local papers and a local leaflet drop.  On the 
whole the development proposals were well received and the need for 
improvement recognised.  Comments regarding were expressed regarding 
Beauchamp Lane and its Conservation Area status, character and appearance, 
potential overlooking issues and increased traffic and parking.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT:

23.The planning application is supported by an Environmental Statement (ES) which 
considers the likely environmental effects of the development and proposes, 
where necessary, measures to mitigate any adverse effects that might arise.  The 
ES is necessary because paragraph 10(b) of Schedule 2 of the Town and County 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2011 as amended by the Town and Country Planning ((Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Amendment) Regulations 2015 will normally require and 
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) to be undertaken for any mixsed use 
urban development project in excess of 0.5ha.  The EIA is an important 
procedure for ensuring that the likely effects of a new development on the 
environment are understood and taken into account before development goes 
ahead.  However where an ES finds that a development would have an adverse 
effect it does not follow that planning permission must be refused as it is for each 
local planning authority decision maker to determine every planning application 
on its own merits within the context of the development plan, taking into account 
all material considerations, including environmental impacts.

24.As part of the EIA process the Applicant prepared a ‘Scoping Report’ that 
indicated a range of topics that it was intended to consider in the ES.  This was 

18



REPORT

sent to the Council as local planning authority as a request for a ‘Scoping 
Opinion’ under Article 13 of the EIA Regulations 2011.  The topics agreed were
 Landscape (Townscape) and Visual Impact;
 Traffic and Transport;
 Socio-Economic Effects;
 Noise and Vibration;
 Air Quality
 Biodiversity (Ecology);
 Cultural Heritage (including below ground archaeology);
 Hydrology (surface water drainage and flood risk)
 Sunlight and Daylight
 Ground Conditions and Contamination; and
 Wind Microclimate Conditions. 

25.Attached at Appendix 5 is a summary of the environmental impacts of the 
development including effects and mitigation for each topic.  These topics have 
also been considered within the report.

OFFICERS ASSESSMENT:

26.Officers consider the principal determining issues to be:
 Principle of Development;
 Residential Use;
 Site Layout, Built Form & Heritage;
 Impact on Neighbouring Amenities;
 Highways, access & Parking;
 Landscaping; 
 Flood risk and drainage;
 Biodiversity; 
 Energy Efficiency;
 Air Quality;
 Socio- Economics;
 Public Art;
 Wind Microclimate
 Archaeology; 
 Contamination;
 Other Matters : Noise & Vibration, Lighting, wayfinding, CCTV, Adverts Totem

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT:

27.The National Planning Policy Framework has a presumption in favour of 
delivering sustainable development, which it sees as meaning planning for 
economic, environmental, and social progress (paragraphs 6 & 7).  The NPPF 
makes clear in Paragraph 14 that this presumption should be seen as the golden-
thread running through plan-making and decision-taking, which for decision-
taking means approving development proposals that accord with the 
development plan without delay.

19



REPORT

28.The NPPF contains a set of core land-use planning principles which should 
underpin decision-making. The elements of these core principles that are 
particularly relevant to this Brief relate to good quality design and the 
conservation and enhancement of the historic environment.

29.The NPPF states that it is important to plan positively for the achievement of high 
quality and inclusive design for all development, including individual buildings, 
public and private spaces and wider area development schemes. Development 
should add to the overall quality of the area; establish a strong sense of place 
creating attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit; optimise the 
potential of the site to accommodate development; respond to local character and 
history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and materials, while not 
preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation; create safe and accessible 
environments; and are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and 
appropriate landscaping.

30. In relation to the historic environment NPPF aspires for positive strategies for the 
conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment that will sustain and 
enhance the significance of heritage assets; recognise the wider social, cultural, 
economic and environmental benefits that conservation of the historic 
environment can bring; make a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness; and take opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the 
historic environment to the character of a place.

31.Cowley Centre Shopping Centre is a Primary District Centre in Oxford’s retail 
hierarchy as set out in the Core Strategy Policy CS1. District centres are suitable 
for retail, leisure, employment and other uses serving district-level needs. The 
primary district centre is suitable for uses serving a larger catchment area than 
other district centres. Planning permission will be granted for such development 
provided it is of an appropriate scale and design and maintains or improves the 
mix of uses available.  District centres, and their immediate surroundings, are 
appropriate locations for medium to high-density development.

32.The Cowley Shopping Centre and surrounding area is dated and is in need of 
improvement and this has been recognised by the Council and the Applicant. As 
such it is specifically allocated for retail-led mixed use development under Sites 
and Housing Plan Policy SP10 in accordance with Oxford Core Strategy CS1.  A 
mix of town centre (retail, offices, restaurants/ cafes etc.), residential and 
community uses are encouraged here whilst making the best and efficient use of 
the site and being well designed. A Cowley Centre masterplan would be desirable 
to aid comprehensive development. The design of any new development should 
consider the special character of the Beauchamp Lane Conservation Area 
adjacent and should significantly improve the design of the public realm.  
Furthermore development should take opportunities to improve bus stopping 
areas, signage and facilities.

33.The Applicant, New River Retail (NRR), is a long term investment charitable trust 
who state that they have the long term interests of the centre at heart and will be 

20



REPORT

leaseholders for the foreseeable future.  They have not formally submitted a 
masterplan for the Cowley centre as such but have put forward a vision 
masterplan for the shopping centre.  NRR see the regeneration of Cowley is an 
opportunity to help secure its future and help it compete with nearby towns and 
Shopping Centres.  Investment will also create a better environment for those 
who would like to live and work in Cowley.  Their design drivers have therefore 
been to: 

• To protect the future of Cowley as a retail destination;
• To regenerate underused parts of the site to support future growth;
• To create a diverse and vibrant town centre; 
• To re-integrate the Centre into the wider townscape;
• To re-focus the design quality to help Cowley become a true destination; and
• To create high quality places and spaces.

34.Currently existing occupiers’ leases in place prevent a more comprehensive re-
development of the site at this stage.  However it is their intention to bring forward 
other sites for re-development when they become available. 

35.The proposed development would bring further mixed town centre uses to the site 
including hotel, two commercial units along with 226 residential flats whilst 
significantly improving the overall aesthetic appearance of the shopping centre 
giving  a much need face-lift of existing facades and entrances & car parks.  It 
would also significantly improve the public realm, particularly on Between Towns 
road including bust stops, taxi ranks, pedestrian crossing and bus turning.  It 
would bring further economic benefits through the creation of approximately 57 
full time jobs from the hotel & commercial units.  The residential uses would add 
to the small amount of residential accommodation already above the centre.   
The development would therefore increase the mix of uses in the area and add 
vitality and diversity and encouraging regeneration.  It is therefore considered 
acceptable in principle in accordance with CS2 and CS32 of the CS and SP10 of 
the SHP.

36. There is an acknowledged need for short stay hotel accommodation within the 
City and Policy CS32 of the CS seeks to achieve sustainable tourism by 
encouraging longer stays and greater spend in Oxford. The amount and diversity 
of short-stay accommodation to support this aim will be achieved by permitting 
new sites in the city centre and on Oxford’s main arterial roads, and by protecting 
and modernising existing sites to support this use. This is further supported by 
Policy TA4 of the OLP.   Development should be acceptable in terms of access, 
parking, highway safety, traffic generation, pedestrian and cycle movements and 
would not result in an unacceptable level of noise and disturbance to nearby 
residents.   Whilst Between Towns Road is not specifically identified as an arterial 
route in Policy TA4 Church Cowley Road is and it is essentially the same route; 
the name changes to Between Towns Road at the junction of Church Cowley 
Road and Beauchamp Lane.  Officers’ consider therefore that Between Towns 
Road is also therefore an arterial route but in any event, given the overall benefits 
of the development in terms of social, economic and residential it is considered 
that these would outweigh any disagreement on arterial route designation in this 
case.  Issues relating to Highways and impact on residential amenities are set out 

21



REPORT

in more detail below and subject to those being satisfactory; the principle of 
increased hotel accommodation is therefore considered acceptable.

37.The commercial ground floor units are proposed with a flexible use of A1 (Shops), 
A3 (Restaurants and Cafes) or A4 (Drinking Establishments) as the occupiers are 
not yet known.  However these proposed uses are expected within a shopping 
centre and district centre and accord with the core strategy and district centre 
policies and is therefore considered acceptable in principle.  Details of 
mechanical plant/cooking odour/ shop fronts could be suitably secured by 
condition.

38. In summary it is considered that the proposed development of mixed hotel, 
commercial and residential uses is acceptable in principle in accordance with 
Development Plan Policies and NPPF, subject to other relevant policies set out 
below. 

RESIDENTIAL USE:

Balance of Dwellings:

39.The Core Strategy aims to deliver housing to meet the high demand for housing 
in Oxford. CS23 a balanced mix of housing to meet the projected future 
household need, both within each site and across Oxford.  A mix of housing is 
required which relates to the size, type and tenure of dwellings to provide for a 
range of households as a whole and district centres are expected to deliver 
higher densities.  This mix is supported by the Balance of Dwellings SPD which   
sets out the appropriate housing mixes for District centres.  It is considered that  
District Centres have the potential to provide for higher densities, which would 
allow for a greater proportion of smaller units but at the same time encourage 
‘family housing’.  The promotion of residential accommodation in these centres 
will add to their overall vitality and viability and they are accessible and have good 
public transport links. There would also be opportunities for car-free or at least 
limited car parking facilities. 

40.Residential development in the District Centres should aim to provide to following 
mix for more than 10 units:
 1 bed 15-25 %
 2 bed 35-50 %
 3 bed 20-30 %
 4+bed 10-20 %

41.Of the total 226 units there is a total provision of 41% (92) 1beds, 49% (111) 
2beds, and 10% (23) 3beds,  as follows; 

 Site A: 38 1beds, 48 2beds, 13 3beds
 Site D: 25 1beds, 40 2beds, 4 3beds
 Site F: 29 1beds, 23 2 beds, 6 3beds

42.This proposal therefore does not quite meet the percentages set out in the SPD, 
however, given its location site constraints and limitations of the development 

22



REPORT

(viability and construction) and in conjunction with the large number of additional 
windfall residential units that would be provided it is considered that on balance 
an exception to Policy CS23 and BODs SPD can be made in this case.

Affordable Housing:

43.Policy HP3 of the Sites and Housing Plan 2011-2026 (SHP) states that planning 
permission will only be granted for residential development on sites with capacity 
for 10 or more dwellings if a minimum of 50% of the dwellings on the site are 
provided as affordable homes, with 80% of these social rented and 20% 
intermediate tenure.  Policy HP3 also sets out that exceptions will be made only if 
it is robustly demonstrated that this level of provision makes a site unviable, in 
which case developers and the City Council will work through a cascade 
approach, incrementally reducing affordable housing provision or financial 
contribution, until the scheme is made viable.

44.Policy HP3 also requires that the developer must demonstrate that the mix of 
dwelling sizes meets the City Council’s preferred strategic mix for affordable 
housing. The Affordable Housing & Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document (AHPO SPD) sets out the strategic mix of unit sizes for sites inside the 
City and District centres, which in summary requires 20- 35% of affordable units 
to be 3 bed (5 person) units ,  40-60% 2 bed (4 person) units and 5-25% 1bed (2 
person) units.

45.The application as submitted proposed the provision of 18% on-site affordable 
units (40 flats) in Site F, which equated to 82% social rent (33 units) and 18% 
shared ownership (7 units).  It was therefore contrary to Policy HP3 in terms of 
the proportion of affordable housing and mix of dwellings whilst almost meeting 
the required 80:20 tenure split in favour of social rent.  The Applicant submitted 
Financial Viability Appraisal containing viability evidence to demonstrate that any 
contribution to affordable housing beyond the 40 flats proposed would make the 
scheme unviable and therefore an exception should be made in this case, in 
accordance with HP3. 

Viability appraisal:

46.As outlined, there is flexibility within Policy HP3 to apply the ‘cascade approach’ 
where there is robust evidence that the full affordable housing provision will make 
the site unviable. This is consistent with the NPPF (paragraph 173) regarding 
viability, which refers to the need to provide “competitive returns to a willing land 
owner and willing developer to enable the development to be deliverable”.

47.A developer must work through the cascade approach in order to robustly 
demonstrate why an alternative provision of affordable housing should be 
considered.  Firstly they must test scenarios of incrementally reducing the 
proportion of intermediate affordable housing on site to a minimum of 40% social 
rented affordable units.  As a last resort, if 40% affordable housing is still 
unviable, the applicant may provide a financial contribution in lieu of on-site 
affordable units starting at 15% of the sales values of the dwellings.

23



REPORT

48.The submitted Financial Viability Appraisal by Affordable Housing Solutions Ltd 
(AHS) concluded that 40units (18%) could be supported as being affordable, and 
that these would be 33 homes for social rent and 7 homes for shared ownership 
The shared ownership values are derived on the basis of a 25% equity sale 
tranche, and a rent level based on 2.75% of unsold equity.

49.The Council’s methodology for assessing viability is set out in Appendix 3 of the  
AHPO SPD. In simple terms, this works out what a developer could afford to pay 
for a site it wishes to develop (the RLV). This is calculated as the difference 
between the Gross Development Value (GDV) – i.e. what the completed 
development is worth when sold – and the total cost of carrying out the 
development, including an appropriate margin of developer profit. The RLV is 
then compared with an appropriate benchmark land value. If the RLV is greater 
than the benchmark value, then the scheme is viable.

50. In normal circumstances the benchmark land value will be the value of the site in 
its current condition, should it be sold for its current use, plus an additional uplift 
in this value as an incentive for the current owner to sell (a “competitive return to 
a willing landowner”). 

51.Viability appraisals involve a number of assumptions and estimates being made 
in a model. Even small differences in these assumptions can make a significant 
difference to the outcome of the appraisal. Therefore, it is important that all 
figures fed into the appraisal are clearly justified with appropriate evidence to 
ensure a robust viability appraisal.

52.Given the low percentage offer of affordable housing proposed both parties 
agreed to commission an independent assessment to audit the viability 
information provided by the applicant and provide a professional judgement about 
key elements of the appraisal.  This assessment was done by Jones Lang 
LaSalle (JLL).

53.The JLL assessment disagreed with a number of the assumptions made by AHS 
in determining their opinion of the Benchmark Land Value and the value of the 
proposed scheme.  The ran the scenarios of 50% and 40% affordable housing 
provision in accordance with the cascade approach based on their own 
assumptions and found that in both scenarios the scheme would be unviable 
making a loss of approximately £5.3m and 3.8m respectively.  They also 
considered the 18% scenario, again based on their assumptions, and this too 
found the scheme to be unviable but by a smaller loss of £285k. Furthermore to 
provide more affordable units within the scenarios would result in provision split 
across all three Sites which would not be practical or deliverable. In conclusion 
however JLL considered that on balance, and notwithstanding the differences in 
assumptions made, it concurred with AHS that 40 dwellings (18% of the 
residential dwellings) proposed was the maximum reasonable level of affordable 
housing that could be delivered by the scheme.

54.The Applicant took on board the assumptions and conclusion of the JLL report 

24



REPORT

and sought to increase the amount of affordable housing in recognition of the 
importance of affordable housing in Oxford.   An additional unit was created in 
Site F following design rationalisation to meet the tenure required (2 bed 4 person 
and 21 bed 3 person units) totalling 226 units.  Subsequently a Viability Appraisal 
Addendum was submitted by AHS which demonstrates that 51 units (23%) in site 
F could be supported as being affordable, of these 61% (31 units) of these would 
be social rent and 39% (20 units) shared ownership (intermediate tenure: still on 
the basis of a 25% equity sale tranche, and a rent level based on 2.75% of 
unsold equity).  This has been achieved through adjusting the existing use value, 
as reduction building costs for site C and a reduction in CIL contribution resulting 
from deducting the relief on the affordable housing (CIL is not liable on affordable 
units).  

55.JLL has reassessed the new information and advises that evidence robustly 
justifies that 23% affordable would be the maximum reasonable level of 
affordable housing that can be delivered at the site.

56. It is clear that at 23% affordable housing that the proposal is contrary to Policy, 
falling short of the required 50% and even the minimum 40% set out in the 
cascade approach.  However, the information submitted has demonstrated that 
the scheme is unviable at higher provisions and Officers are satisfied that this 
evidence is robust.  Whilst a financial contribution could have been taken towards 
affordable housing elsewhere, it has been recognised that the need is for onsite 
provision rather than off-site and furthermore that social rent units are needed 
more than shared ownership.  However, whilst delivering a high number of overall 
residential units plus hotel & commercial units and public realm improvements the 
viability of this development is very finely balanced.   The scheme is in fact only 
just viable at 23%, as the evidence submitted demonstrates, and the quantum of 
residential in total and private sales to affordable and other uses is critical to the 
overall success of the scheme.  

57.The Council has been trying to encourage investment in the centre for a long time 
but with no success and the scale and magnitude of the development proposed 
in Officers opinion represents a huge regeneration opportunity.   Not only would it 
kick start regeneration of the shopping centre itself and the District Shopping 
Centre but would have a ripple effect out on the whole surrounding area.  It is 
therefore considered on balance that the public benefits of development outweigh 
the under provision of affordable housing in this case and an exception to Policy 
should be made.  The affordable housing would be secured via a legal 
agreement.

SITE LAYOUT, BUILT FORM AND HERITAGE:

58.Local planning authorities have a duty to have special regard to the preservation 
or enhancement of designated heritage assets, (e.g. listed buildings and 
conservation areas).  The NPPF encourages local planning authorities to look for 
opportunities to better reveal or enhance heritage assets and their settings and 
states that proposals that do make a positive contribution should be treated 
favourably.

25



REPORT

59. In considering the impact of a proposed development the NPPF states that the 
significance of a designated heritage asset should be considered and great 
weight given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, the 
greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed or lost through 
alteration or destruction of a heritage asset or development within its setting. As 
heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and 
convincing justification, measured in terms of the public benefits to be delivered 
through the proposal.

60.The NPPG seeks to explain what is meant by ‘public benefits’  and these could 
be anything that delivers economic, social or environmental progress and can 
include heritage benefits such as:
 Sustaining or enhancing the significance of a heritage asses and the 

contribution of its setting;
 Reducing or removing risks to a heritage asset; and 
 Securing the optimum viable use of a heritage asset.

61.The proposal does not involve works that would directly affect any listed building 
but the site forms part of the setting of the historic core of Oxford and the 
Beauchamp Lane CA and Grade II listed No.1 Beauchamp Lane.

62.Published guidance by Historic England on ‘The Setting of Heritage Assets (Oct 
2011) provides a methodology for understanding the setting of an Asset and how 
it contributes to the heritage significance of that asset and explains how to assess 
the impact of development.  Historic England explains that the setting of a 
heritage asset is the surrounding in which it is experienced.  Furthermore the 
setting is not fixed and may change as the surrounding context changes.  The 
Landscape Institute has also published guidance in’ Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment’ (2013) to help identify the significance and effect of change 
resulting from development.  Finally the Council has published their own ‘View 
Cones Assessment’ in 2015 that was drawn up in partnership with Oxford 
Preservation Trust and Historic England and which also references the 
Landscape Institute 2013 guidance, and which sets out guidance on how to 
assess the development from views within and outside of Oxford.

63.Policy CP1 of the Oxford Local Plan states that planning permission will only be 
granted for development that shows a high standard of design that respects the 
character and appearance of the area and uses materials of a quality appropriate 
to the nature of the development, the site and its surroundings.  Policy CP6 states 
that development proposals should make the best use of site capacity but in a 
manner that would be compatible with both the site itself and the surrounding 
area.  Policy CP8 suggests that the siting, massing and design of any new 
development should create an appropriate visual relationship with the form, grain, 
scale, materials and detailing of the surrounding area.

64.Policy HE3 and HE7 of the Oxford Local Plan states that planning permission will 
only be granted for development that preserves or enhances the special 
character and appearance of conservation areas and their settings and the 

26



REPORT

settings of Listed Buildings.  Policy CS18 of the Core Strategy emphasizes the 
importance of good urban design that contributes towards the provision of an 
attractive public realm.

65.The Shopping Centre and Castle multi-storey car park are 20th Century in form 
and appearance and of their time.  The general environment around the district 
centre is somewhat sterile and bland without much social activity or vibrancy.  
Whilst changes and improvements have been made overall there is an 
acknowledged need for investment and updating of the shopping centre to bring 
into this Century.    The Castle multi-storey car park is a good example of form 
and function of its era however it looms large on the corner of Beauchamp Lane 
and the Grade I listed thatched cottage on the opposite corner, and is considered 
by many to have a negative impact on the character and appearance of this small 
domestic scale leafy lane and the Conservation Area.   

66.Above the shopping centre are several blocks of flats including Pound House and 
Hockmore Tower Block, recently re-clad, contemporary with the shopping centre.  
Crowell Road (northern end adjacent to the centre) and Hockmore Street are in 
general commercial in nature and for the most part hard edged inactive streets, 
except for the smaller side/ rear entrances and back of house services yards for 
the shopping centre.  Crowell Road extends southwards into the suburban area 
surrounding the shopping centre to the south including The Grates and Hampden 
Road and becomes more active characterised by early 20th Century houses set 
back from the road with front gardens and off street parking.

67.Between Towns Road itself is commercial in character with the old Nelson PH 
(now vacant), parade of shops and offices, William Morris PH and dominated by 
the road and vehicles.  To the north is the John Allen Centre, now called 
Templars Shopping Park, built in the late 20th Century.

68.The proposal has been developed following extensive pre-application discussions 
with officers and the Oxford Design Review Panel.  The comments of the panel 
are enclosed in Appendix 4 of this report.  In general ODRP have been 
supportive of the proposal offering advice on such matters as architectural 
language and articulation, single aspect units, landscaping and public realm, 
entrances to flats, hotel and shopping centre and activity which the Applicant has 
taken on board and implemented where possible.  ODRP commented in their last 
letter that they considered many issues previously raised relating to public realm 
and architectural expression had been successfully resolved.  Furthermore they 
considered the proposed massing of the development as a whole was 
acceptable. 

Height, Scale and Massing:

69.The site is located within a Primary District Shopping Centre wherein higher 
density mixed use development is supported, as set out elsewhere in the report.  
Recent proposals constructed surrounding the site have reached approximately 5 
storeys in height, such the mixed residential, community centre & Emmaus 
building on Barns Road, and the Swan Garage site on Between Towns Road that 
has recent Committee approval for student accommodation also on 5 storeys.  It 

27



REPORT

is acknowledged however that his development would push the current accepted 
heights further than has previously been considered to 15 storeys at Site D, 9 
storeys at Site A and 8 at Site F.  

70.The proposed development represents a substantial regeneration opportunity for 
this tired shopping centre, something which the Council has been encouraging for 
quite some time with previous owners, but to no avail.   The Hockmore Tower is 
10 storeys high sitting above the shopping centre and surrounding buildings and it 
would be fair to say that it stands out on its own as an exception rather than a 
common feature here.  The proposed development would create a collection of 
taller buildings of a similar height, scale and massing to the Hockmore tower, with 
the exception of the height of the tower block, that would improve the relationship 
to both the Hockmore Tower and the shopping centre itself.  It is also considered 
that the three sites would form an appropriate relationship in terms of height, 
scale and massing to themselves.  In doing so the development would create a 
visual landmark within the surrounding suburban area, particularly when 
approaching from the east and west on Between Towns Road, and improve the 
Cowley Centres’ status as a Primary District Centre.   

Site A:

71.Site A is made up of two blocks around a shared central courtyard space.  Block 
A1 sits on the corner of Between Towns Road and, Crowell Road and 
Beauchamp Lane.  Block A2 on the corner of Beauchamp Lane and the passage 
through to Crowell Road past the John Bunyan Church.  Block A1 rises up to 9 
floors (approx. 26m) on the corner with Crowell Road, with the top floor inset to 
reduce the massing.  Block A2 is the same height as A1 on Beauchamp Lane but 
due to the slope of the road would be only 4 floors in height. 

72. In terms of height, scale and massing, it is considered that the blocks have been 
appropriately designed to respect the character and domestic scale of 
Beauchamp Lane and the John Bunyan Church/ Ark T centre behind and the 
more generous scale and proportions of the existing shopping centre on Crowell 
Road and John Allen Centre opposite on Between Towns Road.  It is considered 
that the new buildings would not appear overbearing or visually intrusive within 
the street scenes of surrounding roads or pedestrian cut-through past the Church.  
Specifically In relation to Beauchamp Lane itself and the listed building and CA 
the buildings would be lower in height than the existing car park and although 
further forward onto Beauchamp Lane would reduce the existing bulk and 
massing of the car park due to it being split into two separate Blocks.  The 
elevations have been articulated which further reduces the massing creating a 
residential scale.   It is considered that Site A would not appear overbearing 
within the street scene.  The proposal would not harm the character and 
appearance of this part of the CA or the setting of the listed cottage and would 
improve the scale and massing of the current situation and would therefore 
enhance and improve the setting of the CA and listed  building adjacent. 

Site D:

73.Site D is a new mixed use block commercial, residential and hotel development 

28



REPORT

on the site of the Nelson PH.  The intention is to create a taller landmark building 
for the Centre and indicate the main entrance into the shopping centre when 
approaching from the zig-zag footpath up the bank from the John Allen centre 
opposite.  On the ground floor would be two double height commercial units and 
above them a new 71 bed hotel for Travelodge on five floors;  its entrance within 
a glazed external stair core to each floor accessed from Between Towns Road. 
Above and adjacent to the hotel on the corner of the main entrance into the 
Centre would be a new residential tower block on 13 floors that would sit forward 
and to the east of the existing Hockmore Tower block and would be 
approximately 5 floors higher.  Whilst the tower would reach of a height of 
approximately 48m and be overall 27m wide an attempt has been made to 
reduce the massing varying both materials and the degree of solid to void.  For 
example to the front of the tower on both side returns corner windows are 
proposed set within a slender bronze anodised aluminium framework.  Again on 
the eastern side of the building (adjoining the hotel) part of the tower reaches only 
11 floors and is proposed in grey bricks, to create a recessed visual separation 
and add slenderness, thereby reducing the massing of the building.  It is 
considered that Site D would be of an appropriate height, scale and massing 
relative to the Hockmore Tower and other proposed Sites and for the District 
Centre as a whole.  Consideration of the height and massing of the tower in 
relation to local and long distant views and the wider landscape setting Oxford is 
considered in more detail below.

Site F:

74.Site F comprises a superstructure built over the existing parade of shops facing 
onto Between Towns Road comprising 1, 2 and 3beds units on 6 floors (25m 
high). Due to an existing change in ground level and subtle change in the height 
and split of the existing building so the new building would also be split into two 
separate parts with a change in roof height.  Two of the retail units have been lost 
(already vacant) to provide the two new entrance cores to the flats onto Between 
Towns Road.   The top floor is proposed in a different material with inset glazed 
balconies to reduce the massing.  It is considered that the building forms an 
appropriate relationship in terms of height, scale and massing to Sites A and F 
and also the John Allen Centre opposite.

75.Officers consider on balance that the overall proposed height and scale and 
massing of the development, with the exception of the new high rise tower block 
which is discussed in more detail below, would be acceptable in this location 
taking into account that it is a primary district centre.  Furthermore it is considered 
that the public benefits of the proposal in providing 226 new homes, including 
affordable, public realm improvements and a significant regeneration opportunity 
would outweigh any perceived harm caused in this case. 

Appearance:

76.The whole proposed development has a common contemporary architectural 
theme with flat roofs, full height windows/ French doors, some within chamfered 
window surrounds, and inset balconies/ terraces and a common palette of 
materials including buff brick, stone and stone cladding, bronze anodised panels 

29



REPORT

and glass balustrades. Overall there is a vertical emphasis with a good balance of 
solid to void to break up the massing of the new buildings, each building slightly 
different but within the common architectural language.  Top floors are set in to 
reduce the scale and impact on surrounding buildings.   Where the development 
abuts the conservation area stone material is propose for main walls and 
boundary walls.

77. In relation to Site A the main entrance is on Beauchamp Lane creating an active 
frontage which is currently lacking.  The design of block A2 has drawn influence 
from the CA with its use of natural stone and has been designed to respect the 
domestic residential scale found there.  The recessed balconies are within a solid 
frame which helps to articulate the elevation and animate the building.  It would 
have a green roof to enhance biodiversity and the view from A1 and also acts as 
part of the sustainable drainage strategy.   Ground floor units on to Between 
Towns Road are maisonettes and have their own front door and gardens. Both 
A1 and A2 are set back from all road frontages to allow a low retaining stone wall 
with planting behind to soften the development and in particular respond to the 
character and appearance of the CA.  It is considered that Site A would not harm 
the character and appearance of this part of the CA or the setting of the listed 
cottage and would in fact significantly enhance and improve it.  To the rear the 
buildings would again positively enhance the relationship to John Bunyan Church 
and reactivate the cut through passage way to Crowell Road.  Again the street 
scene on Crowell Road would be reactivated and positively enhanced.

78.Site F is a superstructure built over the top of the existing parade of shops.  The 
existing shop fronts would be re-vamped to create a contemporary double height 
façade, as seen in the Westgate development.  Site D also proposes that the two 
new commercial units on the ground floor would have double height facades and 
with a significant amount of glazing facing onto Between Towns Road.  This 
would be a significant improvement to the current situation for both sites.  The 
flats above in D & F again follow the same architectural language as Site A with 
chamfered windows, recessed balconies with glazed balustrades and use of brick 
as the main material. The hotel building façade employs simple full height glazing 
within chamfered window reveals to create visual interest, in addition bronze 
anodised panels are used within window reveals to break up the extent of the 
brickwork and create visual interest. The entry lobby to the hotel is articulated 
with stone cladding facing and the glazed staircase adds visual interest when 
viewed from the east.

79.The top floors of F are proposed in zinc cladding to reduce the massing.  
However, the top two floors of Site D comprising four 3 bed penthouse units 
would be a lighter weight element consisting of recessed balconies and larger 
expanses of glass within a slim brick framework.  Both Sites are considered to be 
sufficiently distanced from the CA not to harm it its setting and overall would with 
significantly improve the appearance the character and appearance of existing 
buildings and street scene.

Entrances, Car parks and Public Realm Improvements:

30



REPORT

80.The design proposals include the ‘re-facing’ and refurbishment of the existing 
Templars Square shopping centre, including all existing entrances, and Barns 
Road car park to enable them to make a more positive contribution to the 
townscape and to help integration with the new buildings.  The façade of the 
Barns Road Car Park facing Between Towns Road would be clad in anodised 
aluminium fins to help obscure the car park from street level and create visual 
interest to the façade.  Both Barns Road and Knights Road carpark wold have 
new stir// lift cores provided to aid accessibility and be refurbished internally. 

81.The existing two rear Hockmore street entrances and the other Between Towns 
Road entrance will be updated.  Existing doorways will be replaced and brought 
up to current standards and modernised using light-weight materials, improved 
lighting and glazing.  The use of new treatments to surfaces and structures, which 
frame the existing entrances, will highlight the location of each entrance and 
create a continuity of the whole redevelopment.  Proposed materials include 
anodised aluminium fins in bronze/gold finish to complement the use of this 
material elsewhere on the scheme and create a continuity of architectural for the 
Centre and the surrounding area.

82. In terms of the public realm the development proposes significant change and 
improvement, particularly on Between Towns Road.  Here it is proposed to 
increase the width of the footpath on the southern side of Between Town Road, 
enabling the provision of new combined seating & informal child play areas, tree 
planting and seating areas of alfresco dining etc.  The pavement would be re-laid 
in new materials to compliment the shopping centre and the aspirations of the 
development whilst being durable and acceptable to the Highways Authority.  
Cycle lanes provided and taxi ranks, limited waiting spaces and bus turning circle 
would be incorporated into the new pavements to create a pedestrian oriented 
street as opposed to the car dominated one at present.  The bus stops are 
located moved slightly east as is the bus turning area which allows for a new wide 
pedestrian crossing from the John Allen Centre which signals not only the new 
main entrance but also the dominance of the pedestrian within the street.

83.Officers are of the view that the new façade treatments, upgrades to the entrance 
and new public realm proposals for Between Towns Road signify and significant 
public benefit of the development proposal and would contribute a substantially 
towards the regeneration of the area and therefore welcome.

Internal and External Amenity Space:

84.All flats have been designed to Lifetime home standards and meet Policy HP12 
minimum floor space requirements for 1, 2 and 3 bed units.  In general flats have 
their own private balconies or terraces which on the whole meet policy HP14 
requirements with the exception of Site F and Site D where some flats do not 
have their own private external amenity space at all.  Site A also has a central 
garden space providing an attractive shared amenity space. Where balconies or 
terraces do not meet the minimum space standards it is considered that the John 
Allen Park opposite is sufficiently close to offset this in this case and an exception 
to Policy can be made.

31



REPORT

85. In respect of Site F, there are several issues arising from the provision of 
balconies.  To the rear is the Banjo Road servicing yard to the shopping centre, 
which would not create an attractive space to sit out and overlook due to noise, 
fumes etc. from vehicles.  Whilst projecting balconies were explored elsewhere in 
the building there are construction issues of providing eternal projecting balconies 
due to construction over the existing building, and to provide internally recessed 
balconies has not been possible due to the need to provide 2 bed 4 person 
affordable housing units.  Both also have impacts on the scheme viability (as set 
out above).  In Site D there are no balconies for the smaller one beds facing on to 
Between Towns Road, and to do so would compromise the internal living space. 

86.The lack of private amenity space is clearly contrary to policy.  However, the lack 
of provision and the difficulties and issues regarding provision have been weighed 
in the balance against the benefits of the scheme as a whole.  The public benefits 
of the proposal in terms of public realm improvements, housing, and regeneration 
of the shopping centre are significant and Officers consider that on balance a 
contribution towards the public open amenity space within John Allen Park 
opposite would be appropriate in this case to offset this lack of provision.   

87.The Applicant has agreed to contribute £55k towards the John Allen Park.  This is 
considered a reasonable sum, in the knowledge of the viability case and also in 
order for the proposed development to a) provide a suitable degree/ level of 
improvement to the John Allen Park and b) to also derive benefit from those 
improvements and create an attractive and useable space given that this would 
be their only outdoor space.  This can be secured via a legal agreement.  Further 
discussion of the Park and what this would provide is set elsewhere in the report.

Waste/Refuse: 

88.The councils has outlined requirements for bin storage and associated access in 
its Planning Technical Advice Note: Purpose-built multiple-occupancy dwellings 
such as flats and student halls of residence should be provided with a communal 
waste storage and collection system using large containers housed in one or 
more enclosed bin storage areas. Consideration should be given to location, 
store size and siting, design and appearance.  Revised plans have been received 
that show how the proposal meets the above considerations and requirements.

 Site A: A large communal waste storage area is included in the basement/car 
parking area. There will be multiple access routes for residents for access. 
Therefore this part of the proposal meets the Council’s requirements for 
secure, covered and accessible storage.

 Site D: Separate areas for commercial and residential waste are proposed to 
the rear of the building with easy and level access to the road for collection. 

 Site F: Two covered communal waste storage areas are proposed to the rear, 
facing Banjo Road. Commercial units retain their separate bin store. Access 
for waste collection will be via Banjo Road.

32



REPORT

89.The proposal for waste storage and collection is considered acceptable and is 
therefore in accordance with local plan policies.

90.Bin Storage for all sites has been carefully considered and contained at ground 
floor level with the main entrance lobby/ stair/ lift cores in Sites, D & F.  In Site A 
the new basement car park provides a separate bin storage area for all the flats.  

91.All flats are designed to Lifetime home standards and meet the Policy minimum 
floor space requirements for 1, 2 and 3 bed units.  All flats have their own private 
balconies or terraces again meeting policy requirements, in addition to which the 
central garden space provides an attractive shared amenity space for each 
apartment. 

92.Officers consider that this is a high quality proposal which has been developed 
through an assessment of the heritage of the area, existing buildings and the 
contribution to the CA that both listed and non-listed buildings make, resulting in a 
proposal that would enhance not only the site itself but also its relationship to the 
surrounding area.  It would result in a significant positive change to the various 
street scenes here, the character of the CA and change the setting of a listed 
building in a sensitive way that responds to existing scale and massing.  It offers 
a significant public benefit to the street scene along Between Towns Road and 
Crowell Road and Beauchamp Lane by re-activating and enlivening it in a positive 
way.  Elsewhere the new entrances and façades treatment to the shopping centre 
and car parks would also be a positive improvement whilst new lift/ stair cores 
would improve accessibility for all.  

Views and Impact upon Setting of Heritage Assets

93.The Oxford Local Plan recognises the importance of views of Oxford from 
surrounding high places, both from outside Oxford’s boundaries but also in 
shorter views from prominent places within Oxford.  As a result there is a high 
buildings policy (HE9), which states that development should not exceed 18.2m 
in height or ordnance datum 79.3m, whichever is the lower, within a 1,200m 
radius of Carfax except for minor elements of no great bulk and a View Cones 
Policy (HE10) which protects views from 10 recognised viewpoints on higher hills 
surrounding the City to the east and west and also within the City e.g. Port 
Meadow and South Park.   There are also a number of public view points within 
the city centre that provide views across and out of it, for example Carfax Tower, 
St Georges Tower and St Marys Church.   

94.The site is 3.6km distant from Carfax and does not fall within any of the 
designated View Cones, lying between the Rose Hill viewing point and the 
Temple Cowley viewpoint on Crescent Road and therefore in their purest sense 
HE9 and HE10 would not apply.  Nevertheless, Oxford City itself is nationally 
important and a significant heritage asset, as recognised in the ES, and the rural 
setting of Oxford, the fact that it is “situated on a gentle eminence in a rich valley 
between the rivers Cherwell and Isis – the prospect bounded by an amphitheatre 
of hills.” (Bradshaws Guide – 1866) is also considered to make an important 
contribution to its historical significance.  It is worth reiterating the NPPF which 

33



REPORT

states that significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of 
a heritage asset or development within its setting but also HE advice that 
‘…setting is not fixed and may change as the surrounding context changes’. 
 Furthermore it goes on to state that where a proposal is considered to cause less 
than substantial harm then this needs to be weighed against the public benefits of 
the proposal.  

95.The Environmental Statement (ES) supporting the application carefully considers 
the likely impact of the development on the surrounding area in local and longer 
distant views and in terms of the impact on heritage assets using a recognised 
methodology.  A Tall Buildings Assessment and a ‘Cowley Town Centre 
Regeneration Addendum’ June 2017 have been submitted, the latter providing 
more descriptive analysis and assessment of the impact of change on both a 
heritage assets and the landscape.  The ES and addenda have been informed by 
published advice on assessing the impact of development on landscape 
character and setting of heritage assets including the Councils own View Cones 
of Oxford Assessment  2015 document.

96.The submitted information in the Design and Access Statement Tall Buildings 
Assessment and Cowley Town Centre Regeneration Addenda demonstrates that 
at pre-app stage the development as a whole including the height of the tower 
was considered in the context of local views, its relationship to the existing 
Hockmore Tower and other surrounding buildings and its overall scale and 
massing.  Originally a tower of 18 storeys was proposed however this was 
considered to be too high in relation to Hockmore Tower and potential harm to 
views.  The Applicant settled on 15 storeys driven by a number of factors 
including viability of the scheme to deliver the regeneration of the Shopping 
centre desired by all. 

97.To what extent and in what manner a view or landscape is able to be altered is 
assessed by weighing up a number of  actors such as who observes it, to what 
extent i.e. is it easily seen within public accessible places or only from certain 
vantage points and whether it would significantly change the existing baseline 
landscape or view.  

Local Views:

98.The ES and addenda shows  that the local views, those from within the 
surrounding area have a low to medium sensitivity to change where there is an 
absence of or few distinctive features and that therefore, these views have a 
medium to high tolerance to changes . The exception to this are the views from 
and to the Beauchamp Lane Conservation Area where the sensitivity to change is 
high as even small changes may result in substantial harm to the important 
character and appearance of the area.    The ES considers that views of the 
development from local streets would be limited by existing boundary walls and 
buildings directing the eye upwards to the upper storeys of the development.  The 
development would sit within an existing built up urban area and therefore would 
not significantly alter the existing pattern of buildings.  What would be noticeable 
is the size and scale of the buildings but the document considers that this would 
be at a scale that would be appropriate to the surrounding area.   At street level 

34



REPORT

the experience for shoppers and passers-by would improve dramatically along 
Between Towns Road, Barns Road, Church Cowley Road, Crowell Road and 
Beauchamp Lane.  These streets would be improved with the introduction of 
active frontages.  Beauchamp Lane, the document asserts, although sensitive to 
change would benefit significantly from the demolition of the existing car park and 
the design of the proposed new buildings at Site A which are to be set back, and 
built from what are considered to be more appropriate materials  stone wall and 
planting.  Overall the ES considers that the magnitude of impact of the 
development within local views would be of moderate to major beneficial.

99.Officers consider that in local views the new development will only be visible 
when practically upon the shopping centre itself due to topography and existing 
buildings in the area.  The heights and massing of the proposed buildings would 
mean that in certain views the development would be more visible and prominent, 
such as the approach along Between Towns Road.  In other views, such as along 
Beauchamp Lane the view of the buildings on Site A are restricted to the lower 
end of the land (approaching Between Towns Road) confined by the curve of the 
road and densely built up buildings and structures and trees.  Here the proposed 
development would significantly improve the view over that of the existing car 
park structure whilst also reducing height and massing.  From the residential area 
behind the centre the new buildings would be seen as additions to other larger 
buildings within the commercial area. In all views the design of the new buildings, 
architectural detailing and materials proposed would add interest and vibrancy, 
but also change the visibility of the buildings depending on time of day, seasons 
and exact viewpoint.  The stone and buff bricks being more reflective in strong 
sun light and glow in the setting sun, as can be seen in the city centre.  Existing 
and future proposed tree planting would conceal and reveal the buildings 
changing with the seasons and at night the buildings would be lit internally. 
However it is considered that given the tired and poor quality of the existing urban 
townscape that it has the capability to absorb and adapt to change and whilst the 
new buildings would be significantly larger in both height and massing and would 
be highly visible at times they would not be significantly harmful in short distance 
or local views and the changes would result in an overall positive improvement.  
Furthermore any harm would be outweighed by the benefits derived from the 
development in terms of an improved architectural quality and materials, 
improved public realm, new active frontages, new landscape planting, and the 
provision of a large number of residential units, a hotel, jobs as well. 

Long Distance Views:

Views in:

100. The ES demonstrates that the development would be visible from the east from 
Garsington, Horspath and Shotover, from the west from Raleigh Park and 
Wytham Woods and more southerly from Toot Baldon, all to a greater and 
lesser degree.   The views from these surrounding higher viewpoints are 
expansive and the Cowley Centre and Hockmore Tower block appears in the 
far distance within those views.  From the east and south the views are 
characterised by fields, trees and greenery in the foreground, the existing 
Hockmore Tower is visible but at a distance and depending on time of day 

35



REPORT

more or less discernible set against the green backdrop of hills behind.  Views 
from Raleigh Park and Wytham Woods overlook Oxford set in its green basin 
with fields and woodland in the foreground.  The Hockmore Tower is seen to 
the right of the historic core but set away from this central area and can be 
compared to the JR Hospital that sits on the rise of Northway prominent on the 
skyline.  In long range views from both east and west of the City the existing 
Hockmore tower is set below the rural backdrop horizon.   All views are kinetic 
depending on the exact view point or location from which they are observed, 
vegetation growth or removal, seasons and time of day at which the buildings 
may become more visible and the distance between the historic core and 
Cowley may feel very close.  The ES (including addenda) concludes that the 
landscape sensitivity to change in these views is ‘high’ based on the 
susceptibility to change and the value placed on the landscape but that the 
effect of the new development would be ‘negligible’ to ‘minor 
adverse’ with adverse being defined as

‘some measurable change in assets quality or vulnerability; minor loss of or 
alteration to, one (or maybe more) key characteristics, features or elements; 
change to the setting would not be overly intrusive or overly diminish the 
context; community use or understanding would be reduced. The assets 
integrity or setting is damaged but understanding and appreciation would only 
be diminished not compromised’.

101. The new development would form a cluster of high buildings around the 
Hockmore Tower and would be visible to a greater or lesser degree in views in 
from surrounding elevated viewpoints.  It would create a landmark within the 
city’s suburban area and be another level in the growth and expansion of the 
City over time, even if this landmark is really only appreciated from elevated 
long distinct views into and out of the City. Time of day and sunlight would 
change the appearance of the buildings given they would be built in buff brick 
and stone; in full sunlight the buildings would be lit up and glow in the lower 
setting sun.  At night the building will be visible as lights are switched on in the 
flats and hotel.  Seasonally they would become more visible as the green 
surrounding is lost and the built form of the City is revealed.   However for the 
most part from these elevated viewpoints the cluster of buildings would be seen 
set down against the green backdrop and would not rise above the distant 
horizon.  It is considered that therefore that the distance between the site and 
the historic centre of the City would mean that the significance and supremacy 
of the historic core would not be compromised or challenged.   There would be 
a change to the setting of the historic core as the new buildings would be visible 
in the landscape, so it is considered that a degree of harm would occur.   
However it is considered that the change by the addition of the proposed new 
buildings to the skyline in certain recognised and publicly accessible views 
would only slightly diminish the appreciation of Oxford set within its rural 
backdrop without compromising its understanding.  Therefore on balance it is 
considered that the harm to these long range views would be would be less 
than substantial and will need to be weighed against any public benefits that 
may arise from the development proposal (bearing in mind the weight that must 
be afforded to harm to heritage assets and their settings (Barnwell).

36



REPORT

Views out:
 
102. The two views (nos. 30 & 31 in the ES) from Carfax and St Mary’s are 

particularly important in terms of views out of the City and the impact of the 
development on its setting.  Whilst it is acknowledged that the views from 
Carfax and St Mary’s are not currently within any protected view cones this 
does not diminish the significance of these views and the significance of 
Oxford’s rural setting. 

103. The view from Carfax Tower is 360 degree and offers an expansive view of the 
historic core of Oxford to the surrounding hills in the distance.  It is  
characterised by the dense built up form of the historic core interspersed with 
taller tower element in the foreground, broken up by the green swath of Christ 
Church Meadow and Corpus Christi before settling on Cowley and the 
Hockmore Tower, set against the wider landscape beyond.  The existing 
Hockmore Tower is seen in the distance and visible as it rises up against the 
green backdrop.

104. The view from St Mary’s again is 360 and offers a wide, expansive view.  The 
view toward the site is characterised by the built form of the historic core in the 
foreground interspersed by trees and punctuated by towers.   As the view 
extends moves outwards in the middle distance the hills to the east and west 
frame the historic core interrupted by the towers in the foreground but also 
visible is the JR hospital building on the skyline to the north.  Looking south 
towards the application site, in the far distance as the hills slope down to the 
low lying level the Hockmore Tower announces itself and to a lesser degree the 
high rise flats of Blackbird Leys depending on viewpoint are also visible.  
Behind the Hockmore and in the far distant horizon the hills of Garsington form 
a distant green edge.  The Hockmore Tower appears no higher than this 
skyline.

105. The TVIA also considers the view from SS Mary and John Church in Cowley.  
This is set well away from the historic core.  In this view the rural backdrop to 
the city is less prevalent as the suburbs stretch out in the foreground.  The 
shopping centre sits central in this view, with Hockmore Tower and the two 
tower blocks in Blackbird Leys all protruding above the horizon.

106. The ES considers in relation to the Hockmore Tower itself that within the 360 
views it represents a very small component of the overall view, and whilst rising 
above the distance horizon, it does not have a dominant effect due to distance.  

107. It concludes that the main focus of the views from the two towers is on the 
foreground and middle distance where focus maybe concentrated on the 
townscape of towers and spires, of quadrangles, streets and parks.  These 
elements of the view would be unaffected by the proposed development, 
because it is set so far in the background as to be a very small component of 
the overall vista and one which would not attract attention.

108. In the mid distance, the relationship between the edge of the city and the green 
hills that surround it is still apparent, notably in the case of the nearer hills to the 

37



REPORT

west and east. This relationship would be unaffected by the proposals since the 
site lies much further to the south and is not  on a prominent hillside.   

109. In the further distance, the nature of the landscape in the view is more mixed. 
Greenery is represented by the canopies of trees in a suburban setting rather 
than by open hillsides, and there are visible, more recent developments which 
tend to weaken the relationship with open countryside. This is the location 
within which the Site is set. The visibility of the proposals will advance and 
recede with daylight and weather conditions, being reduced by haze, and 
increased by the reflection of a low afternoon sun in the west.  The proposals, 
in particular the tower, would be visible, interrupting as it would the line of a 
more distant horizon, but it would form a very small part of an extensive view 
and would have comparatively little influence upon it because the effects of 
distance would reduce its dominance in a view which is after all concentrated 
on the immediate roofscape of the historic city.

110. It concludes that in both cases, due to the extent of distance and the 
awareness of physical separation, there would be no threat of the proposed 
development challenging the prominence of primacy of the city centre in its 
setting. The effect of the development will only be to increase awareness of a 
built element in a landscape which is generally low-lying in character and where 
the city is a strong focal element – particularly in the position of the identified 
view cones. The proposed development will have no impact on the protected 
view cones or on the city’s focal role in its setting.

111. Having considered this assessment, officers consider that there is no doubt that 
the proposed tower at 15 floors and higher than Hockmore Tower and the other 
new buildings, would be visible in views out of the City from both Carfax Tower 
and St Marys and would introduce another taller building within these views.   
There are layers to the views and the landscape that encircles the City has an 
importance in providing the setting for the heritage asset; the immediate 
buildings and spaces of the historic centre and those within the mid to long 
distance views.  In the views out from the key city centre buildings the skyline is 
not evident as a single entity but rather the towers and spires are seen as small 
groups, ones and twos.  Hockmore Tower is visible in the far distance view as it 
stands as a single tall building amongst the lower built up area signifying the 
suburb of Cowley.   It is also possible to see a number of other “taller” buildings 
in the “views out” from the key buildings Other larger buildings within these 
views can also be seen, such as the Blackbird Leys residential blocks and the 
JR in Headington (when looking in the opposite direction), Seacourt Tower (to 
the west) for example depending on where you stand within these towers.   
However the views are wide and expansive, with almost the same large 
expanse of sky to solid built form and green landscape below.  As such whilst 
visible the cluster of buildings created by the development would read only as a 
small element within the overall landscape and view.   It is therefore considered 
that for the most part the character of this view would not change or be 
diminished and therefore one could still appreciate Oxford’s rural setting and 
the supremacy of the historic core.   

38



REPORT

112. At 15 storeys the Tower would punctuate the horizon whereas the Hockmore 
sits level or just below it and along with Site A & F as a cluster of buildings 
would be more discernible in this location and create more of a landmark 
feature than the current Hockmore tower does on its own.  The benefits of 
creating this cluster would in some ways improve the solitary tower within the 
view; the two towers seen as a pair with relationship to each other and a 
relationship to the other proposed buildings within these views given reference 
to the suburb it is part of.   

113. As already mentioned this cluster of buildings would be visible to a more or 
lesser degree within these views depending on time of day and sunlight, 
reflectivity of light on windows and night time when lights are on, and seasonally 
when the verdant foreground and surrounding landscape recedes in winter 
months.

114. It is considered on balance that the development and in particular the height of 
the tower block would cause some harm to the rural setting of Oxford by virtue 
of its collective heights, massing, appearance.   However, it is also considered 
on balance that due to the distance of the development within these views of 
over 3.6km, the fact that they would represent a relatively small element within 
an overall unaltered landscape, and that the heritage asset of Oxford could still 
be appreciated within its rural setting that the degree of harm would be less 
than substantial.   

115. In coming to the view that the proposal would cause less than substantial harm 
to long distant views it falls to weigh this harm against the public benefits of the 
development having due regard to the great weight of conservation established 
through case law. The development would provide significant public benefits, 
most notably a once in a generation opportunity to regenerate this tired and 
jaded shopping centre.  It is a £67million investment development that would 
kick start further regeneration and provide 226 new homes which is a 
substantial windfall, and a proportion of affordable units housing here would 
provide night-time activity and increase safety.  It would diversify the 
commercial units and provide a hotel, for which there is high demand in Oxford, 
and create 57 new jobs.  It would provide good quality contemporary 
architecture, re-facing the existing centre, entrances and car parks on Between 
Towns Road. Other significant public realm improvements to the streetscape of 
Between Towns Road are also proposed, by widening the pavement, planting 
trees and creating informal areas for child’s play within the proposed seating.  It 
also focuses on and creating a pedestrian experience that finally links the John 
Allen Centre opposite.  The viability of the scheme means that a certain 
quantum of development is needed for the development to be viable and a 
reduction in the height of buildings, including the tower, would result in the 
development becoming unviable and the benefit being undeliverable.

116. It is therefore considered whilst the cluster of new buildings would be visible 
both in local and long distant views and would have a harmful impact on the 
setting of Oxford, would impact on the wider landscape setting of the City and 
would have a harmful impact on the character and appearance of the 
Beauchamp Lane Conservation Area and surrounding streets that this less than 

39



REPORT

substantial harm.  The significance of this harm is not underestimated however 
on balance Officers consider that this harm would be outweighed in this case by 
the significant public benefits of the proposed development in terms of 
regeneration of the Centre, provision of housing and provision of jobs, taking 
into account viability issues and other material considerations.  Committee 
should therefore also make a balanced judgement.  The proposal therefore 
accords with relevant Policies of the Local Development Framework and in 
balancing the less than substantial harm that has been identified against any 
public benefits that the development proposal offers the local planning authority 
would meet the requirements of policy set out in paragraph 134 of the NPPF.

IMPACT ON NEIGHBOURING AMENITIES:

Overlooking & Loss of privacy:

117. Site A: Concern has been raised regarding overlooking from Site A to 
Beauchamp Lane properties from Blocks A1 and A2 and the impact of these 
blocks in terms of height and massing on the character and appearance of the 
CA.  The existing car park affords overlooking to these properties at present 
across the public realm of the lane, albeit that people using the car park may 
not generally linger and stop to look over the road. The architects have sought 
to address concerns by introducing a louvered screen system within the inset 
balconies in block A1 which would allow light through but would obscure direct 
views towards Beauchamp Lane.  The central windows in Block A1 are to 
bedrooms and there is a need to provide adequate light and outlook to these 
habitable rooms.  It is considered that whilst these 5 rooms would afford 
overlooking towards the rear and side garden of No.1 Beauchamp Lane the 
existing situation is a material consideration and weighed in the balance with 
the need for adequate internal space, light and outlook.  Officers consider on 
balance this degree of overlooking would not be significantly different to the 
existing situation and is therefore acceptable.  In respect of block A2 again the 
balconies and windows proposed would not give rise to significantly more 
overlooking to the front windows of properties opposite than currently afforded 
from the existing car park or persons using the Lane.  

Overbearing:

118. In respect of overbearing impact the Site A buildings would be lower in height 
than the existing car park and although further forward onto Beauchamp Lane 
would not be less in terms of bulk massing than the existing car park.  The 
architects have articulated the elevations which would reduce the massing and 
create a residential scale, particularly in block A2.   Overall it is considered that 
the new development would not be significantly more overbearing to 
Beauchamp Lane properties or John Bunyan Church and Ark T Centre than 
currently exists.

119. Elsewhere, whilst the proposed buildings are relatively high and larger in mass, 
they are sufficiently distanced from other residential properties, including those 
in Hockmore Tower and Pound House so as to not be overbearing towards 
them.  In terms of impact on other commercial properties on Between Towns 

40



REPORT

Road, Barns Road, Crowell and Hockmore Street again, the height and 
massing would mean that they would have a higher degree of overbearing 
presence within the streets but that this would be offset by the width of the 
public realm and distance to those properties.

Sunlight & daylight:

120. The impact of the massing of the development on the sunlight and daylighting 
to the neighbouring properties has been explored in detail and an assessment 
based on the BRE guidance carried out, submitted within the ES.  Officers 
requested further supporting evidence and analysis to substantiate the 
submission, in particular the impact on neighbouring properties.  The listed 
cottage, No.1 Beauchamp Lane, is already shaded by the existing car park on 
Site A along with a surrounding perimeter wall and tree’s / vegetation within the 
cottages garden. This concludes that the proposed development would have an 
insignificant impact on direct sunlight received by existing buildings.  
Furthermore, the analysis presents minimal overshadowing effect on dwelling 
within Hockmore Towers, Pound House and dwellings to the west of Site A on 
Beauchamp Lane.

121. The orientations of windows in respect of access to daylight, sunlight and solar 
gain have been considered within this study. The analysis shows that the 
perimeter living spaces will be predominately well lit with sufficient average 
daylight factors achieving between 2% and 5% with access to daylight and 
sunlight achieved.

122. Officers concur with the findings of the analysis. The sun tracks round the rear 
of the development from the east at Site D round to Site A in the west.  As such 
any shadowing would fall across Beauchamp Lane, Between Towns Road and 
Barns Road.  In terms of impact on existing residential properties opposite on 
Beauchamp Lane the impact would not be significantly different than currently 
exists. Elsewhere the flats above the shopping centre, e.g. Pound House and 
Hockmore Tower, would be unaffected as they are south of the development.  
Finally the commercial offices on the opposite corner of Barns Road would be 
affected late afternoon and evening times and more so during winter months.  
However, given the more transient occupation of offices the most impact is 
likely to be felt at times of day when the offices are less likely to be occupied.  It 
is considered therefore that the developed would accord with the relevant 
development plan policies on residential amenity.

HIGHWAYS, ACCESS & PARKING:

123. The existing shopping centre is designated as a Primary District Centre within 
the Oxford Core Strategy.  It is considered to be a sustainable location which is 
well served by public transport and accessible to the local population by foot 
and bicycle.  The Core Strategy also identifies that it has a good deal of low 
cost car parking, and the facilities for a local transport interchange, including an 
orbital bus network, could be improved.

124. In transport terms the main features of the proposed regeneration are

41



REPORT

The redevelopment of Castle Car Park (Site A), Barns Road Car Park (site B)
The refurbishment of Knights Road and Barns Road Car Park (although these 

works are not part of this planning application)
Highway improvements to Between Towns Road, including removing surplus 

carriageway width; relocation of signalised pedestrian crossing and widening 
crossing and carriageway at northern entrance; improvements to bus stop 
facilities including a new U-turn facility; new loading bay; taxi bay; right turn 
into Barns Road car park

 Improvements to the public realm along Between Towns Road including new 
surfacing and street furniture.

125. The Transport Assessment and ES consider the impacts of these proposals 
upon the highway network, and are considered in detail below.

Traffic Generation:

126. The Transport Assessment has confirmed that there will be a net increase in 
traffic generated by the proposals on the surrounding road network but 
concludes that the increases would have minimal impact.  The assessment 
estimates that the development will result in the following increases in traffic at 
the following junctions.

B4495 Between Towns Road / Barns Road Mini-Roundabout
Weekday AM Peak (8-9) – 93 vehicles
Weekday PM Peak (5-6) – 117 vehicles
Saturday Peak (11.45-12.45) – 164 vehicles

B4495 Between Towns Road / Crowell Road Traffic Signal Junction
Weekday AM Peak (8-9) – 39 vehicles 
Weekday PM Peak (5-6) – 117 vehicles
Saturday Peak (11.45-12.45) – 109 vehicles

127. The modelling work within the assessment has taking into account worst-case 
traffic flows for the associated development uses, and assessed uses an above 
average traffic scenario for the year taking into account the busiest Friday – 
Saturday peak hours.

128. In reviewing these figures the Local Highways Authority initially raised concerns 
about the potential for the proposals to have a negative impact upon the 
junctions at Between Towns Road and Barns Road.  However the applicant has 
subsequently provided revised plans for the highway works to improve the 
traffic flow, which is considered important given that Barns Road is viewed as a 
Rapid Transit Route.  The development includes a number of works to the 
highway along Between Towns Road to improve the function in this location.  
These proposals were revised following discussions with the Local Highways 
Authority.  The revised proposals were set out in ‘Landscape & Public Realm 
Ground Level GA Plan (Revision H)’, and included widening the approaches at 
the Between Towns Road / Barns Road mini-roundabout and extending the left 
turn filter lane access into the Barns Road car park in order to improve traffic 
flow.  In addition the use of a car park guidance system also helps to reduce 

42



REPORT

the potential for additional congestion to occur as a result of the more intensive 
use of the Barns Road car park.

129. The Local Highways Authority were also concerned about the impact of 
additional development traffic on the operation of the Between Towns road / 
Crowell Road traffic signal junction, as the traffic modelling within the 
assessment confirmed that two arms of the junction would be operating beyond 
a level considered to be acceptable.  The applicant subsequently confirmed 
that this was because the right turn movement from the Templars Shopping 
Park had been modelled for every cycle rather than when called, and so the 
model was updated at the agreement of the Local Highways Authority to reflect 
more closely on-street behaviour.  As a result the revised modelling showed 
that the saturation at the junction fell to an acceptable level (i.e below 90%) and 
that further improvements could be made with minor-alterations to the timings 
of the signals that the County Council could implement should the development 
go ahead.

130. It should also be noted that in considering the impacts of the development, the 
Transport Assessment has not considered all the positive impacts that would 
be expected from the scheme.  For example, the public realm and highway 
improvements on Between Towns Road would reduce the ‘edge friction’ which 
is currently caused by on-street parking on both sides of the road.  
Improvements to public transport, walking, and cycling and the introduction of a 
Controlled Parking Zone will also help to remove some traffic from the area and 
reduce the potential for background traffic.

131. The NPPF makes clear in Paragraph 32 that developments should only be 
prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative 
impacts of the development are severe.  Having regards to the conclusions of 
the transport assessment which does not identify a severe impact from the 
development and also the conclusions of the Local Highways Authority, there 
would be no material reason to object to the proposal in terms of traffic impact. 

Highway Works:

132. The proposal includes public realm and highway improvements primarily on 
Between Roans Road and the junctions with Crowell Road and Barns Road, in 
order to improve the street scene and the functionality of the highway for all 
modes of transport.

133. The highway improvements have been amended during the application process 
in order to reflect the comments of the Local Highways Authority.  These 
amendments involved widening the carriageway to accommodate more space 
for cycle lanes to be provided in both directions.  The pedestrian crossing 
adjacent to the main northern entrance has also been widened to emphasise its 
importance.  The rest of the improvements were as originally submitted and 
included new bus stop facilities including a new U-turn facility; new loading bay; 
taxi bay; and right turn into Barns Road car park.

43



REPORT

134. The County Council’s Oxford Transport Strategy identifies Barns Road and the 
entire section of Between Towns Road as either Cycle Super, or Cycle Super 
route.  The proposals to provide 2m advisory cycle lanes in both directions 
adjacent to the development on Between Towns Road are welcomed.  It is 
understood that Cyclox has objected to the cycle lane measures which they 
consider fall short of the standards for a Cycle Super Route.  However, the 
Local Highways Authority have asked for further improvements to the works 
including continuing cycle lanes up to, and where possible, through junctions to 
reaffirm cycle priority and safety. These changes would need to be dealt with at 
the detailed design stage, and could be secured by a suitable condition.  The 
cycle measures propose advisory lanes rather than mandatory ones because 
the bus stops, crossing points and on-street parking provision means 
mandatory lanes are not possible for much of the Between Towns Road 
corridor. The proposed lanes are 2m wide and so comply with the County 
Council strategy and are wider than most advisory lanes in the city (which are 
usually around 1.5m or less).  The scope of the developer’s highway proposals 
are limited to the section between Crowell Road and Barns Road, with only 
minor changes proposed on Barns Road, and the Local Highways Authority 
have confirmed that further cycle improvements beyond this scope will be 
addressed through their corridor studies.

135. The highway works propose some 20min parking bays on Between Towns 
Road alongside the taxi rank.  The Local Highways Authority have 
recommended that these should instead be for disabled parking only with all 
other retail parking taking place off-street.  This would provide disabled parking 
where it is likely to be needed and reduces the potential for disabled parking on 
double-yellow lines in Between Towns Road.  However disabled persons 
currently park on Hockmore Street, which is the only quick and level access into 
the centre and Officers consider that this is likely to be the case going forward.  
The loss of all the 20min waiting spaces to disabled would also likely cause 
indiscriminate parking on Between Towns Road as people ‘pop’ into the shops.  
Therefore it is considered that only 1 space should be for disabled users. 

136. The proposal also includes improvements to the bus stop facilities on Between 
Towns Road to a higher specification than within other district centres 
(Summertown and Headington).  The 4 stops proposed will need new shelters, 
including real-time information displays.  The bus stop clearways and u-turn 
facility will require formal consultation under a Traffic Regulation Order to 
ensure that it is not used inappropriately and also that buses can turn in the 
facility.  

137. The Local Highways Authority have indicated that the applicant would need to 
enter into a Section 278 agreement to secure the proposed changes to the 
highway on Between Towns Road and Barns Road in order to mitigate the 
impact of the development discussed in the section above, and that this 
agreement will need to be secured prior to the granting of planning consent.  
The applicant has agreed to enter into such an agreement.

Car Parking:

44



REPORT

138. Retail Car Parking:  The existing shopping centre currently has 876 public car 
parking spaces available within the three existing car parks and this figure will 
be significantly reduced as part of the proposals.  The number of public parking 
spaces will be reduced to 310 spaces, 206 of which will be located in the 
refurbished Knights Car Park (albeit this is not part of this application because 
the works do not require planning permission) and 104 at the Barns Road Car 
Park as part of the total of 190 spaces within the car park with the remaining 86 
spaces allocated for the residential developments, see 'Residential Car Parking' 
section below (albeit these works also do not form part of the planning 
application for the same reason as above).

139. The Transport Assessment identifies that the existing car parking for the centre 
is under-utilised with significant capacity even during peak times (e.g. during 
peak times only 325 spaces (37%) were actually occupied at any one time).  
The assessment attributes this to the fact that 31% of shoppers travel to the 
centre by foot and 35% by public transport.  The location of the centre relative 
to surrounding residential suburbs and accessibility by public transport reduces 
the need for the private car.  The assessment also identified that many of the 
users of the car parks were long term, taking advantage of the low cost parking 
as a de facto park and ride to then walk to the Oxford Business Park or take the 
bus elsewhere.

140. The Local Highways Authority accepts that currently the existing public parking 
is underutilised and that there is considerable spare capacity within these car 
parks.  However they have queried whether 310 spaces are sufficient to 
accommodate existing or future public parking demand noting that the 
Transport Assessment also estimates that future demand on a Saturday would 
exceed capacity even if measures were introduced to reduce long-stay parking.  

141. In response to this, the applicant intends to provide better controls within the 
retained car parks in order to return the emphasis to shopper parking rather 
than long-stay parking.  This would be achieved through increasing the price of 
long-stay parking and a greater proportion of spaces allocated as short-stay 
(less than 4 hours only).  There will also be improved car parking signage 
including electronic variable message signage on the four main approaches to 
Cowley as well as along the entrances to each car park to enable a more 
efficient use of all car parks directing visitors to where parking spaces are 
available and reduce the potential for queuing  onto the highway.  The Local 
Highways Authority also acknowledge that there would be some peak 
spreading of trips to the centre with shoppers likely to change the time they 
choose to travel to coincide with when there is likely to be more parking 
available which assist in managing demand.  These parking controls should be 
secured by condition.

142. Residential car parking:  The residential parking has been developed with the 
sustainable nature of the site in mind.  The parking is provided at a ratio of 0.5 
spaces per 1 bedroom flat and 1 space per 2 to 3 bedroom flat in Sites A and 
D.  The residential accommodation in Site F will be car free.  This equates to 
the following provision

45



REPORT

Site A: 80 spaces for 13x3 bed flats, 48 x 2 bed flats, and 38 x 1 bed flats
Site D: 57 spaces for 4x3 bed flats, 40x2 bed flats, and 25x1 bed flats
Site F: No car parking spaces for 7x3 bed flats, 19x2 bed flats, and 31x 1 bed 

flats

143. Approximately 86 of these spaces will be allocated within the Barns Road Car 
Park (29 for Site A and 57 for Site D)

144. The parking ratios would accord with the standards set out within Sites and 
Housing Plan Policy HP16, and the site would be considered a suitable location 
for reduced parking standards and ‘car free’ schemes.  The Local Highways 
Authority have raised no objection to a lower proportion of car parking for the 
residential accommodation within the scheme, on the basis that this is a highly 
accessible location and the 2011 census data for Cowley Ward indicates that 
62% of apartments within this ward do not own a car or van and on average 
there are 0.45 cars or vans per apartment.

145. The Local Highways Authority have questioned whether the 29 parking spaces 
allocated to the flats in Site A within the Barns Road Car Park would be too 
many and also inconvenient for residents of those flats and consequently  not 
likely to be well used. However given the highways mitigation measures now 
proposed, and provided that appropriate on-street parking controls are installed, 
it is  considered that the demand for retail parking during peak times would not 
be likely to lead to a significant detrimental impact on traffic flows. Therefore, 
the County Council does not object to the number of spaces allocated for 
residential parking  within this car park.  Officers would recognise the Highways 
Authority’s concerns about the convenience of these spaces for the residents of 
Site A, however, the need for housing in Oxford is such that compromises will 
need to be made, and convenience in terms of locating a designated parking 
space in a sustainable location like this is not so significant when taken in that 
context. 

146. A single disabled parking space is to be provided within the car park at Site A. 
This space is appropriately located in close proximity to the entrance of the 
accessible apartment at that site. The refurbishment of the Barns Road and 
Knights car parks (Hockmore Street) does not form part of this application. 
Consequently it is not clear how many disabled parking spaces are to be 
provided within those car parks for both the residential and commercial side of 
the development. The Adopted Parking Standards SPD sets out that, for 
commercial uses, 5% of parking should be designated for disabled people. 
Details on the number of disabled spaces and their layout for the residential 
units at Site D are required and this has been conditioned. 

147. Need for a Controlled Parking Zone: As the scheme proposes a low-car 
scheme, which includes car-free elements, there needs to be suitable parking 
controls in place within the area in order to allow the low car nature of the 
development to be enforced.  Without such controls the development could 
lead to an increase demand for overspill on-street parking which in turn is likely 
to lead to detrimental impacts on the safe and convenient operation of the 
highway and would be unacceptable. Furthermore, without parking controls the 

46



REPORT

potential for peak spreading identified within the Transport Assessment would 
be more likely to occur.  This would result in increased traffic and overspill 
parking associated with the development during the busiest times. 

148. Policy HP16 of Oxford City Council's Sites and Housing Plan outlines that 
permission will only be granted for car-free or low-car developments such as 
this where they are located within a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ). This is 
required in order to ensure that the low-car or car-free nature of the 
development can be enforced. Therefore, since Site F is not to be provided with 
any dedicated parking spaces, suitable parking controls are required to prevent 
unacceptable overspill parking. 

149. The Local Highways Authority has requested a contribution of £92,000 from the 
applicant in order to install a Controlled Parking Zone. This is required both to 
ensure that the development is policy compliant and as direct mitigation against 
the development's likely highways impacts which they consider would be severe 
without this being implemented.  The mechanism for raising funds towards a 
controlled parking zone would normally be achieved through the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) or for the applicant to take up directly with the 
Highways Authority as to whether they are prepared to provide a financial 
contribution through a S278 agreement.  In this case the applicant has 
confirmed that they are willing to provide the contribution directly to the 
Highways Authority through the S278 agreement.  It should be noted however 
that whilst they are willing to pay this contribution this is not a material 
consideration in relation to the application or be considered as direct mitigation 
because the provision of a CPZ falls under CIL.  The committee should 
therefore note it.

Cycle Parking:

150. Residential Cycle Parking: The proposal will provide the following cycle parking 
provision for the respective residential units:
Site A: 236 spaces in the form of storage racks for 13x3 bed flats, 48 x 2 bed 

flats, and 38 x 1 bed flats
Site D: 150 spaces for 4x3 bed flats, 40x2 bed flats, and 25x1 bed flats in the 

form of racks within a basement storage locked
Site F: 128 spaces for 7x3 bed flats, 19x2 bed flats, and 31x 1 bed flats in the 

form of storage space within each unit

151. The cycle parking provision would exceed the minimum standards set out within 
Sites and Housing Plan Policy HP15.

152. The cycle parking for Site A will be located in the south-west corner of the car 
park and is in an accessible location.  The cycle parking provision for Site F will 
be located in a storage area at first floor level, which represents an 
improvement on the previous proposals which sought to accommodate them in 
each flat.  As with the storage for Site D (which is located in the basement) the 
residents will access the cycle store via a lift.  The further specifications of the 
cycle parking should be secured by condition to ensure that they are useable.

47



REPORT

153. Public / Retail Cycle Parking:  The existing centre has a high level of cycle 
parking provision including 39 stands in Barns Road; 30 stands in Between 
Towns Road; 15 stands in Crowell Road, and 12 stands in Hockmore Street.  
The proposed development will retain this provision and provide 8 new stands 
in Hockmore Street opposite the entrance at the junction with Crowell Road.

154. Although it is accepted that the use of the existing cycle parking is currently 
variable, the redevelopment and improved cycle facilities and public realm are 
likely to result in more demand for spaces.  The adopted cycle parking 
standards sets out that 1 cycle space per 5 staff, and 1 per 1 resident staff, 
should be provided for the hotel at least.

155. The application has not provided sufficient details as to how the public / retail 
cycle parking will be provided.  However there is sufficient space within the 
scheme to provide such parking and therefore this should be secured by 
condition. 

Travel Plan:

156. A Travel Plan has been prepared for the residential properties and the hotel 
both of which set out how these uses will reduce reliance on private car and 
encourage sustainable forms of transport.  The Local Highways Authority have 
raised no objection to these in principle, but consider they need further 
development.  The residential travel plan should focus on residents but 
mentions other uses, and also needs more details and objectives for the units.  
The same would go for the hotel.

157. In addition no travel plans have been provided for the A1, A3, and A4 elements 
of the scheme. A condition should be attached which requires the further 
development of these travel plans.

Servicing:

158. The Transport Assessment identifies that the shopping centre is currently 
serviced via points in Banjo Road, Barns Road, and Hockmore Street.  This 
would not change as part of the development proposals.

159. A new loading bay is proposed on Between Towns Road for the hotel and A3 
unit.  The Local Highways Authority have raised no objection to this but 
recommend that a 20min time limit is introduced to ensure the efficient use of 
the bay and reduce its potential to be abused.

160. For the residential properties, refuse collections at Castle Car Park will be 
undertaken on-street, with vehicles likely to park on Beauchamp Lane with the 
refuse store located at the car park access.  The refuse collections at Barns 
Road Car Park will be undertaken from the existing Barns Road service yard so 
will be off-street.  The refuse collections at Site F will be undertaken on-street in 
Banjo Road, with the refuse store located from Banjo Road.

48



REPORT

161. Overall there would be no objection to the servicing arrangements proposed 
within the scheme.   

Construction Traffic Management:

162. Having regards to the nature of the existing centre, and the extent of the works, 
a Construction Traffic Management Plan will be required to mitigate the impact 
of construction vehicles on the surrounding network, road infrastructure, local 
residents and operation of the existing centre.  This should be secured by 
condition and will need to be a phased document that takes into account the 
likely phasing of the redevelopment. 

LANDSCAPING:

163. A Public Realm & Landscape Strategy accompanies the application which sets 
out the Applicants vision for the new public realm including new tree planting.  
This has been amended following consultation comments.  A preliminary Tree 
Survey, Arboricultural Impact Assessment Preliminary Arboricultural Method 
Statement & Tree Protection Plan Report by Hayden’s Arboricultural also 
supports the application. 

164. The proposals aim to bring forward a robust framework of semi-mature street 
trees, native trees to the communal garden and smaller specimens around the 
edge of Site A. This would deliver 48 new trees which is a net increase in 
numbers, provide amenity value, and create a lasting legacy of semi-mature 
street trees.  The proposed tree planting would complement the existing trees 
to the north of Between Towns Road and contribute to the creation of a green 
corridor.

165. The approach to the planting strategy at ground level looks to reinforce the 
Between Towns Road frontage whilst enabling clear views to the building 
frontages. The new Promenade would be defined by large linear raised planters 
containing hedges and ornamental planting.  These planters would provide 
separation from the busy vehicular road and year round colour and interest 
through the planting of perennials and grasses.  The formal frontage in front of 
Sites D and F is defined by semi-mature street trees. Proposed trees have 
been selected for their height and columnar habit which allow clear views 
through to the frontages behind. 

166. Around Site A smaller multi-stem species have been chosen due to the limited 
space and to avoid future conflict with the adjacent residential windows.  Behind 
the stone-faced boundary wall evergreen Yew hedges reflect the character of 
the adjacent Conservation Area and provide a year round foil.  Within the 
podium level communal space larger birch trees provide a light canopy to the 
shade garden above a groundcover of ferns and shade-tolerant perennials. 

167. Plant species on the biodiversity roofs will be specifically selected to encourage 
wildlife. A range of plants that flower throughout the year will provide a food 
source for insects and pollinators. Furthermore flowers with seed heads will 

49



REPORT

provide a food source for winter nesting bird species. A mixture of grasses and 
sedums and wild flowers will be selected to provide year round habitat value.

168. The north-facing green wall at the eastern end of Between Towns Road would 
be trained with shade tolerant Clematis armandii which would flower to provide 
a flush of seasonal colour.  

169. There will be a total loss of 19 existing trees in accommodating the proposed 
development; 5 Category B trees of moderate value, 12 Category C and 2 
Category U of low value.  There are no high quality Category A trees.  The 
development would come with in the root protection area of 3 of the Lombardy 
Poplar trees (TPO) which lie within the John Allen Park and would be impacted 
upon by the new bus turning.

Arboricultural Implications:

170. The implications of the redevelopment of the site in arboricultural terms are that 
all the trees which currently act as landscaping to the areas identified for 
demolition and redevelopment will be lost. This includes several trees of 
significant stature and positive contribution to public visual amenity. The trees 
act as a foil to adjacent buildings and provide a unifying element to the street 
scene; the landscape quality of the road suffers from many discordant visual 
elements associated with the disparate architectural styles present.

171. The tree losses (16 in total) represent a substantial arboricultural impact; 
however, they were planted in the context of the existing architectural design, 
which was developed in the 1960s, albeit all the current trees are not 
contemporary with the original development. Beyond their individual merits as 
attractive natural forms, their landscape value relates principally to their 
contribution to the setting of the existing site; good design principals dictate that 
major re-development of the site requires a fresh landscape strategy which 
responds to current design proposals.

Proposed Landscape Strategy:

172. The proposed landscape strategy involves significant replacement tree planting 
(48 new trees; a net increase). The landscape plans also include detailed 
proposals for planting pit designs. The structure of the proposed landscape 
strategy is considered appropriate.  However a limited species pallet is 
proposed and whilst a limited range of species can assist in creating a strong 
design aesthetic, with inherent unity, it is also more vulnerable to potential 
disease problems causing catastrophic landscape failure (especially when a 
single cultivar is used) but also in terms of creating too much visual 
regimentation; i.e. the use of only fastigiated (Carpinus betulus ‘Frans Fontain’) 
on the Between Towns Road Frontage. This strong design statement (which 
will be effective as a foil to the strong verticality of the proposed tower, at least 
in the short to medium term) could be modulated in areas where space exists 
for more current forms of tree species, such as at the extreme eastern end of 
the Between Towns Road frontage. It should also be borne in mind that 

50



REPORT

fastigiated hornbeam become very broad in maturity (see the trees of 
Sunderland Avenue: inset below).

173. The proposed design seeks to mitigate the above impacts by including 
landscape proposals for 48 new trees (a net increase). This landscape strategy 
provides appropriate mitigation for tree losses and provides in principle a strong 
landscape design framework to the setting of the proposed architectural 
designs. Further development of tree species selection is required, including 
employment of more species and form diversity and less reliance on a few 
cultivars.  This can be secured by condition.

John Allen Park:  

174. As set out above a contribution is sort in lieu of amenity space of the flats in 
Sites D & F towards the small park that runs between Between Towns Road 
and Cleveland Drive, beside the retail park know as John Allen Park.  In 
Officers’ opinion this presents a significant opportunity to improve the public 
amenity of this park which is currently poor.  When standing on Between Towns 
Road by the bus stops on the northern side, the parks appears as an area of 
open grassland with no facilities visible at all.  The existing tall Lombardy 
poplars that form a line close to Between Towns Road act as a visual barrier 
into the rest of the Park and likely aid antisocial behaviour that the Park 
experiences; in fact since they have been topped (due to structural defects 
requiring remedial tree surgery).  They are now quite a negative landscape 
feature and create a visual barrier.  People also cut down the bank from 
Between Towns Road into the grassed area beyond these trees.  The Park has 
more diversity in the tree species and age classes elsewhere and a child’s play 
area.  

175. The footprint of the new bus turning area would require the removal of the 3 
TPO Lombardy poplar trees close to Between Towns Road.  These trees are 
past their best in terms of health and are an increasing management burden.  It 
could be argued that they have come to the end of their useful contribution as a 
public landscape amenity.  Their loss is therefore considered acceptable and 
would open up opportunities for further enhancement of the park.  Their 
removal, along with the removal of the other poplars here, together with new 
strategic planting would soften and disrupt the massing of the shopping centre 
and would enhance the amenity asset value of the park.   Officers have also 
identified other opportunities such as upgrades to its bins, benches, footpaths, 
lighting and signage, and other structural changes such as path routes and 
hard landscaping from Between Towns Road that would make the Park and 
Templar Square a more integrated public space and a significant benefit to the 
existing residents and new residents of the development.   

176. The S106 can secure the sum of money and also further details of the re-
landscaping of the park, to be agreed with the Applicant and the Council. 

FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE:

51



REPORT

177. The proposed development is located within Flood Zone 1 according to the 
Environment Agency’s (EA) Flood Maps and the EA’s Surface Flood Mapping 
indicates that the development site is in an area subject to surface water 
flooding, however the surface water flood risk is low and is therefore considered 
to be acceptable.  The Councils Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) 
shows that no flooding events have taken place in the proximity of the Sites.

178. The ES assesses the risk of flooding and pollution to and from the  
development and any potential mitigation required. It analyses the most likely 
significant impacts on the environment of the proposed development, along 
with existing on-site networks and supporting sewerage infrastructure. These 
are considered not only within the site boundaries, but also in the immediate 
proximity of the Site.  The ES incorporates Flood Risk Assessment.  

179. The proposed development of the Site will entail the demolition of existing 
structures and replacing them with new to similar roof areas, and will therefore 
not increase the amount of impermeable area.

180. Groundwater flooding susceptibility has been identified in area within 50m 
beyond the boundaries of the site, however no groundwater flooding has been 
recorded within the Site’s boundary.  The localised ‘high’ risk of surface water 
flooding to Site A is suspected to be due to lack of maintenance of the existing 
below ground road gullies and sewers, and therefore remedial works may be 
required during construction.  Furthermore the SFRA confirms that no flooding 
has occurred on site.

181. The FRA recommends that drainage is designed in accordance with the current 
best practice to provide capacity to convey flows and deal with the 100 year 
with climate change storm effectively on the Site.  Gullies, drainage channels 
and drains should be suitably sized to accommodate peak storm flows, and 
inlet features should have suitably sized sumps to catch silts and should be 
subject to a routine maintenance regime. Any new structures should not be 
designed to be lower than existing structures on the Site to ensure that the sites 
flood zone classification remains the same.

182. Existing drainage should be re-configured to suit the new development and 
improve the existing surface water management. The new drainage system will 
connect into the existing public sewers maintaining the current connections and 
the existing discharge volumes will not be exceeded.

183. It is anticipated that the foul water rate will increase from the existing flow rate 
due to the increased residential use of the site; this may affect the existing 
225mm diameter public sewer running east-to-west on Between Towns Road. 
Re-configuration is required, and it is advised that the existing network is 
checked thoroughly for blockages and collapse, with any defects being 
corrected accordingly.

184. The use of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDs) has been assessed to 
limit the discharge rate from the Proposed Development. It is concluded that, 
pending further investigation, the following techniques could potentially be 

52



REPORT

suitable for use on Site: green roofs, rainwater harvesting, and retention.  
Further to comments received by statutory consultees blue roofs are also now 
proposed.  These would attenuate surface water run-off by storing rain water 
and discharging it in a controlled manner into the network.

185. During the construction phases of the project, the disposal of surface water 
would need to be carefully managed to ensure that the risk of flooding and risk 
of pollution is minimised. In order to moderate, or possibly eliminate, the risks to 
controlled water present construction, precautions would be taken, including the 
use of settlement tanks, spill kits, and gully covers.  This would ensure that the 
risk from surface water flooding, both to and from the Site, during construction 
is minimised.

186. The ES concludes that on the basis of the FRA recommendations and further 
detailed design that the development would have a low risk of any form of 
flooding, would not increase the risk of flooding to other properties within the 
local catchments area, and would not have a detrimental effect on the Site or 
local area from potential pollution factors.

187. The EA has commented that the site lies on a secondary aquifer and SUDs 
should ensure ground water protection and protection from contamination. 
Thames Water has not objected but has requested a Grampian style condition 
requiring a drainage strategy for the development.  The County Council as Lead 
Flood Authority has advised that all the surface water discharges go to Thames 
Water’s surface water sewers which are near capacity, therefore reductions to 
these sewers are essential.  

188. Officers concur with the findings of the FRA. The proposal is considered a 
significant redevelopment of the site but would not pose a significant risk to 
flooding on the basis that suitable mitigation measures are put in place.  Given 
the amount of the site the proposal will occupy, the scale and type of proposal, 
the amount of redevelopment proposed and that no drainage plans, 
calculations or details have been submitted at this stage it is considered that an 
revised drainage statement / drainage strategy outlining drainage details to limit 
runoff, reducing to predeveloped/greenfield rate of run-off rates is required.  It 
shall include betterment in terms of a decrease in runoff surface water rates 
and separation of fowl and surface water drainage.

189. It is therefore considered that, subject to the condition, that there would be no 
adverse impact from the development proposal in accordance with Policy NE14 
of the OLP and CS11 of the CS.

BIODIVERSITY:

190. The ES and the Baseline Ecological Appraisal submitted with the application 
considers the likely effects of the development upon biodiversity.  

191. There are no statutory or non-statutory conservation designations on site, with 
the closest non-designated designation being the Lye Valley and Cowley Marsh 
Local Wildlife Site approximately 0.8km north of the site.  The site is dominated 

53



REPORT

by buildings and hardstanding, which provide limited wildlife value and no 
evidence of protected species were found.  As a result the appraisals conclude 
that the development will not give rise to any significant effects on biodiversity.  
Officers would support these conclusions

192. Notwithstanding this, the NPPF sets in Paragraph 118 that ‘the planning system 
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by: 
minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where 
possible’ and ‘opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around 
developments should be encouraged’.  This is supported in Oxford Core 
Strategy Policy CS12.

193. The ES identifies that new bird nesting opportunities will be provided throughout 
the scheme in the form of new tree planting, and at least 15 nest boxes on the 
northern or western elevations of the buildings.  Officers would support these 
measures but would seek at least 20 bird nesting boxes throughout the 
development.  This could be secured by condition.  In addition to this an 
informative should be added which makes the applicant aware that the scrub, 
trees and buildings on site officer suitable habitat for nesting birds and therefore 
any removal of buildings and vegetation are undertaken outside of the nesting 
season. 

ENERGY EFFICIENCY:

194. An Energy Statement has been submitted with the application in order to 
demonstrate how the development would be energy efficient and include at 
least 20% of their energy needs from on-site renewables or low carbon 
technologies in accordance with Sites and Housing Plan Policy HP11 and 
Oxford Core Strategy CS9

195. The Energy Statement proposes a design compliant scheme by using a ‘Be 
lean’ and ‘Low carbon technology’ measures to demonstrate compliance.  It 
states that the development would achieve a 40% reduction in carbon 
emissions.  The development uses a fabric first approach through compliance 
with current Building Regulations to ensure that the overall energy demand is 
as low as possible.  It will then adopt passive design and low carbon technology 
measures to reduce carbon emissions through limiting air permeability through 
the scheme, employing efficient ventilation and extraction and energy efficient 
lighting, highly efficient heating sources and controls.  These measures alone 
would meet the 20% minimum policy requirement. In terms of renewables, half 
of the energy use will be from a Combined Heat and Power Plant.  Other 
renewables were considered, but discounted.  While the roofs would potentially 
make photovoltaics an option, this was discounted because it did not work with 
the drainage strategy set out for the scheme.

196. Officers consider that the Energy Strategy sets out an acceptable approach to 
meeting the requirements of the policy, and that this should be developed 
further through the detailed design phase of the development.  As such a 
condition to implement in accordance with the approved Energy Statement 
would be appropriate - and to particularly note that the efficiencies achieved 

54



REPORT

with the CHP plant are consistent with the assumptions made in the ES 
analysis (i.e. in line with those embodied in the definition of Good Quality CHP, 
as laid out in the CHP Quality Assurance Scheme).  A condition should also be 
imposed to require confirmation the energy systems have been implemented 
according to details laid out in the approved Energy Statement (Issue 5 from 
March 30 2017) to achieve the target performance.

AIR QUALITY:

197. The NPPF states that planning should “contribute to conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment and reducing pollution” by “preventing both new and 
existing development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk 
from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or 
noise pollution or land instability” (Paragraph 109).  It goes on to say that 
planning decisions should ensure that any new development in Air Quality 
Management Areas (AQMA) is consistent with the local Air Quality Action Plan.”  
The whole of the City was declared as an AQMA for nitrogen dioxide in 2010.

198. Policy CP23 of the OLP 2001-2016 states that development which would have 
a net adverse impact upon the air quality in the AQMA or in other areas where 
air quality objectives are unlikely to be met will not be granted Planning 
permission.  

199. The following documents have been submitted and reviewed:

 “Environmental Statement 7.4 Air Quality Assessment and Appendices” 
dated November 2016 produced by GL Hearn and AMEC Foster Wheeler 
Environment and Infrastructure UK Ltd.

 “Transport Assessment for the proposed development of Templars 
Square”, dated August 2016 produced by Connect Consultants.

 “Energy Statement, Templars Square Regeneration” (ref: 20160810 – 
energy statement Issue 4) dated August 10th 2016 produced by Wallace 
Whittle.

 “Air Quality Assessment Addendum (Appendix J)” dated March 2017 
produced by Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK 
Limited

200. The Air Quality Assessment Addendum (AQAA) considers potential impacts of 
vehicle exhaust emissions, CHP and boiler unit emissions and the potential Air 
Quality impacts from the re-arrangement of the bus stops during the operational 
phase of the proposed development.  This new assessment supports the 
conclusions of the original Environmental Statement chapter that the impact of 
the proposed development on local air quality is likely to be negligible. 

201. Officers concur with the findings of the reports and the proposal accords with 
CP23 and the NPPF, subject to further conditions requiring an Construction 
Environmental Management Plan and details of charging infrastructure for 
Electric Vehicles (Residential & Commercial), and details of venting system for 
the underground car park in Site A.

55



REPORT

SOCIO-ECONOMICS:

202. The ES identifies that the proposed development is likely to create 
approximately 153 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) jobs per year of the construction 
works, and a further 57 FTE jobs through the hotel and the A3 floor space.

203. The ES also notes the development will therefore create employment 
opportunities in the local area, to the potential benefit of local residents.  The 
County Council have identified that Oxfordshire has a ‘tight labour market’ and 
that improving local skills and employment outcomes will help drive the local 
economy and also improve the social and economic outcomes of individuals 
currently marginalised from the workforce.  They identify that seeking 
commitments to the development of skills and the provision of job opportunities 
through Community Employment Plans (CEP’s) can help to achieve this vision 
and to ensure that developments contribute to economic growth.  These plans 
can help to ensure the maximum benefit in terms of new jobs, allowing the 
planning system to support and drive sustainable local economic employment 
growth which is supported by the NPPF.  As wells as supporting sustainable 
economic growth, CEP’s provide the opportunity to more closely align new jobs 
created from a major development, the local labour market and skills providers, 
thus ensuring maximum benefits in terms of new jobs, apprenticeships, 
traineeships, work experience and local supply chains.

204. The level of employment generated on this strategic development site will 
require the developers to prepare and implement a Community Employment 
Plan that will seek to mitigate the impacts of the development through ensuring 
that local people can better access the training (including apprenticeships) and 
job opportunities arising from the development during both the construction and 
end user phase.  This should be secured by condition.

PUBLIC ART:

205. There is a requirement to provide public art and it is the intention of the 
Applicant to do so in accordance with CP24 of the OLP.  The Landscape and 
Public Realm Strategy proposes to incorporate public art into a seamless 
incidental play and public furniture scheme within the improved public realm 
along Between Towns Road referencing the Cowley area and its motor 
heritage.  It would be procured via design competition.  This is considered an 
acceptable strategy although Officers also consider that the public open space 
outside the existing entrance adjacent to Site D offers an ideal location for one 
large piece of art that would also help wayfinding into the centre.  The details of 
exact positioning and nature/form of the art could suitably be secured by 
condition.

WIND:

206. There are no national planning policies directly relating to wind microclimate 

56



REPORT

issues; however, the benefits of a high quality built environment are 
emphasised in the NPPF.   Policy CP9 of the OLP states that “Planning 
permission will only be granted subject to whichever of the following factors are 
relevant to the development…  adverse micro-climate effects (e.g. pockets of 
cold, heat, dazzle, wind or shade) are avoided;”

207. The ES assesses the likely significant effects of the Development with respect 
to wind 6 microclimate. This section also describes the methods used to assess 
the effects; the baseline 7 conditions currently existing at the Site and 
surrounding area; and the likely residual effects.

208. Wind tunnel testing is the most well-established and robust means of assessing 
the pedestrian wind 23 microclimate. It enables the wind conditions at the site 
to be quantified and classified in accordance 24 with the widely accepted 
Lawson Criteria for comfort (LCC) and safety.  A model was built and baseline 
conditions established, including meteorological data. This was then tested 
using a simulation of atmospheric winds and combined with existing conditions 
to obtain expected frequency and magnitude of wind speeds at pedestrian 
levels.  The results were then compared against the Lawson Criteria for safety 
and comfort.

209. The ES concludes that the effect of the proposed development (with and 
without soft landscaping) within the context of the existing surroundings would 
be as follows:

Safety:
210. Wind conditions remain suitable, in terms of pedestrian safety, for use by the 

general public throughout the year. This represents a negligible impact.  

Comfort – Thoroughfares:
211. Wind conditions at all thoroughfares remain suitable, in terms of pedestrian 

comfort, for their intended use throughout the year. This represents a negligible 
impact.  

Comfort – Entrances/Shop Front/Waiting Area:
212. Wind conditions at all entrances, shop fronts and waiting areas around the site 

remain suitable, or are improved such that they become suitable, in terms of 
pedestrian comfort, for their intended use throughout the year. This represents 
a moderate beneficial impact. 

Comfort – Recreational Spaces: 
213. Wind conditions at the recreational space to the North of the site remain 

suitable, in terms of pedestrian comfort, for its intended use throughout the 
year. This represents a negligible impact. 

Comfort – Balconies:
214. Wind conditions at all balconies situated on the elevated levels of the proposed 

development are considered suitable, in terms of pedestrian comfort, for their 
intended use as outdoor seating. This represents a negligible impact.

57



REPORT

215. Officers consider that the evidence within the ES robustly demonstrates wind 
microclimate impact and support the findings.  It is considered that the proposal 
would not have a significant adverse impact on the wind microclimate and as 
such accords with Policy CP 9 of the OLP.

ARCHAEOLOGY

216. The application is of interest because of the potential for Roman, Saxon, 
medieval and post-medieval remains in this location. The submitted desk based 
assessment (Wessex Archaeology 2016) highlights the archaeological potential 
of the development plots; the central and eastern footprints and basements 
(Sites D and F) have some potential to impact on Roman remains noting 
previously recorded concentrations of features and finds indicating the 
presence of a Roman pottery manufacturing area to the east. The Castle multi-
storey site (Site A) is located within the historic core of the late-Saxon and 
medieval village of Cowley where there would be potential for settlement 
remains.

217. Having regards to the conclusions of the desk based assessment, officers 
consider that a condition should be attached requiring a written scheme of 
archaeological investigation and a method statement for demolition.

LAND CONTAMINATION

218. The ES and Phase One Environmental Desktop Study consider the impacts of the 
development on contaminated land.

219. The document constitutes a limited preliminary risk assessment.  The overall risk to 
construction workers on site was determined to be moderate, while the risk to 
future site users was determined to be negligible. This was based on the majority of 
the development being hardstanding and that residential with plant uptake is not a 
proposed end use. However, it was recommended to undertake a detailed intrusive 
site investigation to better understand the risks from the site.  There was potential 
risk of contamination identified from ground gases and from oil leaking from a 
nearby former petrol station, but these sources were not considered further in the 
conceptual site model or preliminary risk assessment.

220. Having reviewed these documents, officers agree with the overall conclusion that 
there is unlikely to be significant impacts relating to contaminated land from this 
development. However, officers also agree that further site investigation is required 
to determine the risks to future site users, and what mitigation measures may be 
necessary.  Therefore conditions should be imposed requiring further investigation 
work, a verification report, and watching brief.

OTHER MATTERS:

Lighting, Wayfinding & CCTV:
221. A Strategy for exterior lighting & wayfinding has been outlined in the Landscape 

& Public Realm Strategy the principle of which are supported by Officers.  A 
finalised detail can be secured by conditions. Details of CCTV cameras have 
not been provided at this stage but could be secured by conditions in 

58



REPORT

accordance with CP9 CP20 of the OLP.

Totems & other Adverts:
222. The advertisement on new shop and commercial units falls under 

Advertisement consent regulations and therefore further separate consent 
would be required.     The development does however propose to re-locate and 
reduce in size the existing Totem that sits out front of the shopping centre 
beside the Nelson PH.  Whilst the height and appearance/ design of the Totem 
would fall under Advertisement regulations its re-positioning can be agreed at 
this stage.  It is shown centrally within the open space in front of the Centre 
which Officers consider inappropriate, limiting this space for use and being a 
better location perhaps for public art.  Further discussions to finalise the details 
of the public realm with the HA and City in terms of materials in any event and it 
is considered that a more suitable location could be found and agreed, secured 
by condition. 

Noise & Vibration:
223. The ES has undertaken an assessment of noise and vibration from the 

proposed development including a consideration of additional road traffic, 
habitable rooms and noise from commercial uses proposed.  It concludes that 
the proposed development would have no adverse impact on existing noise 
levels and a suitable level of amenity would be achieved outside the residential 
flats and hotel accommodation.

224. The construction of the development would impact on neighbouring residential, 
commercial and other properties adjacent and nearby in terms of noise and to 
some degree vibration at various times during the demolition and construction 
process.  This is acknowledged in the submitted ES.   Whilst the methods of 
construction are outside the remit of planning given the scale, complexity and 
proximity to residential property of this development proposal a condition 
requiring a Construction Environmental Management Plan could be imposed 
which seek details of, amongst other things, hours of working, piling methods, 
control on vibration and control of emissions.

225. In considering noise values for internal habitable rooms once occupied, officers 
consider that the conclusions of the ES are acceptable.  A condition should be 
attached which requires all internal and sleeping areas of the accommodation 
to meet the prescribed British standards for noise criteria.  This should also be 
secured by condition 

226. As such the proposed development subject to these conditions would accord 
with Polices CP19 and CP 21 of the OLP.

CONCLUSION:

227. It is considered that the proposed development makes best and most efficient 
use of the land, delivering a high quality development on a constrained site 
within the Primary District Centre.  It represents a significant regeneration 
opportunity and investment in this tired 1960’s shopping centre and would kick 

59



REPORT

start further regeneration of the area.   The development would provide 
significant public benefits including a substantial number of new homes 
additional, commercial units and provide a 71bed hotel, for which there is high 
demand in Oxford. It would create 57 new jobs and other socio-economic 
benefits during construction.  It would remove the vacant Nelson PH which has 
had issues in the past of anti-social behaviour.   The new buildings would make 
efficient use of land in terms of scale, layout, density and form, whilst 
respecting the site context.  It is a high quality design that would significantly 
contribute to the local character and distinctiveness of the area.   The re-facing 
the existing centre, entrances and car parks on Between Towns Road would 
also positively enhance the appearance of the shopping centre.  Other 
significant public realm improvements to the streetscape of Between Towns 
Road are also proposed including widening the pavement, planting trees and 
creating informal areas for child’s play within the proposed seating.  It also 
focuses on and creating a pedestrian experience that finally links the John Allen 
Centre opposite. The existing car parks are rationalised and refurbished (albeit 
the latter does not require planning permission) following the demolition of the 
Castle multi-storey carpark.  Adequate cycle parking and improved cycle lanes 
incorporated into the new public realm. 

228. The provision of high density development is supported in the Primary District 
Centre and the new cluster of buildings would be visible in local and long 
distant views. The new tower would be the tallest building the City has 
considered in a very long time and the significance of this has not been 
underestimated.  It is considered that at a local level there would be no harm to 
the setting of listed building or CA.  In long distant views into and out of the City 
there would be some harm to the wider landscape setting of Oxford and views 
out of Oxford from St Mary’s Church Or Carfax Tower but this is considered to 
be less than substantial harm.  Furthermore any harm would be outweighed in 
this case by the significant public benefits of the proposed development in 
terms of regeneration of the Centre, provision of housing and provision of jobs.  

229. The development would provide 226 residential flats on a windfall site in a mix 
of 1, 2 and 3 bed units which is considered a large number of units towards 
meeting Oxford’s need for housing.  The overall mix of units the generally 
accords with the balance of dwellings required and that any shortfall is 
outweighed by the benefits fo the development.  Of these units 23% affordable 
housing would be provided contrary to Policy.  However, robust evidence has 
been submitted which demonstrates that the scheme is unviable at higher 
provisions.  It is considered on balance that the public benefits of development 
in terms of regeneration of the shopping centre,  economic terms, provision of 
substantial number of housing units and public realm improvements, outweigh 
the under provision of affordable housing in this case and an exception to 
Policy should be made.  The affordable housing would be secured via a legal 
agreement.

230. In other aspects the evidence submitted in the ES and supporting documents 
relating to biodiversity, flooding, air quality, landscaping, energy efficiency and 
sustainability and transport demonstrates that the development would be 
acceptable subject to conditions imposed.

60



REPORT

231. The Officers therefore recommend that East Area Planning Committee approve 
the application in line with the recommendation at the head of this report, 
subject to the satisfactory completion (under authority delegated to the Head of 
Development Management) of a legal agreement under section 106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

CONDITIONS:

1. Time Limit for commencement.
2. Plans – in accordance with approved plans
3. Materials – samples agree prior each phase of construction (Excluding 

demolition)
4. Archaeology – WSI
5. Biodiversity – measures for wildlife 
6. Demolition Method Statement for Site A & Nelson PH – details to be 

submitted prior commencement.
7. Construction Environmental Management Plan
8. Sustainability – in accordance with Energy Statement approved
9. Sustainability – Further details of CHP
10.Revised Drainage Strategy – including SUDs measures further details, prior 

construction excl. demolition
11.SUDs Maintenance Plan – prior occupation
12.Piling method statement – water infrastructure details  
13.Landscape plan 
14.Landscape – planting carry out after completion of each phase or substantial 

completion of whole development.
15.Landscape Management Plan.
16.Revised Arboricultural Method Statement AMS  
17.Trees Hard Surfaces – tree roots
18.Trees Underground Services - tree roots
19.Trees Pits
20.Details of boundary treatment / entrance gates prior to occupation/ installation, 

Site A
21.Travel Plan –  prior to occupation
22.Road Construction, Surface and Layout  
23.Residential Cycle Parking Provision
24.Hotel Cycle Parking Provision
25.Car Parking Signage/Guidance System
26.Swept Path Drawings
27.Plan of Disabled Car Parking for Site D & Hotel
28.Construction Traffic Management Plan – details prior to commencement
29.Public Realm and highway works (full details, materials, Implementation)
30.Contamination – Watching brief as approved
31.Contamination – Remediation Strategy prior occupation
32.Contamination – Validation Report prior occupation
33.Architectural Recording of buildings to be demolished.
34.Commercial Units – restrict use A1/A3/A4
35.Details of shop fronts
36.Waste refuse & bin storage – further details prior to substantial completion

61



REPORT

37.Community Employment Plan
38.Ventilation  - carpark, Site A 
39.Electric Vehicles charging points (residential) 
40.Electric Vehicles (Commercial)
41.Construction Environmental Management Plan
42.Noise – residential (internal) 
43.Noise – mechanical extraction/ plant
44.A3/ A4 use extraction/ plant – further details required - prior to proposal being 

brought into use.
45.Details of wayfinding and street furniture (inc totem)
46.Details of CCTV
47.Details of External Lighting 
48.Public Art Strategy

Human Rights Act 1998

Officers have considered the Human Rights Act 1998 in reaching a recommendation 
to grant planning permission, subject to conditions.  Officers have considered the 
potential interference with the rights of the owners/occupiers of surrounding 
properties under Article 8 and/or Article 1 of the First  Protocol of the Act and consider 
that it is proportionate.

Officers have also considered the interference with the human rights of the applicant 
under Article 8 and/or Article 1 of the First Protocol caused by imposing conditions.  
Officers consider that the conditions are necessary to protect the rights and 
freedoms of others and to control the use of property in accordance with the general 
interest.  The interference is therefore justifiable and proportionate.

Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998

Officers have considered, with due regard, the likely effect of the proposal on the 
need to reduce crime and disorder as part of the determination of this application, in 
accordance with section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  In reaching a 
recommendation to approve, officers consider that the proposal will not undermine 
crime prevention or the promotion of community safety.

Background Papers: 16/03006/FUL.
Date: 24th April 2017

62



63



64



BUS 
SHE
LTE
R

Hampden Road

Beaucham
p 

Lane 

*

*

+

+

+

C
row

ell 

R
oad

Between Towns 

Road

Hockmore Street

B
arns 

R
oad

TEMPLARS SQUARE 
SHOPPING CENTRE

Between Towns 
Road

Site 
D

Site F

Raised Planter 

Shared seating area

Raised Planter

E: 72.55

E: 70.82

E: 72.39
E: 69.64

E: 68.71

E: 68.29

E: 66.92

E: 67.46

P: 70.55
P: 70.55

P: 70.55

P: 70.55

P: 70.55

TOW: 70.55

TOW: 70.55

TOW: 70.55

TOW: 70.55

TOW: 70.55

TOW: 70.55

TOW: 70.55

TOW: 70.55

TOW: 71.92

TOW: 73.65

TOW: 70.64

TOW: 69.81

TOW: 68.44

TOW: 69.39

E: 67.28 E: 67.62

E: 70.05

E: 69.25

E: 68.75

E: 68.84

Raised PlanterRaised Planter RaiseeeRaisss

RaisedR  P nterPlantntntPP

Raised PlPlaPl tertete

TOW: 70.55

+

E: 68.51

E: 68.38

E: 68.65

E: 68.91

E: 69.20

E: 69.35

E: 70.00

E: 70.55

E: 70.90

E: 70.60

E: 72.55

E: 72.55

E: 70.86

E: 71.16

E: 71.26

E: 71.95

E: 72.53

E: 73.04

E: 73.74

E: 72.94

E: 72.83

E: 72.01

E: 72.05

TOW: 68.02

BETWEEN TOWNS ROAD

BANJO ROAD

H
O

C
KM

O
R

E STR
EET

B
A

R
N

S
 R

O
A

D

m

Sub Sta

House

129

28

126

112

29

17

36

19
a

59

18
5

John Bunyan

16

9

3927

18

42 to 99

18

15

Bridge

Bank

Templars

PH

3

18
7

1

l05

20
3

24

12

23

41

The

51

183

100

2

37

16

19

53

1

51

55

5

63

17

45

70.7m

2

113

1

30

Centre)

LB

57

8

13

17
a

72.8m

22

3

26

3

17

2

El Sub Sta

23

11

Baptist Church

44

1

PC

m

25

TCBs

West

17

6

34

24

55

167

59

11

GP

5

10

4

61

20
5

El

1

to

Multistorey Car Park

101

16

35

5

Square

70.0m

El Sub Sta

68.9m

(Shopping

20
7

10

19
3

18
9

21
1

197

Square

Bank
5

127

28

21

10

6

Pound Way

39

l09

19

19
9

40

24
4

67.5m 195

213

Replacem
ent C

ladding

NO
ENTRY

EXIT

EXIT

NO
ENTRY Replacement Cladding

Replacement Cladding

PAY ON FOOT

SITE A
(Block A1)

(Block 
A2)

SITE F

SITE D

1

5

4

3

2

TOW 79.81 

TOW 80.08 

C
R

ASH
 BAR

R
IER

 

KO

GULLY 78.91 

CRASH BARRIER METAL R
AILING 

TOW 80.41 

TOW 81.04 

TOW 81.04 

TOW 80.94 

UP 

CRASH BARRIER 

METAL RAILING 

LEVEL 5

LEVEL 4

OUT

O
U

T

OUT

78.91 

CONCRETE BARRIER

C
O

N
C

R
ETE BAR

R
IER

C
O

N
C

R
ETE BAR

R
IER

CRASH BARRIER 

METAL RAILING

CRASH BARRIER

PARKING BAYS

PARKING BAYS

PARKING BAYS

PARKING BAYS

KO

KO

GU
80.08

80.11

80.11

C
R

ASH
 BAR

R
IER

CONCRETE

CONCRETE BARRIER

C
O

N
C

R
ETE BAR

R
IER

BL 81.14 

DHL 82.42

UP

UP

DN

RWPs

RWP

RWP

C
R

ASH
 BAR

R
IER

 

C
R

ASH BAR
R

IER
 

DN

PARKING BAYS

PARKING BAYS

WALKWAY

WALKWAY

WALKWAY

WALKWAY

WALKWAY

WALKWAY

LIFT

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

KO

KO

KO

KO

GU

81.93

81.34

81.34

81.32

80.73

DHL 83.69 

DHL 83.70 

DHL 84.91 

DHL 82.48 

LEVEL 7

GU

CRASH BARRIER

WIRE MESH

CRASH BARRIER

C
R

ASH
 BAR

R
IER

CONCRETE

CRASH BARRIER

CRASH BARRIER

CONCRETE BARRIER

RG

LEVEL 6

C
O

N
C

R
ETE BAR

R
IER

CONCRETEUP

DN

DN

PARKING BAYS

PARKING BAYS

PARKING BAYS

PARKING BAYS

WALKWAY

WALKWAY

WALKWAY

WALKWAY

LIFT

KO

KO

80.11

80.111

ark

C
R

ASH
 BAR

R
IER

CONCRETE

BL 81.14

DHLD
 82.42

UP

PARKING BAYS

PARKING BAYS

WALKWAY

WALKWAY

LPP

LP

LP

LP

LPLP

KOK

80.733

DHL 83.69

DHL 83.70

DHL 84.91

DHL 82.48

LEVEL 7

CRASH BARRIER

WIRE MESH
E

C
R

ASH
BAR

R
IER

CONCRETE

CRASH BARRIER

CRASH
CRASH BARRIER

RG

LEVEL 6

CONCRETEUP

DN

DNDNN

PARKING BAYS

PARKING BAYS

PARKING BAYS

KO

KO

KO

GUGU

818 .93

81.34

81.34

818 .32

GU

CRASH BARRIER

PARKING BAYS

WALKWAY

WALKWAY

WALKWAY

WALKWAY

LIFT

SITE C

EEEEEEEEEE:EEE:::EE:EEE  6 6 6666666666888688888866 .999.999..99199911119119199EEEEEEEEE 66668868888 9999199119

EEEEEEEE:EE:E:E:E::E  77777777727222277 .000000.00.0505055055EEEEEEEEE:E:EEE:E 777777772272727222277 000000055055555

The copyright of this drawing is vested with Corstorphine & Wright Ltd and 
must not be copied or reproduced without the consent of the company.

Figured dimensions only to be taken from this drawing. DO NOT SCALE. 
All contractors must visit the site and be responsible for checking all setting 
out dimensions and notifying the architect of any discrepancies prior to any 
manufacture or construction work.

NOTES:

PLANNING

Drawing Title

Drawn Checked Scale Date

Project No. Drawing No. Revision

Paper Size

Client

Project

Brook Hall   Brook Street   Warwick   CV34 4BL
Tel. 01926 658444  www.corstorphine-wright.com

Warwick
London

Birmingham
Manchester

Newcastle
Canterbury

Dublin

A1RBJ ML 1:500 AUG 2016

12928 0200 P-01

REV DATE NOTES CHK

NewRiver 

Templars Square 
Cowley, Oxford

Proposed Site Plan

SITE LEGEND:-

FOR DETAILED ROAD LAYOUT REFER TO 
TRANSPORT CONSULTANTS DRAWINGS

FOR DETAILED HARD AND SOFT LADNSCAPE 
INFORMATION REFER TO LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECTS DRAWINGS

PLANNING APPLICATION BOUNDARY

TREES TO BE RETAINED

TREES TO BE REMOVED

PROPOSED TREES

CENTRE ENTRANCE

GATEWAY ENTRANCE

P-00      16.11.16   Submitted for Planning                      RBJ

OWNERSHIP BOUNDARY

P-01      17.03.17   Updates to Highways, Landscaping
                              to Site A; Public Realm

RBJ

65

jthompson
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1b



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 14 
 

 
 
 

 

OXFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL’S RESPONSE TO 
CONSULTATION ON THE FOLLOWING DEVELOPMENT 

PROPOSAL 
 
District: Oxford City 
Application no: 16/03006/FUL-2  
Proposal: Mixed use phased development comprising residential (Use Class C3), hotel (Use 
Class C1), retail (Use Class A1/A3/A4) with associated car parking, demolition of car park, 
high level walkway and public house, public realm improvements, landscaping, highways and 
refurbishment of car parks and enhancement to shopping centre entrances. (amended 
information)(amended plans). 
Location: Templars Square, Between Towns Road, Oxford. 
 

 

Purpose of document 
 
This report sets out Oxfordshire County Council’s view on the proposal.  
 
This report contains officer advice in the form of a strategic localities response and 
technical team response(s). Where local member have responded these have been 
attached by OCCs Major Planning Applications Team 
(planningconsultations@oxfordshire.gov.uk).  
 

 

 
  

67

mailto:planningconsultations@oxfordshire.gov.uk
jthompson_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 2 - final comments as at April 2017



 

Page 2 of 14 
 

District: Oxford City 
Application no: 16/03006/FUL-2  
Proposal: Mixed use phased development comprising residential (Use Class C3), hotel (Use 
Class C1), retail (Use Class A1/A3/A4) with associated car parking, demolition of car park, 
high level walkway and public house, public realm improvements, landscaping, highways and 
refurbishment of car parks and enhancement to shopping centre entrances. (amended 
information)(amended plans). 
Location: Templars Square, Between Towns Road, Oxford. 
 

 

Strategic Comments 
 
 
Comments:   
 
The County Council supports the improvement and development of the city’s district centres 
as sustainable development locations which are well connected to sustainable transport 
networks and provide a range of services and amenities within easy walking and cycling 
distance of the populations they serve. 
 
The County Council therefore supports the principle of this development and considers that 
proposals to provide higher density residential development with low or no car parking is 
suitable given the area is highly accessible and parking controls can be introduced. 
 
The County Council now removes the transport objection to this proposal. Full details are 
provided in the officer comments below. 
 
 
Officer’s Name: Amanda Jacobs  
Officer’s Title: Senior Planning Officer 
Date: 21 April 2017 

 
  

68



 

Page 3 of 14 
 

District: Oxford City 
Application no: 16/03006/FUL-2  
Proposal: Mixed use phased development comprising residential (Use Class C3), hotel (Use 
Class C1), retail (Use Class A1/A3/A4) with associated car parking, demolition of car park, 
high level walkway and public house, public realm improvements, landscaping, highways and 
refurbishment of car parks and enhancement to shopping centre entrances. (amended 
information)(amended plans). 
Location: Templars Square, Between Towns Road, Oxford. 
 

 

Transport 

 

Recommendation: 
 
No objection subject to conditions 

 
Key issues: 
 

 The County Council, City Council and developer will need to agree a way to secure 
specific funding towards a Controlled Parking Zone and delivery of public realm and 
transport improvements in the context of the CIL regulations.   

 
 The County Council has put forward a number of further comments on the public realm 

and highway proposals which will need to be incorporated into final designs linked to the 
Section 278 Agreement.  

 

Legal agreement required to secure: 
 

The applicant is required to enter into a Section 278 Agreement (of the Highways Act 1980) 
linked to proposed public realm and highway changes on Between Towns Road and Barns 
Road and any other highway changes required to mitigate the impact of the proposed 
development. As part of the Section 278 Agreement, the applicant is required to submit 
drawings for technical approval from the Highway Authority.  
 

A Section 278 Agreement must be entered into between the applicant and the County 
Council in order to secure funding of £92,000 towards the implementation of a Controlled 
Parking Zone. 
 
It should be noted that a S278 agreement secured through a S106 agreement will not be 
possible in this case as this would contravene the CIL regulations.  The S278 agreement will 
therefore need to be entered into prior to grant of planning consent. 
 
A Section 106 Agreement must be entered into between the applicant and the County 
Council in order to secure funding of £34,848 for bus stop poles, flags and Real-Time 
Information displays (four of each). This does not include the cost of four new and 
replacement Landmark advertising shelters, similar to what is currently provided in 
Headington and Summertown district centres, which must be agreed separately with Oxford 
City Council.  
 
 

69



 

Page 4 of 14 
 

A cost of £4,000 to carry out statutory consultation to amend the Traffic Regulation Order for 
the double yellow lines along Between Towns Road, and relocate the pedestrian crossing 
and introduce a loading bay on Between Towns Road, must be met through a Unilateral 
Undertaking. 
 
Travel plan monitoring fees of £1,240 are also required. 
 

Conditions: 
 

Road Construction, Surface and Layout  
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, full specification details of 
Between Towns Road, Barns Road and Hockmore Street including construction, surfacing, 
layout incorporating additional cycle lanes and cycle priority at junctions, drainage and road 
markings, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter and prior to the first occupation of Phase 1 of the development shall be 
constructed in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety, to ensure a satisfactory standard of construction 
and layout for the development and to comply with Government guidance contained within 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Travel Plan 
The submitted travel plan will be revised in line with comments made on it and resubmitted to 
the Local Planning Authority for approval before first occupation.  
 
The submitted travel plan statement for the proposed hotel will be revised and resubmitted 
for approval by the Local Planning Authority before first occupation of the site.  
 
Prior to first occupation a Travel Information Pack shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. The first residents of each dwelling shall be provided with a copy of 
the approved Travel Information Pack. 
 
Reason: In the interests of sustainability, to ensure a satisfactory form of development and to 
comply with Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Residential Cycle Parking Provision  
Prior to the first use or occupation of the development hereby permitted, covered cycle 
parking facilities shall be provided for site D and F in accordance with details which shall be 
firstly submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the 
covered cycle parking facilities shall be permanently retained and maintained for the parking 
of cycles in connection with the development. 
 
Reason: In the interests of sustainability, to ensure a satisfactory form of development and to 
comply with Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Hotel Cycle Parking Provision  
Prior to the first use or occupation of the development hereby permitted, covered cycle 
parking facilities shall be provided for the hotel in accordance with details which shall be 
firstly submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the 
covered cycle parking facilities shall be permanently retained and maintained for the parking 
of cycles in connection with the development. 
 

70



 

Page 5 of 14 
 

Reason: In the interests of sustainability, to ensure a satisfactory form of development and to 
comply with Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Car Parking Signage/Guidance System  
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, full specification details of 
car parking signage/guidance shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter and prior to the first occupation of Phase 1 of the development 
shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety and to mitigate the impact of the development on 
the surrounding network. 
 
Swept Path Drawings 
Before the development permitted is commenced a swept path analysis shall be submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that a 12.5m 
public transport vehicle can safely and easily make a U-turn when using the Between Towns 
Road bus turning area. 
  
Reason: In the interest of highway safety. 
 
Plan of Disabled Car Parking 
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a plan showing car parking 
provision for disabled vehicles to be accommodated within Site D, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, and prior to the first 
occupation of the development, the parking spaces shall be laid out, surfaced, drained and 
completed in accordance with the approved details and shall be retained for the parking of 
vehicles at all times thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety, to ensure the provision of off-street car parking 
and to comply with Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
Drainage 
Development shall not begin until a surface water drainage scheme for the site, based on 
sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro-geological 
context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details before the development is completed. The scheme shall also include: 

 Discharge Rates 

 Discharge Volumes 

 Maintenance and management of SUDS features (this may be secured by a Section 
106 Agreement)  

 Sizing of features – attenuation volume 

 Infiltration in accordance with BRE365 

 Detailed drainage layout with pipe numbers 

 SUDS (list the suds features mentioned within the FRA to ensure they are carried 
forward into the detailed drainage strategy) 

 Network drainage calculations  

 Phasing 
 

Reason: To prevent flooding affecting the highway 

71



 

Page 6 of 14 
 

Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) 
A Construction Traffic Management Plan should be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
and agreed prior to commencement of works. This should identify; 

  

 The routing of construction vehicles and management of their movement into and 
out of the site by a qualified and certificated banksman, 

 Access arrangements and times of movement of construction vehicles (to minimise 
the impact on the surrounding highway network), 

 Details of wheel cleaning / wash facilities to prevent mud, etc from migrating on to 
the adjacent highway,  

 Contact details for the Site Supervisor responsible for on-site works, 
 Travel initiatives for site related worker vehicles, 
 Details of times for construction traffic and delivery vehicles, which must be outside 

network peak and school peak hours, 
 Engagement with local residents and neighbours. 

  
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to mitigate the impact of construction vehicles 
on the surrounding network, road infrastructure and local residents, particularly at peak traffic 
times. 
 

Informatives: 
 

None  
 

Detailed comments:  
 
The following should be read in conjunction with the County Council’s previous response 
which was submitted in January 2017.  
 
Public realm and highway works 
 
Public realm and highway works in the vicinity of the site are proposed to improve the street 
scene and accessibility to the site for all modes and to better integrate the site with the 
immediate surrounding area. These improvements must be designed and built wholly at the 
developer’s expense and delivered as part of the development so they are fully available 
before completion. This requirement will be enforced through a S278 agreement.   
 
In response to comments made by the County Council a number of changes have been 
made to the highway and public realm proposals along Between Towns Road and Barns 
Road. Updated proposals are shown in ‘Landscape & Public Realm Ground Level GA Plan 
(Revision H)’. The County Council has further comments on the updated proposals, as set 
out below, and expects these to be incorporated at detail design stage.     
 
Cycle lanes 
 
Proposals now include 2m advisory cycle lanes in both directions adjacent to the 
development on Between Towns Road. Further improvements are however required to 
continue cycle lanes up to, and where possible, through junctions to reaffirm cycle priority 
and safety. Suggested improvements include: 
 

 Extending the eastbound cycle lane further back to the Crowell Road signal junction 
and given the potential for (disabled) vehicles to park on this section of Between 
Towns Road consideration should be given to providing a short section of segregated 

72



 

Page 7 of 14 
 

cycle lane that would then re-join the carriageway before the pedestrian crossing. This 
will require suitable transition between on- and off-carriageway cycling to ensure cycle 
safety and convenience. 

  
 In terms of the eastbound approach to the Between Towns Road/Barns Road 

roundabout there may be the potential to provide both an ahead and central cycle lane 
to help cyclists approaching and travelling through the roundabout. This would be 
similar to what is provided at The Plain Roundabout in central Oxford, which has had a 
positive impact on cycle priority at the junction.     

 
 The westbound cycle lane should be extended to the Crowell Road signal junction, 

albeit the narrow footway and traffic lanes means it may only be possible to do this as 
far as Banjo Road without a more fundamental junction improvement scheme. 
 

 In addition to the above, cycle solar studs on both sides of Between Towns Road 
should also be considered in order to emphasis cycle priority. Again, this has been 
implemented at The Plain and is also part of the County Council’s Access to 
Headington proposals. 

 
The County Council’s transport strategy identifies both Barns Road and the entire section of 
Between Towns Road as either Cycle Super or Cycle Super Route. The County Council may 
therefore also request CIL funding from Oxford City Council in order to upgrade further 
sections of these corridors and more specifically, routes beyond the scope of the 
development’s proposals. 
 
Disabled parking 
 
The proposed 20mins parking bays on Between Town Road (next to the taxi rank) should 
instead be for disabled parking only with all other retail parking taking place off-street. This 
will provide some disabled parking where it is likely to be needed and will also reduce the 
potential for disabled parking on Between Towns Road e.g. on double-yellow lines.    
  
Improvements to the bus stop facilities on B4495 Between Towns Road 
 
It is expected that the developer will upgrade bus stops and facilities so they are a higher 
specification than currently provided i.e. similar to what is provided in Summertown and 
Headington district centres.  
 
As 4 stops are proposed (and required) this means 4 new and replacement shelters 
(assuming the existing ones cannot be reused), 4 poles and flags and 4 Real-Time 
Information displays. These will need to be to ‘premium’ route standard.   
 
Bus stop clear ways will require formal statutory consultation and will need to include the bus 
turn-around to ensure this is not used inappropriately.  
 
Updated swept path drawings are also required to confirm that buses can still U-turn with 
more recent alterations made. This is conditioned.  
 
 
 
 
 

73



 

Page 8 of 14 
 

Traffic impact 
  
In its initial response the County Council raised concerns over the potential for proposals to 
have a negative impact on traffic flows on Between Towns Road and Barns Road in 
particular. The revised plans submitted now include a number of measures to help keep 
traffic moving, which is considered important given Barns Road is a Rapid Transit route, for 
example.  
 
Proposals are shown in ‘Landscape & Public Realm Ground Level GA Plan (Revision H)’, 
and include widening approaches at the Between Towns Road / Barns Road mini-roundabout 
and extending the left-turn filter lane for access into the Barns Road car park. These 
measures along with improved signing (see comments on VMS below) will help to reduce the 
potential for additional congestion to occur as a result of more intensive use of the Barns 
Road car park.  
 
In the county council’s original response concerns were also raised about the impact of 
additional development traffic on the operation of the Between Towns Road / Crowell Road 
traffic signal junction, given traffic modelling undertaken in support of the application 
confirmed that two arms would be operating over 90% saturation (and so beyond a level of 
saturation that is considered to be acceptable). In response the transport consultant 
confirmed that they had modelled the right turn movement out of Templars Shopping Park 
every cycle despite the fact that it only appears when called. The model has now been 
updated to reflect more closely on-street behaviour and as a result this predicts that the 
junction’s level of saturation would not exceed 90%, which is considered more acceptable. 
Nonetheless, it is possible to see a further improvement with minor alterations to signal 
timings which the county council can implement should the development go ahead.  
 
It should also be noted that the traffic impact assessment has not considered the positive 
impacts that are expected as a result of the development and so assumes a worst case 
scenario. For example, public realm and alterations to parking on Between Towns Road are 
likely to reduce ‘edge friction’ which is currently caused by on-street parking on both sides of 
the road. Improvements to public transport, walking and cycling and the introduction of a 
Controlled Parking Zone will all help to remove some traffic from the area and reduce the 
potential for any further growth in background traffic.   
 
Variable Message Signing 
 
As commented previously, the County Council supports proposals to improve car park 
signage, particularly if this helps to make more efficient use of all car parks and reduces the 
potential for any blocking back onto the highway (given the potential for car parks to operate 
close to capacity more frequently). 
 
Limited details have been submitted as to what exactly is being proposed and it is not clear at 
this stage whether VMS or a more basic car park guidance system would be more suitable. 
Detailed proposals are therefore required before the County Council can consider proposals 
properly and improvements must be designed and built wholly at the developer’s expense 
and to the County Council’s specifications and standards. 
 
 
 
 
 

74



 

Page 9 of 14 
 

Residential car parking 
  
As noted previously, the County Council does not consider that use of the 29 parking spaces 
allocated within the Barns Road car park to flats at Site A would be convenient for residents 
of those flats and consequently are not likely to be well used. However as noted above, with 
the highways mitigation measures now proposed, and provided that appropriate on-street 
parking controls are installed, it is not considered that the demand for retail parking during 
peak times would be likely to lead to a significant detrimental impact on traffic flows. 
Therefore, the County Council does not object to the proposed allocation of residential 
parking spaces. 
 
A single disabled parking space is to be provided within the car park at Site A. This space is 
appropriately located in close proximity to the entrance of the accessible apartment at that 
site. 
  
The refurbishment of the Barns Road and Knights car parks (Hockmore Street) does not form 
part of this application. Consequently it is not clear how many disabled parking spaces are to 
be provided within those car parks for both the residential and commercial side of the 
development. 
  
The Adopted Parking Standards SPD sets out that, for commercial uses, 5% of parking 
should be designated for disabled people. 
  
Details on the number of disabled spaces and their layout for the residential units at Site D 
are required and this has been conditioned.  

  

Need for a Controlled Parking Zone 
  

The applicant proposes a low-car scheme which includes car-free elements however without 
suitable parking controls in place, the low car nature of the development cannot be enforced. 
The development would therefore be likely to lead to an increasing demand for overspill on-
street parking which in turn is likely to lead to detrimental impacts on the safe and convenient 
operation of the highway and would be unacceptable. Furthermore, without parking controls 
the potential for peak spreading identified within the TA would be less likely to occur which 
would result in increased traffic and overspill parking associated with the development during 
the busiest times. 
  
Also, as noted in the County Council's previous response to the application, the proposed 
flats at Site F are not to be provided with any dedicated parking spaces and as such should 
be considered a 'car free' development. Policy HP16 of Oxford City Council's Sites and 
Housing Plan outlines that permission will only be granted for car-free or low-car 
developments such as this where they are located within a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ). 
This is required in order to ensure that the low-car or car-free nature of the development can 
be enforced. Therefore, since Site F is not to be provided with any dedicated parking spaces, 
the development would be contrary to Policy HP16 in the absence of suitable parking 
controls to prevent unacceptable overspill parking. 
  
As noted in the sections above, the County Council would not be opposed to the proposed 
allocation of parking spaces for the residential units and the reduction of parking available for 
retail uses on the basis that parking restrictions could be implemented locally in order to 
control the parking demand.  
  

75



 

Page 10 of 14 
 

With this in mind the County Council requests a contribution of £92,000 from the applicant in 
order to install a CPZ. This is required both to ensure that the development is policy 
compliant and as direct mitigation against the development's likely highways impacts. Without 
this County Council considers that the development's impact would be severe and would 
object to the application. 

   

Parking layout 
  
We note that the parking layout has been reviewed in order to meet the minimum dimensions 
required under the County Council's Design Guide for New Residential Developments as far 
as possible.  
  
Residential cycle parking 
  
We note that the layout of the cycle parking in the southwest corner of Site A has been 
reviewed in order to improve accessibility. 
  
We also note that the cycle parking provision for Site F has been relocated to a communal 
storage area on the first floor. The County Council considers that this is an improvement to 
the previous proposals for cycle storage to be accommodated within each individual flat. As 
with the cycle parking at Site D, which is located within the basement, residents would be 
required to access the cycle store via a lift. 
  
The County Council has requested that a ramp is provided for access to these cycle parking 
areas. However, if this is not possible due to site constrains, a lift can be considered 
acceptable provided that lifts have minimum dimensions of 1.2 by 2.3 metres, with a 
minimum door opening of 1000mm in order accommodate all types of cycle.  
  
Furthermore, best practice guidance also sets out that where cycle parking is located inside a 
building it should have wide doorways and spacious corridors. Accessing the parking area 
should involve passing through no more than two sets of doors, with a recommended 
minimum external door width of 2 metres. Any door to a cycle parking area should be 
automated – push button or pressure pad operated for ease of use. 
  
It would appear that the plans may need some further alterations to accommodate these 
measures and so detailed plans of residential cycle parking have been conditioned. 
 
Public / Retail cycle parking 

  

The application form suggests that the level of public cycle parking to be provided for the 
Shopping Centre will remain unchanged, and whilst we note that use of existing cycle parking 
spaces around the Centre is variable i.e. spaces on Crowell Road and Barns Road tend to be 
less well used compared to spaces on Between Town Road, the redevelopment and 
improved cycle facilities and public realm are likely to result in more users cycling to the 
Centre. An increase in more conveniently located cycle parking spaces is therefore 
considered essential to accommodate the likely increase in demand for cycle parking and 
every opportunity must be taken to provide additional spaces when working through the 
detailed design of the public realm and highway improvements.  
  
In addition, the Adopted Parking Standards sets out that one cycle parking space per five 
staff, plus one space per one resident staff, should be provided for at the hotel. This is 
conditioned.  

76



 

Page 11 of 14 
 

Travel Plan 
  

An updated residential travel plan has been submitted along with a travel plan statement for 
the proposed hotel. The updated travel plan is contained in the form of a technical note. 
Further comments are below and final travel plans have been conditioned.  
  
From the travel plan point of view nothing has been submitted for the A1, A3, A4 element of 
the scheme. As such details of the GFA for this element should be provided to help us to 
assess if there will be a travel plan requirement. 

  

 Para 2.3.5 - as this is a residential travel plan it should be focusing on residents. This 
paragraph mentions customers of A3 units? We have no details of what A3 units are 
planned as part of this development.  We will need these details to assess if there will 
be a travel plan requirement, this should be expressed in terms of the GFA of these 
elements. 

 Commitment to conduct a new baseline survey and review the Travel Plan in light of 
the survey results within three months of occupation or, for residential developments, 
once a certain percentage of the site is occupied. Please include the proposed build 
rate for this development in the travel plan and the likely number of occupiers. 
 

 Template of residents’ travel survey questions to be included in the appendix.  
 The Travel Plan should also contain a commitment to monitoring of the Travel Plan at 

least every two years (for example, in Years 1, 3 and 5 or for longer if requested), The 
survey results should be analysed and submitted to Oxfordshire County Council within 
one month of the survey completion.  

 Clear targets should be set to reduce the percentage of site users travelling to / from 
the site by SOV to initial baseline survey.  These targets should be set to increase the 
percentage of travel by other modes including walking, cycling, public transport and 
car share. The combination of these targets for each mode should add up to 100% in 
total. Until the first survey has taken place 2011 Census data already included in the 
plan can be used to set the baseline. 

 Details of planned parking provision for the development for vehicles as well as cycles. 
 The action plan will need to include a mixture of short, medium and longer term 

objectives which form a credible package of measures that will enable the travel plan 
to achieve its aims / objectives. 

 Travel plan actions should be S.M.A.R.T. 
 Details of how the Travel Plan Coordinator will be identified and recruited and details 

of what their role will be should be included. 
 
Drainage  
 
Development shall not begin until a surface water drainage scheme for the site, based on 
sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro-geological 
context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. This has been conditioned.  
 
All the surface water discharges go to Thames Water’s surface water sewers which are near 
capacity therefore reductions to these sewers are essential. 
 
Officer’s Name: Stewart Wilson                   
Officer’s Title: Principal Transport Planner                        
Date: 13 April 2017 

77



 

Page 12 of 14 
 

District: Oxford City 
Application no: 16/03006/FUL-2  
Proposal: Mixed use phased development comprising residential (Use Class C3), hotel (Use 
Class C1), retail (Use Class A1/A3/A4) with associated car parking, demolition of car park, 
high level walkway and public house, public realm improvements, landscaping, highways and 
refurbishment of car parks and enhancement to shopping centre entrances. (amended 
information)(amended plans). 
Location: Templars Square, Between Towns Road, Oxford. 
 

 

Economy and Skills 

 

Recommendation: 
 
No objection subject to conditions 
 

Key issues: 
 

 The construction of the proposed development will create around 153 FTE jobs per 
year in construction and a further 57 FTE jobs through the hotel and A3 floor space 

 

 The level of employment generated on this strategic development site will require the 
developers to prepare and implement a Community Employment Plan  

 

Legal agreement required to secure: 
 
 

Conditions: 
 

 The developers will be required to prepare and implement, with local authorities and 
skills providers, a Community Employment Plan (CEP) that will seek to mitigate the 
impacts of development through ensuring that local people can better access the 
training (including apprenticeships) and job opportunities arising from the 
development. CEP’s should relate to outcomes from both the construction and the end 
user phase.   

 

Informatives: 
 
 

Detailed comments:  
 
The documents submitted in support of the planning application notes the creation of around 
153 FTE jobs per year in construction and a further 57 FTE jobs through the hotel and A3 
floor space. 
 
The Socio-Economics in the Environmental Statement also note that the site is on the edge 
of one of the most deprived areas of the country – Blackbird Leys. This development lends 
itself to the creation of employment opportunities in the local area, which is of potential 
benefit to local residents.  
 

78



 

Page 13 of 14 
 

The Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (OxLEP) and partners have agreed, through 
the City Deal and Strategic Economic Plan to deliver significant levels of economic growth 
 
Oxfordshire has made progress through programmes including Oxfordshire Business 
Support1, the Oxfordshire Apprenticeship programme2, O2i3 and Invest in Oxfordshire4.  
 
Recent policy initiatives relating to skills development are contained in: 
 

 The Oxfordshire City Deal 

 Oxfordshire European Structural Investment Fund (ESIF) Strategy 

 Strategic Economic Plan – the refresh of which is currently underway  
 
The Oxfordshire Skills Strategy has the following key strategic priorities to 2020:  
 

 To meet the needs of local employers through a more integrated and responsive 
approach to education and training 

 Creating the ‘skills continuum’ to support young people through their learning journey 

 Up-skilling and improving the chances of young people and adults marginalised or 
disadvantaged from work 

 To increase the number of apprenticeship opportunities  

 To explore how we can better retain graduates within Oxfordshire to meet the demand 
for the higher level skills our businesses need 

 
Employment and skills planning justification 
Oxfordshire has a ‘tight labour market’, comprising of one of the lowest national claimant 
counts for Job Seekers Allowance5, alongside ‘pockets of deprivation’ in which there are 
relatively high levels of unemployment. Improving local skills and employment outcomes will 
not only drive forward the local economy, but will have far reaching effects in improving the 
social and economic outcomes of individuals currently marginalised from the workforce.  
 
The Government advice on planning policy set out in the National Planning Policy Framework 
states that ‘significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth 
through the planning system’.  
 
Seeking commitments to the development of skills and the provision of job opportunities 
through Community Employment Plans (CEP’s) can help to achieve this vision and to ensure 
that developments contribute to economic growth.  
 
Through CEP’s, Local Planning Authorities can work together with the Local Enterprise 
Partnership, the Skills Board and partners to ensure the maximum benefits in terms of new 
jobs.  Thereby fully utilising the potential within the planning system to support and drive 
sustainable local economic growth.  
 

                                            
1
 Oxfordshire Business Support is the Growth Hub for Oxfordshire, providing business support, specialist advice 

and guidance  
2
 The Oxfordshire Apprenticeship programme promotes apprenticeships to employers and potential apprentices. 

It supports employers through the process of taking on an apprentice.  
3
 O2i Opportunities to Inspire builds links between employers and education across Oxfordshire in order to 

inspire the future workforce. It offers an online platform so that volunteers from any sector can discover 
opportunities to inspire and inform young people  
4
 Invest in Oxfordshire provides tailored assistance to place and grow businesses in Oxfordshire  

5
 JSA claimant count in February 2016 for Oxfordshire was 2,695 (rate of 0.6) 

79

http://www.oxfordshirelep.org.uk/
http://www.oxfordshirebusinesssupport.co.uk/
http://www.oxfordshirebusinesssupport.co.uk/
http://www.oxfordshireapprenticeships.co.uk/
http://www.o2i.org/
http://www.oxfordshirelep.org.uk/content/invest-in-oxfordshire


 

Page 14 of 14 
 

As well as supporting sustainable economic growth, CEP’s provide the opportunity to more 
closely align the new jobs created from a major development, the local labour market and 
skills providers. Thus ensuring maximum benefits in terms of new jobs, apprenticeships, 
traineeships, work experience and local supply chains.  
 
Officer’s Name: Sarah Beal               
Officer’s Title: Economic Development Coordinator                    
Date: 06 April 2017 

 
 

80



This page is intentionally left blank

81



This page is intentionally left blank

82



This page is intentionally left blank

83



This page is intentionally left blank

84



This page is intentionally left blank

85



This page is intentionally left blank

86



This page is intentionally left blank

87



This page is intentionally left blank

88



This page is intentionally left blank

89



This page is intentionally left blank

90



APPENDIX 3

Templars Square Cowley – Comments  
Commenters:

Support 
- 34 Bailey Road, Oxford 
- 203 Campbell Road, Oxford 

Neither object nor support: 
- 11 The Grates, Oxford
- 200 Headington Road, Oxford 
- John Bunyan Baptist Church, Oxford 

Object
- 53 Bulan Road 
- 139 Church Cowley Road, Oxford
- 42 Church Cowley Road, Oxford
- 18 Church Hill Road, Oxford
- 16 Beauchamp Lane, Oxford 
- 41 Beauchamp Place, Oxford
- 11 Hampden Road, Oxford
- 35 Florence Park Road, Oxford 
- 5 Rymers Lane, Oxford
- Barnes Place
- 44 Beauchamp Place
- 44 Church Cowley Road 
- 52 Church Cowley Road 
- 11 Hockmore Street 
- 13 Hockmore Street
- 9 Hockmore Street
- 10 Lewin Close 
- 3 Lewin Close
- 3 Willow Way
- Ark T Centre
- 42 Beauchamp Place
- 13 Church Hill Road 
- 22 Cornwallis Road 
- 38 Crowell Road 
- Oxford Preservation Trust
- 16 Pound House, Pound Way
- 4 Rymers Lane 
- 39 The Grates 
- 9 Wykeham Crescent 
- 5 Coleridge Close
- 1A Beauchamp Lane

Overall there is a general support for the regeneration of the shopping centre 
however main concerns are:

91



- Dislike for the height and massing of the development 
- Increase in traffic and congestion 
- Detrimental impact on the conservation area

Comments:

Transport:

Adverse Car Impact 
- Increase in car traffic

o Safety risk to pedestrians and cyclists 
- Witney-Oxford-Cowley Rail Line

o Restoration of this line is critical to achieving traffic reductions in this 
area

- A Virtual Shopping Street of local businesses would reduce car traffic
- Figures supplied do not reflect the problems at peak times with long traffic 

queues in either direction

Parking 
- Car parking charges should not be high as if they are it will force visitors to 

park on surrounding residential roads.
- Not enough parking for flats 

o Shortfall of 48 parking spaces for residents in block of flats 
- More car parking will be needed for shoppers if this development is successful
- New flats should be declared car free
- A CPZ will be necessary to prevent inappropriate on-street parking by those 

using the improved centre. It will also encourage the use of public transport
- Car parks will need to be open 24/7
- Potential abuse of Beauchamp Place private car park
- Popular car park is being demolished 
- Reducing parking to Church and Ark T centre which is needed 

o Ask for possible car parking specifically for the Church and Ark T 
centre below new flats 

o Consideration is needed for those attending weddings and funerals 
- An accessible park and ride site is needed nearby 
- Little place for even current residents to park due to the narrow roads and 

closeness of the houses let alone the visitors to the flats and tradespeople

Cycle Super Route 
- Question as to whether the development will include the creation of the Cycle 

Super Route on Between Towns Road as Cowley Centre is currently difficult 
to access by cycle. 

- Should be achieved through a Section 278
- Advanced Stop Lines needed

Cycling and Pedestrians
- Cycling and pedestrian routes are currently inadequate in this area and a 

more detailed submission as to a range of measures to tackle this is needed. 
- Looks as if no cycle parking is included

92



- Cowley cyclists prefer pavements so the narrowing of the roads to provide 
cycle paths would cause even more problems.

Suggested Road improvements 
- Suggestion to make the mini roundabout two lanes and for turning on to 

Barnes Road and right to carry on over – in order to improve car traffic
- Hatched Box junction at Beauchamp Lane – Between Towns Road – Church 

Cowley Road – Rymers Lane to deter traffic from seeking to use this junction 
in rush hours

- Hatched box at junction Between Towns Road, Crowell Road and John Allen 
Way.

- Diagonal pedestrian route to be marked from the Rymers Lane side of John 
Allen Way to the south side Between Towns Road.

- Advanced stop lines are needed on Oxford Road at the junction with Between 
Towns Road. This would particularly help cyclists going to Templars Square 
Shopping Centre and out to East Oxford Business Park. Also on Garsington 
Road at the junction with Hollow Way.

- New bus turning circle is welcomed
- No mention of CIL money to improve pedestrian crossing at Between Towns 

Road/Crowell Road and John Allen Centre
- The road junction at Between Towns Road/Crowell Road should be widened 

to make an extra lane for traffic from Littlemore to Turn Right.

Sustainable Transport
- Should have allocation of car club parking spaces
- Provision of electric charging points for vehicles 

Housing:

Flats:
- Providing more housing in Cowley is an important contribution to the local 

area
- Need for family housing not flats 
- Not enough green space for flats, density is too high
- No play area for children in apartments 
- No public community facilities for the residents of the proposed 

accommodation locally, they desperately need improving 
- Increase in population will put pressure on existing public services and 

infrastructure

Affordable Housing
- It is important to provide affordable housing in Cowley.

o Especially true for ‘regeneration’ projects like this so locals are not 
priced out of the area.

o Developers should meet the affordable housing target and planning 
committee should hold the applicants to this target.

Social and Keyworker Housing:
- Would support the housing in the new development being entirely social and 

keyworker shared ownership housing 

93



- No private development at all
- 50% social 50% keyworker housing recommendation 
- Social housing should be provided not a hotel 

Environment:

- Must be sustainable with passivhaus standards for all buildings
- More renewable energy, adequate insulation and improved drainage capacity

Noise/Pollution
- Pollution levels are already high, congestion will increase this
- Noise from building work may disrupt the music recording studio Ark T use 

Trees
- Large trees are needed not the small ones on plan
- Further landscaping should be provided including more trees
- Large mature tree beside entrance to the car park and the church on 

Beauchamp Lane is around 50 years old. They strongly oppose felling the 
tree and hope it is maintained as is beneficial to the view. 

Hotel:
- Do not support hotel on site

o Housing for keyworkers (shared ownership) and social housing are 
both needed more

- No mention of provision for cycle hire or for covered cycle parking for hotel 
visitors 

- High risk venture given the uncertain economic conditions resulting from 
Brexit

- Unable to detect a pressing case for an additional hotel in this location, travel 
lodge, four pillars, and premier inn nearby 

- No parking for Hotel
- The Hotel should be relocated to the 7 storey area at castle street car park 

Overlooking/Loss of Light:
- The flats will overlook the rear garden of 42 Church Cowley Road
- Overlooking into neighbouring houses causing a reduction of light
- Morning sun will be blocked by height of development
- Overlooking concern from balconies and windows looking straight into 

windows of 3 Beauchamp Lane
- New flats could obstruct light and outlook to John Bunyan Baptist Church  
- Concern that proposed walkway will affect the light and privacy of Hockmore 

Street residents
- Concern the height of the building will obstruct the light coming in to the Ark T 

art project room and café area which are two important spaces for community 
work 

- Potential overshadowing concern for 4 Rymers Lane

Public House:

94



- No need for a new public house, it would produce antisocial noise and 
disturbance late at night

Height, Scale, and Visual Appearance:

Height
- Object to the proposed height of the redevelopment of Templar Square 
- Site D 48 meters high and 15 storeys 

o This would dward nearby Hockmore Tower a prominent 7 storey high 
rise

o Elsewhere in Oxford and around the country high rise projects are 
being abandoned

- OPT are concerned with the height and mass of the development. It 
dismisses the impact it will have within the views of and from Oxford. 

o Templars Square is within the 360 degree of hills which surround the 
city and make it special and they do not share the view that it is outside 
or will not impact oxford. 

o Hockley Tower is viewable from St Mary’s Tower and therefore an 
assessment on the character and enjoyment of this and other public 
views needs to be considered.

Scale/Conservation Area
- Scale is at odds with the smaller scale of buildings within the conservation 

area 
- Development dominates the skyline dwarfing and overshadowing the small 

listed thatch cottage and semi-detached houses opposite
- Out of scale and character
- Beauchamp Lane is a conservation area and this should be considered
- Substantial increase in building mass, detrimental impact on the appearance 

of area and public transport 
- In the Sites and Housing Plan 2011-2026 (adopted in 2013) Oxford Local 

Plan, B2.32 specifically states 'the design of development should consider the 
special character of Beauchamp Lane Conservation Area'. This hasn’t been 
adequately considered. 

- Out of proportion with area in terms of density and height 
- Site D and F are overpowering as well as site A despite the fact it is 

staggered. 

Appearance 

Positive 
- Plans look good, will update a very out dated looking site.
- Improving the public space on Between Towns Road is an important 

contribution to the local area

Negative 
- Is ‘hideous’ and will be detrimental to the aesthetic of the area. 
- It is bulky, modern and tall
- Huge contrast to thatched cottage 

95



- Plan does not show the distance from new boundary wall facing the church
- The design is bulky and will dominate the area in a manner the car park 

currently doesn’t 
- The development would  be over-bearing and disproportionate to its 

surroundings
- The tower block would seriously impair the local environment, particularly 

historic Beauchamp Lane
- the neighbourhood is being railroaded at the expense of character, community 

cohesion, quality of life, health and basic sustainability
- There is an opportunity to create something special for cowley and this is not 

putting cowley on the map. 
- The design is ‘old-fashioned, ugly and ripe to rapidly become Oxford's new 

painful eyesore’.
- Will destroy the character of Oxford, not improve it.
- The flats would detract from the ‘lovely ambiance’ of the small historic area of 

old Church Cowley 

Comments on re-consultation received do not in general raise any new issues.  The 
following additional comments are:

 Regeneration
- The owners want to spend 60 million pounds on our shopping centre, to vastly 

improve the mix of what we have to offer at Templars Square, it will massively 
improve the look of the area at street level, and provide a nicer experience to 
those visiting. We must embrace this opportunity to provide East Oxford with 
a shopping area to be proud of.  It will of course provide more jobs for local 
residents, and bring more money to the area, that has been one of the most 
deprived in Oxford, and probably Oxfordshire.

- Overall, more can be done to reduce reliance on the car in the area. The 
current planning application should be amended to take this fully into account 
and to demonstrate how it is seeking to prioritize walking, cycling and public 
transport. 

- The wider Vision is not clear within the submitted information.

CYCLOX We strongly object to the amended application, because of its deficiencies 
in cycling provision.  Proposals fall short of standards for a cycle Super Route, 
proposals indicate merely advisory lanes, not mandatory. The heavily trafficked 
roundabout Barns Road-B4495 as currently conceived will be wholly unsuitable for 
less confident and less experienced bike users.  Lack of protection that will be 
afforded westbound to bike users turning right into Barns Road. No priority given to 
active travel modes. Nowhere in either the original or the amended application, nor in 
the County Highways responses, is there any reference to the likely impact of e-
bikes. The quantity and quality of public cycle parking spaces at strong desire-
locations are underspecified for the probable demand.

Oxford Preservation Trust (OPT) does not oppose the redevelopment of Templars 
Square and its regeneration with a mixed use scheme. However, in recent years the 

96



approach to existing high buildings such as the Kreb's Building in the Science Area 
has been to demolish them. With new building, such as the Blavatnik School, 
developers were asked to be discreet in the view. The City Council is departing from 
this approach, so that rather than demolishing Hockley Tower, which might have 
been the approach, a higher neighbour is now envisaged. The impact of adding tall 
buildings within Oxford should not be done lightly and we are concerned to see a 
development coming forward of this considerable mass and great height in a way 
which somewhat dismisses the impact it will have within the views of, and from, 
Oxford. Indeed, in parts of the documentation there is the suggestion that this is a 
site outside Oxford. Templars Square is within the 360 degree of hills which surround 
the City and make it special and we do not share the view that it is outside and/or will 
not impact on Oxford. It is, of course, also immediately adjacent to the Beauchamp 
Lane Conservation Area. 

What is proposed is a building/s which will be an addition to the skyline and are 
higher than Hockley Tower [sic], adding to the overall height and mass. Adding any 
tall buildings within Oxford must be handled with very great care.

 We refer to the documentation TVIA and the Wessex Archaeology Heritage 
Assessment. We are very familiar with the various views of Oxford and note that 
there are a number of renders provided of buildings in the view, near and far. Sadly 
they too often present a dull, grey scene with the current Hockley Tower and the new 
development fading into the background and even hidden behind trees. 

We have not been able to find mention of the City Council's own Assessment of the 
Oxford View Cones 2015 Report, carried out in partnership with Oxford Preservation 
Trust and Historic England, and it is certainly not used as the methodology for 
assessing these views and their character and how development will change these 
views and the perception and enjoyment of them. This is disappointing as this 
provides the best and accepted method of assessing views and changes to them, 
how they are used, seen and enjoyed by Oxford residents, their dynamic nature as 
people walk through them, how they change at different times of day and in different 
seasons, so much more than assessing what can be seen from a single point, 
perhaps hidden behind trees. The Oxford Views Study may concentrate on the ten 
protected view cones in the Oxford Local Plan but it provides the best method for 
understanding all views and it has been much used by others wishing to develop at 
Oxford in recent years, encouraged by the City planners. 

The Hockley Tower it is highly visible St. Mary's Tower, and the new development 
will be more so. There needs to be an assessment of the effect on the character and 
enjoyment of this and other public views. Whilst the Heritage Assessment highlights 
the Beauchamp Lane Conservation Area and listed buildings, we are disappointed to 
see that the main concentration is on the archaeology in the area, the depth of which 
work is not mirrored in the work done in assessing the conservation area and the 
impact of this size and height and mass of development right up to the boundary of 
the adjacent Conservation Area. What is provided is too cursory and dismissive and 
gives insufficient reasoning for the conclusions. We note that there is recent case 
law which gives great weight to the duty to preserve if there is any harm, however 
small. The Beauchamp Lane Conservation Area is a rare historic surviving example 
in which existing stone walls, buildings and a landscape of leafy lanes survive.  It is a 

97



good example of a 'village within a town' which is a key characteristic of Oxford as in 
nearby Iffley Village, Old Marston and Old Headington. In the Sites and Housing 
Plan 2011-2026 (adopted in 2013) Oxford Local Plan, B2.32 specifically states 'the 
design of development should consider the special character of Beauchamp Lane 
Conservation Area'.

Further comments of second reconsulaiton were that OPT continues to support the 
regeneration of this area however the changes to the plans do not alter our 
objections made in our previous letter. 

OPTs objections relate to Site D. A building of this height within Oxford will have a 
harmful effect in public views from the City and surrounding hills. It is too tall and 
massive sitting up against the Beauchamp Lane Conservation area.   In Raleigh 
Park there has been considerable efforts made to open up the views, and over the 
winter local people have worked to clear back the vegetation, with more work 
planned.

Oxford Civic Society welcomes the regeneration of Templars’ Square in principle. 
The combination of residential and retail accommodation in close proximity should 
be encouraged. Additional affordable homes are badly needed in Oxford. It is very 
disappointing that the application fails to meet the City Council’s target for affordable 
homes. 

The creation of a new tower block, higher than both the Hockmore Tower (10 
storeys) and Blackbird Leys Towers (14 storeys) is a cause for concern. There is 
ample evidence that local residents are alarmed at the impact of this development on 
the character of the area. The statement of community involvement lacks evidence 
that those who were consulted were persuaded that this proposed redevelopment 
will be proportionate. Oxford Civic Society would prefer to have seen a more 
integrated design which would have permitted the same number of homes to be 
provided without resorting to such a high rise solution.

Far too little regard has been paid to the impact of the application on the character of 
the adjacent Beauchamp Lane Conservation Area. It had been hoped that, after the 
Castle Mill fiasco, the Design Review Panel (DRP) process would prevent the 
repetition of serious harm done to Oxford’s heritage but in the present instance, this 
seems not to be the case.

The Society is also concerned about the impact of the development on views across 
the city which we had thought was supposed to be an important part of the 
consideration of such large scale projects, using recognised view-analysis 
techniques as a safeguard against unintended intrusion into the skyline of the city. 

As for the effects on traffic and parking, we are very concerned that the application 
has adopted an overly optimistic view of the likely actual impact on the streets in the 
area. 

In its present form we believe that the application should be refused.

98



 

 

 

Templars Square Shopping Centre, Oxford 
Design Workshop 
Notes from 21 April 2015 

Thank you for attending the ODRP Design Workshop on 21 April 2015. We applaud the client, 
design team and Oxford City Council on engaging with the panel at this early stage of the design 
and planning process and look forward to future dialogue as the proposal develops. The 
redevelopment offers the opportunity to raise the profile of Cowley and address the fundamental 
urban design and public realm shortcomings of Templars Square Shopping Centre. The principle 
of consolidating underused car park sites to provide a housing-led mixed use redevelopment is 
one that we commend and fully support. The initial masterplan approach is sound - the proposed 
height and massing are in keeping with the local context and the placement of housing and 
commercial uses seem appropriate. The success of the redevelopment will depend on two things: 
firstly, strategic collaboration between Oxford City Council, Oxfordshire County Council and the 
client as landholders and long-term patrons; and secondly, a bold narrative and mixed-use model 
that changes the perception of Cowley whilst maintaining the identity of a local hub with a strong 
history and community.  
 
Vision 

 A bold, captivating narrative is needed at this stage to take users on an exciting ‘journey’ of 
the masterplan. At present it seems as though the design is being solely defined by what is 
there now resulting in complex and costly improvement works if/when more funds become 
available.  

 Embrace unique historic features, such as the mural depicting the district centre’s history, 
to ensure the narrative is specific to Cowley.  

 Develop an aspirational, long-term masterplan for both current and future improvements to 
the shopping centre. Continue to assess and pinpoint aspects of the existing scheme that 
will benefit from urgent care and those that will make a greater difference to the character 
of the area with relatively low outputs and within shorter time frames.  

 
Planning Process 

 The client, design team and Oxford City Council need to agree on a planning delivery 
strategy at this stage. The concept of an outline/masterplan application that runs 
concurrently with the detailed proposals to help deliver the redevelopment in a timely 
manner is reasonable. We recommend an established type of planning application, such as 
a hybrid application, that requires both drawings and design principles at every stage and 
can influence change beyond the redline boundary over time.  

 Carefully reassess the planning delivery programme to ensure the proposal is well 
considered and does not feel rushed. Community and city council interest and support, 
particularly for a scheme of this scale and local importance, is more likely to be garnered 
from a well-planned and well-paced process of engagement. 

 At this stage of the pre-application process define and agree with Oxford City Council 
particular aspects of the proposal that may require detailed analysis, prior approval or more 

99

jthompson_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix 4i



 

 

 

detailed discussions over a period of time. For example, agree key views to and from the 
site that are likely to impact on the Oxford skyline.  

 We support the initiative to develop and build consensus on the design approach with 
councillors from the outset, in line with guidance from the planning department, and 
encourage further opportunities to do so with other key stakeholders. 

 
Hockmore Tower 

 The redevelopment of Templars Square Shopping Centre is an ideal opportunity to address 
the fundamental access, and health and safety issues around Hockmore Tower. Explore 
establishing a joint venture between the client, Oxford City Council and Oxfordshire County 
Councils to develop a holistic masterplan incorporating Hockmore Tower and provide 
meaningful and long-term improvements for all users. 

 Investigate whether Banjo Road could be de-adopted for a more strategic and longer term 
masterplan approach and essential public access improvements for Hockmore Tower. 
Redesigning Banjo Road and the service/delivery arrangements could include, for example, 
decking over the service yard to allow safe and direct access to Hockmore Tower from the 
north. This approach will also provide better views onto this space from the residential flats 
above and more floor space for development. A detailed analysis of Banjo Road will be 
beneficial in facilitating these discussions and informing how this space could be re-
envisioned. 

 Collaborate with the relevant Development Control team members at Oxford City Council 
on the proposed colour scheme of Hockmore Tower. A cohesive colour scheme is a 
relatively simple way of making disparate buildings and spaces, particularly those under 
separate ownership feel more integrated. As a result, new residents, employees and 
investors will be attracted to the site to the mutual benefit of each landholder.  

 Collaborate with Oxford City Council on improving the rear entrance to Hockmore Tower on 
Hockmore Street. A residential lobby and lift access from the ground floor could help this 
entrance space feel safe and more appealing. 

 
Public realm 

 An improved, high quality public realm is a welcome benefit and counterbalance to the 
impact of growth and increase in housing in the local area. We urge the client team, Oxford 
City Council and Oxfordshire County Councils to invest the necessary funds, time and/or 
resources in developing and delivering an ambitious public realm strategy that extends 
beyond the red line boundary and incorporates street furniture, bus stops, cycling routes, 
and pedestrian crossings and footpaths. For example, investigate if/how the existing 
pedestrian crossing on Between Towns Road could be relocated to more seamlessly 
connect the retail outlet opposite the site and new entrance proposals for the shopping 
centre. 

 Carefully procure and appoint a defined public realm and landscape architect at this stage, 
and allow the public realm and landscape design decisions to strategically inform the 
overall site and building configuration. 

 Define aspects of the public realm that require more control. At present, the haphazard 
movement of delivery and service vehicles on Hockmore Street, for example, adds to its 
unwelcoming character and unduly degrades the quality of the public realm. 

100



 

 

 

 Explore how to make the site feel less car dominated in the treatment of the streets and 
hard and soft paving. The pavement along Between Towns Road, for example, feels 
disproportionately wide; reducing the width of the street by shifting the existing building line 
will make the street feel tighter and well-framed.  

 Investigate how the ground floor experience across the site could be more dynamic and 
active, for example with duplex homes or A3 retail uses. The ground floor level car parks 
make the streets and footpaths feel abandoned and unsafe.  

 Explore whether Hockmore Street could be treated as a mews road. We welcome this 
street as a public access route but feel it is overly car dominated. Paving stones, 
strategically placed trees and planting, and defensible space protecting front doors, for 
example, could make Hockmore Street more appealing to existing and future residents. 

 Consider how to connect Hockmore Street and Hampden Street by creating views and 
access between the different levels, via a new public accessible staircase for example. 

 The ambition to improve the open space to the east of the site along Barns Road is to be 
applauded. A simple, elegant approach, such as incorporating large trees and good quality 
granite paving, will help to soften the busy character of Barns Road and create a more 
pleasing view for the proposed houses along Hockmore Street. Consider also how this 
space could facilitate other temporary or community uses. 

 Continue to look for opportunities to provide more incidental play spaces. The lack of play 
space is particularly concerning given the proposed population increase in the area.  

 Continue to look at how sustainable means of transport, such as walking, cycling and public 
transportation, could be enhanced to build upon the initiatives to reduce car parking across 
the masterplan. 

 A sustainability strategy is needed across the across the masterplan and individual sites 
incorporating green roofs, water attenuation, ecology and biodiversity. 

 
Shopping centre entrances 

 We welcome the initial design thinking on how to improve the quality of the existing 
entrances with minimal disruption and cost. Make sure the masterplan narrative informs the 
entrance design. 

 Reassess the use of all entrances thinking specifically about how and when they will used 
and by whom. Develop a clear hierarchy for the entrances that work with the proposed 
masterplan approach. Given the proposed closure of the Castle Car Park, for instance, the 
shopping mall entrance on the corner of Hockmore Street and Crowell Road is likely to 
become redundant.  

 
Site D and Between Towns Road 

 Continue to investigate how the proposed building heights along Between Towns Road 
could create a more dynamic appearance that is different to what is there already. We 
welcome the proposed height along Between Towns Road. The taller blocks respond well 
to Hockmore Tower and act as markers to the site.  

 We feel that the proposed car park redevelopment on Site D could be taller, if needed, to 
ensure car parking across the masterplan is consolidated into one site.  

 Think about how the buildings at the corners of Between Towns Road and Barns Road, 
and Between Towns Road and Crowell Road could be more special. Making the corner 

101



 

 

 

blocks slightly taller, for example, will help to bookend the commercial uses along Between 
Towns Road and make it feel more like a high street. We recommend the existing office 
building on the corner of Barns Road and Between Towns Road will benefit from 
redevelopment. Explore how this building could be incorporated into the redevelopment at 
this stage of the redevelopment to create a notable marker for the district centre.  

 Define and emphasise key views in the design of the public space. The alignment of the 
existing buildings on Site A works well as it provides a direct view to the listed building. 

 
Site A and E 

 The initial building configuration on Site A is sound. Continue considering its relationship to 
Crowell Road and Between Towns Road, in particular the building height and layout. A 
taller element on the corner of Between Towns Road and Crowell Road and reduced in 
height towards the adjacent listed building can accentuate the corner and respond to the 
conservation area respectively. 

 The ambition for shared public space between Site A and the existing nursery to the north 
is to be commended. Also consider the relationship of Site A with the future use of the 
sweeping green space immediately to the north of Site A. 

 The car park on the ground floor of Site A is unsatisfactory. Consider alternative 
arrangements for car parking on this site and alternative ground floor uses, such as 
residential duplexes with front doors and living spaces on ground floor level, or retail, to 
active the streets.  

 We welcome the initial design thinking on the improvements to Site E. 
 
Site B and C 

 Explore how the environment immediately surrounding Sites B and C could be more 
hospitable and pleasant for residential use. Terraced housing on Site B works well and 
contributes to the feeling of a mews road. However, their direct view onto the array of 
existing unkempt garages is unacceptable. Investigate if/how the service yard could be 
redeveloped in time with the new housing, for example, into retail units, such as cafes, or 
apartments. 

 Develop a robust management strategy for Hockmore Street to also incorporate routes and 
parking for service and delivery vehicles. 

 
 
Attendees 

 
Design Workshop Panel 
 
Keith Bradley (chair) 
Noel Farrer 
 
Scheme presenters 
 
Francois Nairac   New River Retail    
Jamie Whitfield   New River Retail   

102



 

 

 

Paul Turner   Corstorphine + Wright 
Rebecca Bassan-Jheeta  Corstorphine + Wright  
Nick Diment   GL Hearn    
Amy Jones   GL Hearn  
 
Local Authority 
 
Murray Hancock Oxford City Council 
Clare Golden  Oxford City Council 
Felicity Byrne  Oxford City Council 
Tobias Fett  Oxford City Council 
Martin Armstrong Oxford City Council 
Sarah Orchard Oxford City Council 
 
Cabe at Design Council staff 
 
Thomas Bender 
Victoria Lee 
 

 

Confidentiality 

Since the scheme is not yet the subject of a planning application, the advice contained in this letter is offered in confidence, on 

condition that w e are kept informed of the progress of the project, including w hen it becomes the subject of a planning 

application. We may share confidential letters w ith our aff iliated panels only in cases w here an aff iliated panel is taking on a 

scheme that w e have previously review ed. We reserve the right to make our view s know n should the view s contained in this 

letter be made public in w hole or in part (either accurately or inaccurately). If  you do not require our view s to be kept 

confidential, please w rite to designreview @designcouncil.org.uk. 

103

mailto:designreview@designcouncil.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Design Council, Angel Building, 407 St John Street, London EC1V 4AB United Kingdom 
Tel +44(0)20 7420 5200  Fax +44(0)20 7420 5300 
info@designcouncil.org.uk  www.designcouncil.org.uk 

 

 Registered charity number 272099 

 

23 September 2015 
 
François Nairac  
New River Retail (UK) Ltd 
37 Maddox St 
London  
W1S 2PP 
 
 
Our reference: DCC/0688  
 
 
Oxford City Council: Templars Square Shopping Centre  
 
 
Dear François Nairac, 
 
Thank you for consulting the Oxford Design Review Panel on this scheme and for attending the ODRP review 
meeting on 10 September 2015. This is a complex and challenging site and the importance of this scheme for 
both Cowley and Oxford cannot be underestimated. It offers the opportunity to celebrate the history of Cowley 
and create a strong identity. The design for Templars Square Shopping Centre has improved since the last 
ODRP design workshop dated 21 April 2015 and the client and design team have resolved a number of 
elements of the scheme, particularly in relation to the design of the public realm. While the improvements are 
promising, Hockmore Tower and its access are still unresolved and the public space strategy requires further 
clarification. We have concerns on how the proposal will be delivered and procured. A much stronger 
collaboration between all parties and negotiations during pre-planning and pre-determination stage between 
the client and Oxford City Council are needed. Given the importance of the redevelopment and the amount of 
challenges facing, we would not support the planning application in its current state. 
 
Vision and planning process 
While the initial masterplan approach is sound in terms of height and massing, the vision for Templars Square 
Shopping Centre is still far too illusive and needs to be much bolder. We would urge the client, design team 
and the local authorities to extend their thinking beyond the red boundary line and to develop a more holistic 
strategy to set out the long term aspirations for the shopping centre, Hockmore Tower and the new residential 
blocks. The vision should include the wider context and the John Allen Centre to create a coherent and vibrant 
environment around Between Towns Road. At this stage of the planning process a delivery plan for the entire 
site is required that defines each development phase and all parties involved.  
 
Public realm and servicing 
The development is going to significantly increase its function as a neighbourhood centre and as a place to 
live. This should be reflected in the variety of uses offered and all needs of different user groups should be 
addressed, for example play areas for children and provisions for the elderly. A robust public realm strategy 
and the provision of accessible, inclusive and successful open spaces are therefore pivotal for the success of 
the redevelopment. However, the scheme is weak on delivering the required quality in terms of user 
experience, specifically in the context of security, usability, wayfinding and aesthetic of streets.  
 

105

jthompson_3
Typewritten Text
Appendix 4ii

jthompson_4
Typewritten Text

jthompson_5
Typewritten Text

jthompson_6
Typewritten Text



Design Council, Angel Building, 407 St John Street, London EC1V 4AB United Kingdom 
Tel +44(0)20 7420 5200  Fax +44(0)20 7420 5300 
info@designcouncil.org.uk  www.designcouncil.org.uk 

 

 Registered charity number 272099 

 

 
The client and local authorities need to clarify the amount of work that is contained in the planning application 
and will be delivered at this stage to ensure that the whole site is well designed and maintained. Provision and 
servicing of the on street storage of waste bins, areas for cycle parking and retail delivery should be further 
explored. Surface materials and street furniture should be robust and require little maintenance. 
 
In particular the poor resolution of servicing, waste collection and poor public realm on Hockmore Street is 
disappointing. Here further consideration should also be made to better integrate the existing residents in the 
low rise podium apartments. Finally, while improving the open space along Barns Road is positive, a play and 
park area for children does not seem suitable due to the safety issues resulted from its location between two 
busy roads. 
 
Hockmore Tower and site D  
The current iteration of Hockmore Tower is unacceptable. Providing a bridge link to Between Towns Road 
could potentially resolve the fundamental access, health and safety issues. We urge the client, Oxford City 
Council and Oxfordshire County Council to establish a joint venture to develop a significant improvement 
strategy to meaningfully incorporate Hockmore Tower within the development scheme.  
 
An overall height of eight stories for the buildings along the northern edge is appropriate. A taller building in this 
location, particularly on the north side of Hockmore Tower could work in townscape terms provided it 
responds well to the surroundings in terms of scale, form, massing, proportion and silhouette. Giving the fact 
that the scheme is visible from the historical city centre of Oxford, particular importance should be given to the 
architectural quality of the buildings and their effect on the skyline. 
 
Site A 
The quality of accommodation for site A remains unresolved. The solution proposed with mostly single aspect 
units is unsatisfactory and the residential block appears dark and overshadowed by the building on the south 
side of Beauchamp Lane. We also think stepping down to four stories on Between Towns Road towards the 
Beauchamp Lane Conservation Area is not convincing and invite the design team to revisit the massing. 
 
The newly designed space at the centre of site A is promising. Nevertheless we feel more has to be done in 
terms of linking the small open spaces on the site and whether it could be connected more with the 
community centre on Crowell Road.  
 
Site C 
We highly commend the proposal of keeping the car park building on site C and abandoning the idea of a 
residential block instead. We think though that the proposed gold cladding is unsuccessful and giving the 
interesting structure of the building, we suggest revealing the structure instead. More work on detailing and 
materiality is required to achieve a more adequate visual impact and overall pleasant streetscape. 
 
Thank you for consulting us and please keep us informed of the progress of the scheme. If there is any point 
that requires clarification, please telephone us. 
 
 
 
 
 

106



Design Council, Angel Building, 407 St John Street, London EC1V 4AB United Kingdom 
Tel +44(0)20 7420 5200  Fax +44(0)20 7420 5300 
info@designcouncil.org.uk  www.designcouncil.org.uk 

 

 Registered charity number 272099 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 
 
 
Daniela Lucchese 
Design Council Cabe Advisor 
Email Daniela.Lucchese@designcouncil.org.uk 
Tel +44(0)20 7420 5270 
 
cc (by email only) 
 
Jamie Whitfield    New River Retail   
Paul Turner   Corstorphine + Wright 
Ian Wilson   Corstorphine + Wright 
Rebecca Bassan-Jheeta  Corstorphine + Wright 
Michael Lampard  Corstorphine + Wright 
Jamie Cusack   Macgregor Smith   
Nick Diment   GL Hearn  
Murray Hancock  Oxford City Council 
Tobias Fett   Oxford City Council 
Nadia Robinson   Oxford City Council 

 
 
 
Review process 
Following a site visit, discussions with the design team and local authority and a pre-application review, the scheme was reviewed on 10 
September 2015 by Keith Bradley (Chair), Alan Berman, Sophia de Sousa, Noel Farrer, Mark Swenarton and Colin Haylock. These comments 
supersede any views we may have expressed previously. 

 
Confidentiality 
Since the scheme is not yet the subject of a planning application, the advice contained in this letter is offered in confidence, on condition that we are 
kept informed of the progress of the project, including when it becomes the subject of a planning application. We reserve the right to make our 
views known should the views contained in this letter be made public in whole or in part (either accurately or inaccurately). If you do not require our 
views to be kept confidential, please write to cabe@designcouncil.org.uk. 

107

mailto:Daniela.Lucchese@designcouncil.org.uk
mailto:cabe@designcouncil.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Design Council, Angel Building, 407 St John Street, London EC1V 4AB United Kingdom 
Tel +44(0)20 7420 5200  Fax +44(0)20 7420 5300 
info@designcouncil.org.uk  www.designcouncil.org.uk 

 

 Registered charity number 272099 

 

17 December 2015 
 
 
François Nairac  
New River Retail (UK) Ltd 
37 Maddox St 
London  
W1S 2PP 
 
 
 
Our reference: DCC/0688 
 
 
 

Oxford City Council: Templars Square Shopping Centre 
 
 
 
Dear François Nairac, 
 
Thank you for attending the ODRP design review on 3 December 2015. 
 
The proposal for Templars Square Shopping Centre has improved significantly since the ODRP Design Workshop on 21 
April 2015 and the ODRP Design Review on 10 September 2015. Keeping the overall vision for the entire area in mind 
while redefining the red line boundary, has helped focus on specific areas and achieve greater clarity in what New River 
Retail is committing to deliver. Many issues raised in the last ODRP Design Review relating to public realm and 
architectural expression have been successfully resolved. The proposed massing is acceptable. However, the scheme 
would benefit from further work on quality of design and delivery, to ensure its success has a lasting impact beyond the red 
line boundary. Given the importance of the scheme for Cowley, an integral and high quality public realm strategy would 
bind the different parts of the project together. In relation to the flats, the main design tasks will be to resolve the internal 
layout addressing the high number of single aspect flats, while a clearer architecture response is required for the entrances 
to the shopping centre.  
 
Wider context and benefits for Cowley 
As one of Oxford’s primary district centres, Cowley as a whole will benefit from the scheme. The complex challenges 
around highways, land ownership and connectivity require close collaboration with Oxford City Council. It is unfortunate 
that the issues around Hockmore Tower, its access and associated residential accommodation above the shopping centre 
have not been resolved at this stage. Nevertheless we hope the scheme is going to have a positive impact on the rest of 
the site and encourage further improvements beyond the red line boundary. 
 
Public realm strategy 
This is an important scheme in terms of providing new user experiences in the centre of Cowley and the quality of the 
public realm plays a central role in achieving this. The landscape design performs as the main binding element throughout 
the scheme and the improvements of the public space are commendable. Given the civic importance of site A and the 
quantum of development along Between Town Road, there is an opportunity to extend the red line boundary to form a 
continuous streetscape from Barns Road to Crowell Road. This would create a homogenous experience in keeping with 
the character of Oxford’s roads, including the choice of materials. We suggest using stone or other sustainable materials 
instead of concrete where possible. 
 
 

109

jthompson_7
Typewritten Text
Appendix 4iii



Design Council, Angel Building, 407 St John Street, London EC1V 4AB United Kingdom 
Tel +44(0)20 7420 5200  Fax +44(0)20 7420 5300 
info@designcouncil.org.uk  www.designcouncil.org.uk 

 

 Registered charity number 272099 

 

The row of trees on the northern side of site A offers the possibility to start the tree line in the public realm on Between 
Town Road and introduce the visitor to the new public space and the new shops and flats around the shopping centre. We 
would suggest making sure the flats in site A are not compromised by the trees casting shadow which could eventually 
lead to their removal.  
 
In terms of entrances to the shopping centre, the improvements to the quality of the existing ones and the addition of a 
wayfinding system are welcomed. We suggest developing a design solution for the main entrance at the corner of the 
building in site D that draws people in in an intuitive way rather than relying on large scale signage and totems. Designing 
every entrance individually would make them more legible and establish a clearer hierarchy between them. 
 
Readdressing the pedestrian crossing on Between Town Road and including the north side of the road to strengthen the 
access to the park near the John Allen Centre is important to achieve a successful new place. A green and blue 
infrastructure strategy with integrated sustainable urban drainage systems for example, would be beneficial.  
 
To ensure high quality finishes and longevity with low maintenance requirements throughout the scheme we suggest 
Oxford City Council condition the quality of materials and detailing as appropriate and with New River Retail work out a 
clear management plan for waste collection and long term maintenance of trees and planting. 
 
Site A 
Overall the design of site A has improved significantly, for example the simplified external articulation and detailing. The 
chamfer on the windows to allow for more light is a positive move. We would advise revisiting the orientation of the angle 
on both eastern and western façade to achieve their full purpose. Further, we would suggest liaising with Oxford City 
Council to detail materiality, reflectivity and colour in order to establish a clear language for the buildings. 
 
The number of single aspect homes, especially north facing, is still high. Finding a solution to increase the number of flats 
with double aspects or using outside space as relief would improve the quality of living for the residents.  
 
The introduction of a green roof on the building on Crowell Road is positive. We would suggest the landscape architects 
design it in order to ensure it becomes a valuable and welcoming space that residents use in different ways from relaxing 
to growing plants. It would be beneficial to develop a long term maintenance strategy at this stage. 
 
Site F 
The height and massing of the building is sound in principle, but the architectural articulation and detailing are not as robust 
as on site A. In terms of vertical articulation, the regularity of the columns along the shop front is not in line with the façade 
above. In terms of horizontality, the junction of the two façades between the second and fifth floor make it appear as two 
different buildings. Simplifying and introducing a clear relationship between columns, fenestration and shop fronts and 
addressing the change of level in the topography would help create a more unified and distinctive appearance. Using high 
quality finishes throughout the development will set a precedent for the ongoing regeneration of Cowley.  
 
As for site A, the internal flat arrangements have improved, reducing the number of single aspect units. However the low 
number of double aspect units is still unsatisfactory. The apartment layout should be revisited in order to optimise quality of 
accommodation throughout the site. 
 
We note that due to the complex lease situation, the client has little influence on the articulation of the retail spaces, 
especially in relation to the Coop supermarket. Nonetheless, the positioning of the entrance lobby at the corner is welcome 
as it opens up the opportunity in the future for readdressing the entrance situation of Hockmore Tower.  
 
Site D 
The massing and proposed heights for site D are suitable. The taller block responds well to Hockmore Tower and acts as 
an important marker to the site. Revisiting the design by setting back the two top floors and the alteration of the massing 
helps in achieving a more elegant response, while the projected balconies make it look slender. However, in terms of 
elevation, the corner Between Towns Road and Barns Road is not yet successful. The plain wall of the proposed hotel is 

110



Design Council, Angel Building, 407 St John Street, London EC1V 4AB United Kingdom 
Tel +44(0)20 7420 5200  Fax +44(0)20 7420 5300 
info@designcouncil.org.uk  www.designcouncil.org.uk 

 

 Registered charity number 272099 

 

uninviting and at street level it is missing the opportunity to engage positively with the new streetscape. Given the 
importance of this corner for the success of the project, it would be beneficial to revisit the architectural expression of the 
building and create something that is less generic and more characterful. We would suggest negotiating with the hotel 
operator to develop a bespoke solution which would also address the entrance at ground floor level. A more generous 
entrance lobby would provide a threshold situation between public and private realm and add to the positive experience 
promoted in the public realm strategy.  
 
The residential entrance on the east side of the building, adjacent to the shopping centre entry, is not well positioned. Its 
articulation is too small and convoluted and not representing the quality this prime location would require. In comparison, 
the entry to the refuse bins storage is on the north of the building on the more prominent side. While this arrangement 
simplifies waste collection, rearranging the refuse strategy with Oxford City Council would improve the residential lobbies 
and bring more activity on Between Town Road. The western corner of the building appears overbearing in relation to the 
entrance of the shopping centre and we would suggest creating a more inviting and recognisable entry situation.  
 
Providing new commercial uses along this stretch of the street is positive, however smaller ground floor units would create 
more pedestrian flow and contribute to a more vibrant and active environment. As noted above for site A and F, lowering 
the number of single aspect units would increase the quality of accommodation proposed.  
 
In the planning application discussion it would be helpful to use the model as part of the presentation to demonstrate the 
relationship to Hockmore Tower. 
 
Next steps 
Before the scheme is considered for planning approval, we recommend that the design issues raised in this letter be 
resolved and a technical review meeting organised with Oxford City Council to agree on further details in terms of 
materiality, delivery and management to achieve the high standards required to create a place that supports good quality 
of life for existing and new residents and visitors.  
 
Thank you for consulting us and please keep us informed of the progress of the scheme. If there is any point that requires 
clarification, please telephone us. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Daniela Lucchese 
Design Council Cabe Advisor 
Email Daniela.Lucchese@designcouncil.org.uk 
Tel +44(0)20 7420 5270 
 
cc (by email only) 
 
Jamie Whitfield    New River Retail   
Nick Diment   GL Hearn 
Michael Lampard   Corstorphine + Wright 
Rebecca Bassan-Jheeta   Corstorphine + Wright 
Michael Smith   Macgregor Smith   
Felicity Byrne   Oxford City Council 
 

111



Design Council, Angel Building, 407 St John Street, London EC1V 4AB United Kingdom 
Tel +44(0)20 7420 5200  Fax +44(0)20 7420 5300 
info@designcouncil.org.uk  www.designcouncil.org.uk 

 

 Registered charity number 272099 

 

Review process 
Following a site visit, discussions with the design team and local authority and a pre-application review, the scheme was reviewed on 3 December 
2015 by Keith Bradley (Chair), Alan Berman, Noel Farrer, Mark Swenarton and Colin Haylock. These comments supersede any views we may 
have expressed previously. 
 
 
Confidentiality 
Since the scheme is not yet the subject of a planning application, the advice contained in this letter is offered in confidence, on condition that we are 
kept informed of the progress of the project, including when it becomes the subject of a planning application. We reserve the right to make our 
views known should the views contained in this letter be made public in whole or in part (either accurately or inaccurately). If you do not require our 
views to be kept confidential, please write to cabe@designcouncil.org.uk. 
 

 

112

mailto:cabe@designcouncil.org.uk


113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



EAST AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 5 July 2017

Application Number: 17/00923/FUL

Decision Due by: 21st August 2017

Extension of Time: n/a

Proposal: External alterations of the former Royal Mail Sorting Office 
building including alterations to the existing building facade 
and changes to the layout and levels of the existing service 
yard and car park.

Site Address: Royal Mail 7000 Alec Issigonis Way Oxford

Ward: Lye Valley Ward

Agent: Mr Philip Brown Applicant: Plumbing Pensions (UK) Ltd

Reason at Committee:  Major application

1. RECOMMENDATION

1.1. East Area Planning Committee is recommended to: 

(a) approve the application for the reasons given in the report and 
subject to the required planning conditions set out in section 10 of this 
report and grant planning permission; 

(b) agree to delegate authority to the Head of Planning, Sustainable 
Development and Regulatory Services to finalise the recommended 
conditions as set out in this report including such refinements, amendments, 
additions and/or deletions as the Head of Planning, Sustainable Development 
and Regulatory Services considers reasonably necessary;

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2.1. This report considers a proposal for external alterations of the former Royal 
Mail Sorting Office building including alterations to the existing building facade 
and changes to the layout and levels of the existing service yard and car park. 

2.2. The key matters for assessment set out in this report include the following:

 Principle of development
 Design and impact on character of the area
 Neighbouring amenity
 Transport
 Trees and landscaping

121

Agenda Item 4



 Other matters

3. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

3.1. The application site is located in the north-western corner of the Oxford 
Business Park which was formed from the former Cowley Motor Works.  The 
site is bordered by the residential properties of Hollow Way and Fern Hill Road 
to the north; to the west by Hollow Way and the residential properties 
contained within the Listed Buildings of the former Nuffield Press buildings 
beyond; Garsington Road (B480) lies to the south; and the rest of the Oxford 
Business Park to the east.

3.2. See site location plan in Appendix 1. 

4. PROPOSAL

4.1. The application proposes external alterations to the building’s elevations, and 
changes to the layout and levels of the service yard. The proposal includes 
the provision of an acoustic fence within the service yard, and the provision of 
new cycle storage. 

4.2. Officers note that the floor plans indicate a division of the site into two units. 
Such a change is not considered development; planning permission is not 
sought for this.

5. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

5.1. The table below sets out the relevant planning history for the application site:

Application 
Reference

Description of Development Decision

95/00150/NF Alterations to ground level. 2 buildings for 
Royal Mail: B8, 8330.5 sq. m & B2, 1014.5 
sq. m. Staff parking for 154 cars, 40 
motorcycles & 75 cycles. Servicing & 
circulation areas. Ancillary facilities, fence & 
landscaping. (Amended plans).

Approved
1st August 1995

16/00177/FUL Demolition of former Royal Mail Sorting 
Office (B8) and Vehicle Maintenance Depot 
(B2) and the redevelopment of the site with 
the Use Classes B1(c), B2 and B8 and 
ancillary offices (B1(a)).

Approved
20th March 2017
Not yet implemented

122



6. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY
 

6.1. The following policies are relevant to the application:

Topic National 
Planning 
Policy 
Framework 
(NPPF)

Local Plan Core 
Strategy

Sites and 
Housing Plan

Other 
Planning 
Documents

Design Paras 56- 68 CP.1
CP.8
CP.10

CS18

Conservation/ 
Heritage

Paras 126-
141

HE.3

Commercial Paras 18 - 27 EC.1 CS27
CS28

Natural 
Environment

Paras 109-
125, 142 - 
149

CP.11
NE.15

CS11
CS12

Transport Paras 29 - 41 TR.3
TR.4

Parking 
Standards 
SPD

Environmental Paras 93 -
108

CP.22
CP.23

CS10

Misc Paras 42 - 46 MP1

7. CONSULTATION RESPONSES

7.1. Site notices were displayed around the application site on 2 June 2017 and an 
advertisement was published in the Oxford Times newspaper on 1 June 2017.

Statutory and Non-Statutory Consultees

Oxfordshire County Council (Highways)

7.2. No objection subject to conditions. 

7.3. The application relates to proposals for alterations to the existing building 
façade and to the layout and levels of the service yard and car park. It is noted 
that the application does not propose a change of use from the permitted B8 
warehousing use of the site and it is not considered that the proposals would 
lead to significant highways or transport impacts.

7.4. Due to the site’s location adjacent to key strategic and public transport routes, 
Construction Traffic Management Plan is required by condition. 

123



Oxfordshire County Council (Drainage)

7.5. There are no changes proposed to the overall hard surface area on the site 
and the County Council's Drainage Engineers have no additional comments to 
make on the application.

Public representations

7.6. None received 

8. PLANNING MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

8.1. Officers consider the determining issues to be:

i. Principle of development
ii. Design and impact on character of the area
iii. Neighbouring amenity
iv. Transport
v. Trees and landscaping
vi. Other matters

i. Principle of development

8.2. The site, part of the key protected employment site of the Oxford Business 
Park, was formerly as a Royal Mail sorting office and has been vacant for 
some years. The development would not result in a change of use and 
constitutes minor physical alterations to the site which are intended to improve 
the marketability of the site. The proposal is therefore consistent with policies 
CS27 and CS28 of the Oxford Core Strategy that support the modernisation of 
employment sites and resist their loss. 

ii. Design and impact on character of the area

8.3. The NPPF requires that local authorities seek high quality design and a good 
standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. 
It suggests that opportunities should be taken through the design of new 
development to improve the character and quality of an area and the way it 
functions. Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 of the Oxford Local Plan, together with 
Policy CS18 of the Core Strategy in combination require that development 
proposals incorporate high standards of design and respect local character.

8.4. Policy HE3 (Listed Buildings) of the Oxford Local Plan applies because the 
Grade II listed Morris House and Oxford Military College (now flats) lies on the 
opposite side of Hollow Way from the site.

8.5. The external alterations woulduse materials that match those of the existing 
building, and therefore wouldnot significantly alter the overall appearance of 
the building. A condition is recommended to ensure matching materials are 
used.

124



8.6. The minor nature of the alterations to the facades, and in particular to the 
north-west façade that faces the listed building, means that there is not 
considered to be any material change to the setting of the listed building. 

iii. Neighbouring amenity

8.7. Forty car parking spaces are proposed to be located in the north-eastern area 
of the site, but there is a separation of approximately seven metres between 
the parking spaces and the end of the long gardens in Fern Hill Road, as well 
as tree planting. This situation is considered an improvement in terms of 
residential amenity compared with the existing loading bay activity along the 
north-eastern side of the building. 

8.8. An acoustic fence is proposed to provide reduce noise impacts for Fern Hill 
Road properties. A condition is recommended regarding the maximum height 
of the acoustic fence. Overall, the proposal is considered to have a net benefit 
for neighbouring amenity.

iv. Transport 

Transport impacts

8.9. The application does not propose a change of use and therefore the potential 
traffic impacts would be unchanged. It is not considered that the proposals 
would lead to significant highways or transport impacts.

Cycle parking

8.10. Forty cycle parking spaces in four covered shelters are proposed in 
convenient locations close to entrances. This would exceed minimum 
standards for the floor area of a building of this type and is therefore 
considered acceptable.

 
Car parking

8.11. Officers concur with comments from the Highways Authority in terms of the 
net loss of 19 car parking spaces and around 40 operational parking spaces. 
This is proposed in order to accommodate around 12 HGV parking spaces. 
While the level of car parking on the site is still above the standards for B8 
warehousing use set out in the Adopted Parking Standards SPD, the 
reduction of parking on site is considered acceptable taking into account the 
nature of the application which is for alterations to an existing site and not a 
redevelopment or change of use of the site.

Access

8.12. Access to both the HGV parking / loading area and the car parking areas are 
to be altered. The swept path analysis indicates that HGVs would be able to 
safely enter, turn and exit the HGV parking and loading area of the site in a 

125



forwards gear. The two car parking areas would be accessed via an on-site 
service road with a width of around 6m, which would be sufficient to enable 
easy access to those areas.

8.13. It would appear that pedestrian and cycle access can be taken from Hollow 
Way, near to the south-western corner of the building. This would be 
convenient for those travelling from the Hollow Way or Cowley directions. The 
Highways Authority has recommended a safe, direct and logical pedestrian 
route for those arriving from the east of the site; an appropriate informative is 
proposed to be added should permission be granted. 

v. Trees and landscaping

8.14. The scheme involves the loss of 15 individual trees, including 6 ‘B’ quality 
category, 6 ‘C’ quality category, and 3 U quality category trees (dead).

8.15. Construction of the proposed new access and parking alterations in the east 
and southeast of the site, the removal of 6 ‘B’ quality category trees; T77, T83, 
T84, T89, T99 and T100 (Common lime), 6 ‘C’ quality category; T78 (Common 
lime), T81, T82 and T85 (Whitebeam), T101 and T102 (Red oak) are 
required. 

8.16. Officers consider that this would result in a minor impact to the landscape in 
the street scene of Garsington Road from the loss of 6 ‘B’ quality category 
early mature trees. However, this impact is considered to be mitigated through 
replacement tree planting. Providing that appropriate tree protection 
measures, secured under planning conditions, are implemented there should 
be no significant adverse implications on retained trees.

8.17. Officers therefore consider the application to be acceptable in relation to 
Oxford Local Plan Policies CS18, CP1, CP11 and NE15 relating to trees and 
good landscape design, subject to the conditions recommended for tree 
protection measures and further details of landscaping proposals and an 
associated landscape management plan.

vi. Other

8.18. Biodiversity: The site is covered in large areas of hardstanding and is of poor 
value for biodiversity. The proposals for the site offer opportunity for improving 
its value for biodiversity in accordance with policy CS12. A condition is 
recommended to provide bird nesting devices.

8.19. Flooding and drainage: Although no objections have been raised by officers or 
statutory consultees with regard to flood risk and drainage, because some 
areas of the service yard are being altered, a sustainable drainage condition is 
recommended.

8.20. Land quality: The submitted phase 1 desk study concludes that no further 
assessment is necessary as long as the site remains in commercial use. 
Further investigations would also be required if the site was to be redeveloped 

126



or any groundworks undertaken. Whilst this proposal would involve 
groundworks, they would only go as deep as existing sub-bases and the 
conclusions of the phase 1 report are likely to remain valid. A condition is 
recommended requiring action should unexpected contamination be 
encountered on the site.

9. CONCLUSION

9.1. The proposal seeks alterations that would be in-keeping with the design of the 
existing building, and which would not result in harm to residential amenity or 
visual impact, subject to recommended conditions. The objective of the 
proposal would accord with Council policies regarding the modernisation and 
retention of employment uses. 

9.2. It is recommended that the Committee resolve to grant planning permission 
for the development proposed subject to the recommended conditions.

10. CONDITIONS

1 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not 
later than the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended by the Planning Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

 2 The development permitted shall be constructed in complete 
accordance with the specifications in the application and approved plans listed 
below, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: To avoid doubt and to ensure an acceptable development as 
indicated on the submitted drawings in accordance with policy CP1 of the 
Oxford Local Plan 2001-2016.

 3 The external materials to be used in the new development shall match 
those of the existing building.

Reason: To ensure that the new development is in keeping with existing 
building(s) in accordance with policies CP1 and CP8 of the Adopted Oxford 
Local Plan 2001-2016.

 4 The cycle storage shall be installed in accordance with the details 
hereby approved before the development is first occupied and shall remain in 
place thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of promoting sustainable methods of transport and for 
the amenities of the occupants of the units in accordance with Oxford Local 
Plan Policy CP1 and TA4.

 5 Prior to the development being first occupied, details  of the refuse 
storage for the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and 

127



approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The storage shall be 
installed in accordance with these approved details before the development is 
first occupied and shall remain in place thereafter.

Reason: For the amenities of the occupants  of the units in accordance with 
Oxford Local Plan Policy CP1 and Oxford Core Strategy Policy CS10.

 6 Landscaping proposals shall be submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the Local Planning Authority before first occupation of the site (excluding 
construction). The details shall include scale drawing(s) detailing all proposed 
tree and shrub planting (including nursery stock type, sizes, planting pit 
design, numbers of plants and planting densities where applicable),  treatment 
of paved areas, and areas to be grassed or finished in a similar manner.

Reason: To ensure a high quality landscape design for private and public 
spaces; in the interests of visual amenity in accordance with policies CP1, 
CP11 and NE15 of the Adopted Local Plan 2001-2016.

 7 The landscaping proposals as approved by the Local Planning 
Authority shall be carried out upon substantial completion of the development 
and be completed not later than the first planting season after substantial 
completion.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with policies CP1 and 
CP11 of the Adopted Local Plan 2001-2016.

 8 A landscape management plan, including long term design objectives, 
management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape 
areas, other than small, privately owned domestic gardens, shall be submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
occupation of the development or any phase of the development, whichever is 
the sooner, for its permitted use. The landscape management plan shall be 
carried out as approved.

Reason: To ensure a high quality landscape appearance in the interests of 
public visual amenity in accordance with policies CP1, CP11 and NE15 of the 
Adopted Local Plan 2001-2016.

 9 The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
approved tree protection measures contained within the planning application 
details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To protect retained trees during construction.   In accordance with 
policies CP1, CP11 and NE16 of the Adopted Local Plan 2001-2016.

10 Prior to the commencement of the development, details  of biodiversity 
enhancement measures including at least 12 x bird nesting devices shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
approved measures shall be incorporated into the scheme and be fully 

128



constructed prior to first use of the building following the approved 
development and retained as such thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of improving the biodiversity of the City in accordance 
with NPPF and policy CS12 of the Oxford Core Strategy 2026.

11 Any ground resurfacing shall be SUDS (sustainable urban drainage 
systems) compliant.

Reason: To avoid increasing surface water run off and thereby attenuating 
flood risk in accordance with policy CS11 of the Oxford Core Strategy 2026.

12 Prior to the commencement of the development  a Construction Travel 
Management Plan (CTMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be undertaken strictly in 
accordance with the approved CTMP at all times.

This should identify;
 The routing of construction vehicles and management of their movement 

into and out of the site by a qualified and certificated banksman,
 Access arrangements and times of movement of construction vehicles (to 

minimise the impact on the surrounding highway network),
 Details of wheel cleaning / wash facilities to prevent mud, etc from 

migrating on to the adjacent highway,
 Contact details for the Site Supervisor responsible for on-site works,
 Travel initiatives for site related worker vehicles,
 Parking provision for site related worker vehicles,
 Details of times for construction traffic and delivery vehicles, which must 

be outside network peak and school peak hours,
 Engagement with local residents, including the adjacent care home.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to mitigate the impact of 
construction vehicles on the surrounding network, road infrastructure and local 
residents, particularly at peak traffic times in accordance with policies CP1, 
CP19, CP21 and TR2 of the Adopted Oxford Local Plan 2001-2016.

13 Any contamination that is found during the course of construction of the 
approved development shall be reported immediately to the local planning 
authority. Development on that part of the site affected shall be suspended 
and a risk assessment carried out by a competent person and submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Where unacceptable 
risks are found remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. These approved 
schemes shall be carried out before the development (or relevant phase of 
development) is resumed or continued.

Reason: To ensure that any soil and water contamination is identified and 
adequately addressed to ensure the site is suitable for the proposed use in 
accordance with the requirements of policy CP22 of the Oxford Local Plan 
2001-2016.

129



Informatives

 1 In accordance with guidance set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework, the Council tries to work positively and proactively with applicants 
towards achieving sustainable development that accords with the 
Development Plan and national planning policy objectives. This includes the 
offer of pre-application advice and, where reasonable and appropriate, the 
opportunity to submit amended proposals as well as time for constructive 
discussions during the course of the determination of an application. However, 
development that is not sustainable and that fails to accord with the 
requirements of the Development Plan and/or relevant national policy 
guidance will normally be refused. The Council expects applicants and their 
agents to adopt a similarly proactive approach in pursuit of sustainable 
development.

 2 The applicant is encouraged to investigate the creation of a safe, direct 
and logical pedestrian route for those arriving from the east. This could 
potentially take the form of a new pedestrian and cycle access on to 
Garsington Road.

 3 The presence of European protected species, such as bats, is a 
material consideration in the planning process and the potential impacts that a 
proposed development may have on them should be considered at all stages 
of the process. Occasionally European protected species, such as bats, can 
be found during the course of development even when the site appears 
unlikely to support them. In the event that this occurs, it is advised that the 
developer stops work immediately and seeks the advice of the local authority 
ecologist and/or the relevant statutory nature conservation organisation (e.g. 
Natural England). Developers should note that it is a criminal offence to 
deliberately kill, injure or capture bats, or to deliberately disturb them or to 
damage or destroy their breeding sites and resting places (roosts). Further 
works may require a licence to proceed and failure to stop may result in 
prosecution.

 4 Scrub, trees and buildings on site offer suitable habitat for nesting 
birds. All wild birds, their nests and young are protected during the nesting 
period under The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as  amended) and I 
therefore recommend the following informative is included if minded to 
approve. Removal of vegetation and demolition of buildings shall be 
undertaken outside of bird nesting season. This is weather dependent but 
generally extends between March and August inclusive. If this is not possible 
then a suitably qualified ecologist shall check the areas concerned 
immediately prior to the clearance works to ensure that no nesting or nest-
building birds are present. If any nesting birds are present then the vegetation 
or buildings shall not be removed until the fledglings have left the nest.

 5 Please note that the responsibility to properly address contaminated 
land issues, irrespective of any involvement by this Authority, lies with the 
owner or developer of the site.

130



11. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Site location plan

12. HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998

12.1. Officers have considered the implications of the Human Rights Act 1998 in 
reaching a recommendation to refuse this application.  They consider that the 
interference with the human rights of the applicant under Article 8/Article 1 of 
Protocol 1 is justifiable and proportionate for the protection of the rights and 
freedom of others or the control of his/her property in this way is in 
accordance with the general interest.

12.2. Officers have also considered the interference with the human rights of the 
applicant under Article 8 and/or Article 1 of the First Protocol caused by 
imposing conditions.  Officers consider that the conditions are necessary to 
protect the rights and freedoms of others and to control the use of property in 
accordance with the general interest.  The interference is therefore justifiable 
and proportionate.

13. SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998

13.1. Officers have considered, with due regard, the likely effect of the proposal on 
the need to reduce crime and disorder as part of the determination of this 
application, in accordance with section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  
In reaching a recommendation to grant planning permission, officers consider 
that the proposal will not undermine crime prevention or the promotion of 
community safety.

131



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 
17/00923/FUL - Royal Mail 

 
© Crown Copyright and database right 2011. 
Ordnance Survey 100019348 
 

 
 
 
 

133



This page is intentionally left blank



EAST AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 5th July 2017

Application Number: 17/01101/CEU

Decision Due by: 29th June 2017

Extension of Time: 14th July 2017 

Proposal: Application to certify that the existing use as a House in 
Multiple Occupation (Use Class C4) is lawful development.

Site Address: 99 Gipsy Lane, Oxford, OX3 7PU

Ward: Churchill

Agent: Mr Alex Creswell Applicant: Mr Melih Tanyeri-Aladag

Reason at Committee:  The application has been called in by Cllr Brown and 
supported by Cllrs Fry, Curran, Price, Anwar and Clarkson for the reason that the 
council has a policy of of not approving further HMOs in this area because of the 
high number already there and the loss of family housing.

1. RECOMMENDATION

1.1. East Area Planning Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Approve the application for the reasons given in the report 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2.1. This report considers an application for a certificate of lawfulness to certify that 
the existing use as a House in Multiple Occupation (Use Class C4) is lawful. The 
submitted application is made on the basis of Section 191 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). Section 9 of the submitted application 
form states that the use commenced more than ten years ago.

2.2. The key matters for assessment set out in this report include the following:

 Whether the dwellinghouse has been in the continuous use as a House in 
Multiple Occupation for more than 4 years.

3. LEGAL AGREEMENT

3.1. This application is not subject to a legal agreement.

4. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

4.1. The proposal is not liable for CIL. 

135

Agenda Item 5



5. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

5.1. The site is located within the Churchill Ward of Oxford the east of the city centre 
close to Oxford Brookes University. The property is a terraced property typical of 
those in the area.

5.2. The site location plan is at Appendix 1.

6. PROPOSAL

6.1. The application seeks a certificate of lawfulness to certify that the property is an 
existing lawful House in Multiple Occupation within Use Class C4.

7. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

7.1.  There is no planning history on the site.

8. RELEVANT LEGISLATION
 
8.1.  Applications for Certificates of Lawful Use are not assessed against local 

planning policies but the evidence is reviewed against the following legislation 
which sets the framework for determining these applications.

8.2. Section 191 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 states that an existing 
use is lawful is no enforcement action may be taken against them because the 
time for taking enforcement action has expired.  

8.3. Section 171B of the same Act states that no enforcement action may be taken 
after four years in the event of a change of use to a dwellinghouse.  A small 
HMO (use class C4) is considered a form of dwellinghouse and so would be 
lawful if four years has passed without enforcement action.  

8.4. National Planning Practice Guidance provides guidance on how applications for 
Certificates of Lawful Development should be assessed.  In particular it states:

“In the case of applications for existing use, if a local planning authority has no 
evidence itself, nor any from others, to contradict or otherwise make the 
applicant’s version of events less than probable, there is no good reason to 
refuse the application, provided the applicant’s evidence alone is sufficiently 
precise and unambiguous to justify the grant of a certificate on the balance of 
probability.”

9. CONSULTATION RESPONSES

9.1. A site notice was displayed in front of the property on 15th May 2017.

Statutory and Non-Statutory Consultees

9.2. No consultees.

136



Public representations

9.3. No representations received.

10. PLANNING MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

10.1. Officers consider the determining issues to be:

i) Whether the property has been continually used as a House in Multiple 
Occupation for a period of more than 4 years.

i. Signed Declaration

10.2. The application contains a signed declaration from Mr Melih Tanyeri-Aladag (the 
applicant) witnessed by Carl William Selby of Hedges Law Limited which sets out 
that the property was purchased in 2005 as an investment to let to students. The 
property has been let since around this date to students and has also been let to 
4 unrelated students. This sworn declaration is made under the Statutory 
Declarations Act 1835.

HMO records

10.3. The property did not benefit from an HMO license until 24th February 2017. 
Before this date it is believed that the property was an unlicensed HMO.

Tenancy Agreements

10.4. Only one tenancy agreement has been provided which the application and is 
dated 1st September 2006. This shows that the property was let for a period of 
12 months to four unrelated occupants.

Council Tax Records

10.5. Evidence has been provided with the application confirming that the property has 
been exempt from council tax between 01/09/2005 to 31/08/2016 except for a 
small number of days where tenancies changed over. Whilst this demonstrates 
that students have been occupying the property it does not confirm the number 
of occupants.

11. CONCLUSION

11.1.   On the basis of the above, the lawful development certificate should be granted 
because the applicant has successfully proved that on the balance of 
probabilities the property has been in continuous use for a period of more than 
four years as a House of Multiple Occupation and there is no evidence to 
contradict the sworn declaration made. In addition, there is no extant 
enforcement notices issued in relation the use that is sought.

11.2. It is recommended that the Committee resolve to grant a certificate of lawfulness 
for the development.

137



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 
17/01101/CEU - 99 Gipsy Lane 

 
© Crown Copyright and database right 2011. 
Ordnance Survey 100019348 
 

 
 
 
 

139



This page is intentionally left blank



EAST AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 5th July 2017

Application Number: 17/01102/CEU

Decision Due by: 7th July 2017

Extension of Time: 14th July 2017 

Proposal: Application to certify that the existing use as a House in 
Multiple Occupation (Use Class C4) is lawful development.

Site Address: 7 Old Road, Oxford, OX3 7JY

Ward: Churchill

Agent: Mr Alex Creswell Applicant: Mr Melih Tanyeri-Aladag

Reason at Committee:  The application has been called in by Cllr Brown and 
supported by Cllrs Fry, Curran, Price, Anwar and Clarkson for the reason that the 
council has a policy of not approving further HMOs in this area because of the high 
number already there and the loss of family housing.

1. RECOMMENDATION

1.1. East Area Planning Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Approve the application for the reasons given in the report 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2.1. This report considers an application for a certificate of lawfulness to certify that 
the existing use as a House in Multiple Occupation (Use Class C4) is lawful. The 
submitted application is made on the basis of Section 191 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). Section 9 of the submitted application 
form states that the use commenced more than ten years ago.

2.2. The key matters for assessment set out in this report include the following:

 Whether the dwelling house has been in the continuous use as a House in 
Multiple Occupation for more than 4 years.

3. LEGAL AGREEMENT

3.1. This application is not subject to a legal agreement.

4. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

4.1. The proposal is not liable for CIL. 

141

Agenda Item 6



5. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

5.1. The site is located within the Churchill Ward of Oxford the east of the city centre 
close to Oxford Brookes University. The property is a terraced property typical of 
those in the area.

5.2. The site location plan is shown below:

© Crown Copyright and database right 2011.
Ordnance Survey 100019348

6. PROPOSAL

6.1. The application seeks a certificate of lawfulness to certify that the property is an 
existing lawful House in Multiple Occupation within Use Class C4.

7. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

Application 
Reference

Description of Development Decision

12/02223/FUL Erection of first floor rear extension and dormer 
loft conversion to create 3 x self-contained flats 
(Class C3). Provision of bin and cycle storage. 

Withdrawn 6th 
November 2012

16/03096/FUL Change of use from dwellinghouse (Use Class 
C3) to House in Multiple Occupation (Use Class 
C4)

Refused 25th January 
2017

142



8. RELEVANT LEGISLATION
 
8.1.  Applications for Certificates of Lawful Use are not assessed against local 

planning policies but the evidence is reviewed against the following legislation 
which sets the framework for determining these applications.

8.2. Section 191 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 states that an existing 
use is lawful is no enforcement action may be taken against them because the 
time for taking enforcement action has expired.  

8.3. Section 171B of the same Act states that no enforcement action may be taken 
after four years in the event of a change of use to a dwelling house.  A small 
HMO (use class C4) is considered a form of dwelling house and so would be 
lawful if four years has passed without enforcement action.  

8.4. National Planning Practice Guidance provides guidance on how applications for 
Certificates of Lawful Development should be assessed.  In particular it states:

“In the case of applications for existing use, if a local planning authority has no 
evidence itself, nor any from others, to contradict or otherwise make the 
applicant’s version of events less than probable, there is no good reason to 
refuse the application, provided the applicant’s evidence alone is sufficiently 
precise and unambiguous to justify the grant of a certificate on the balance of 
probability.”

9. CONSULTATION RESPONSES

9.1. A site notice was displayed in front of the property on 26th May 2017.

Statutory and Non-Statutory Consultees

9.2. No consultees.

Public representations

9.3. No representations received.

10. PLANNING MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

10.1. Officers consider the determining issues to be:

i) Whether the property has been continually used as a House in Multiple 
Occupation for a period of more than 4 years.

i. Signed Declaration

10.2. The application contains a signed declaration from Mr Melih Tanyeri-Aladag (the 
applicant) witnessed by Carl William Selby of Hedges Law Limited which sets out 
that the property was purchased in 2004 as an investment to let to students. The 

143



property has been let since around October 2004 to 6 unrelated individuals. This 
sworn declaration is made under the Statutory Declarations Act 1835.

HMO records

10.3. The application includes a copy of an HMO license that commenced on the 1st 
December 2016. Before this date it is possible that the property was an 
unlicensed HMO.

Tenancy Agreements

10.4. Only one tenancy agreement has been provided which the application and is 
dated 1st September 2007. This shows that the property was let for a period of 
12 months to six unrelated occupants.

Council Tax Records

10.5. Evidence has been provided with the application confirming that various council 
tax exemptions and discounts were applied to this property over the last 4 or five 
years and confirmation of a history of student discounts and exemptions back to 
2004.

10.6. Whilst this demonstrates that students have occupied the property in the last ten 
years, it does not confirm the number of occupants, or detail the status of the 
occupants over the last four years.

11. CONCLUSION

11.1.   On the basis of the above, the lawful development certificate should be granted 
because the applicant has successfully proved that on the balance of 
probabilities the property has been in continuous use for a period of more than 
four years as a House of Multiple Occupation and there is no evidence to 
contradict the sworn declaration made. In addition, there is no extant 
enforcement notices issued in relation the use that is sought.

11.2. It is recommended that the Committee resolve to grant a certificate of lawfulness 
for the development.

144



Appendix 1 
 
17/01102/CEU - 7 Old Road 

 
© Crown Copyright and database right 2011. 
Ordnance Survey 100019348 
 

 
 
 
 

145



This page is intentionally left blank



EAST AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE - 5th July 2017

Application Number: 17/01115/CT3

Decision Due by: 23rd June 2017

Extension of Time: 14th July 2017

Proposal: Provision of 16no. parking spaces.

Site Address: Land Between 21 And 45, Van Diemans Lane, Oxford, 
Oxfordshire

Ward: Littlemore

Agent: Stephen Smith Applicant: Oxford City Council

Reason at Committee:  Oxford City Council is the applicant.

1. RECOMMENDATION

1.1. East Area Planning Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Approve the application for the reasons given in the report and subject to 
the required planning conditions set out in section 12 of this report.

(b) Agree to delegate authority to the Head of Planning, Sustainable 
Development and Regulatory Services to finalise the recommended conditions 
as set out in this report including such refinements, amendments, additions and/or 
deletions as the Head of Planning, Sustainable Development and Regulatory 
Services considers reasonably necessary;

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2.1.  This report considers and application for the provision of 16no. parking spaces 
at land between 21 and 45 Van Diemans Lane. The proposal seeks to 
reorganise the existing parking spaces within the grasses verges to make a more 
efficient use of the land and increase the capacity.

2.2. The key matters for assessment set out in this report include the following:

 Design
 Impact on amenity
 Parking Standards
 Trees and Landscaping
 Drainage

147

Agenda Item 7



3. LEGAL AGREEMENT

3.1. This application is not subject to a legal agreement.

4. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

4.1. The proposal is not liable for CIL. 

5. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

5.1. The site is located within the Littlemore Ward of Oxford inside the ring road. 
There is a junction within Van Diemans Lane which provides access to Nos 23-
43. This access is characterised by spaces green verges the western verge of 
which already has a section of concrete designed for parking. 

5.2. The site location plan is at Appendix 1.
 

6. PROPOSAL

6.1.  The application proposes to reorganise the parking spaces on the western side 
of the road and introduce parking onto the eastern verge. The parking will have 
green spaces between each pair of spaces which will be perpendicular to the 
highway.

7. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

7.1.  No relevant planning history to the site.

8. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY
 
8.1.  The following policies are relevant to the application:

Topic National 
Planning 
Policy 
Framework 
(NPPF)

Local Plan Core 
Strategy

Sites and 
Housing Plan

Other Planning 
Documents

Design Paras 56 – 
68

CP1, CP6, 
CP8

CS18

Natural 
Environment

Paras 109-
125

CP.11, 
NE15

Transport CP13 HP16 Parking 
Standards 
SPD

Amenity CP10, 
CP19, 
CP20

CS19

Drainage CS11

148



9. CONSULTATION RESPONSES

9.1. Site notices were displayed around the application site on 8th May 2017.

Statutory and Non-Statutory Consultees

Oxfordshire County Council (Highways)

9.2. No objection subject to provision of disabled parking bays and that works to the 
public highway are carried out at the applicant’s expense.

Littlemore Parish Council

9.3. Littlemore Parish Council supports measures to reduce on-street parking but 
endorse the concern expressed by a neighbour about pedestrian access along 
this road, especially in view of the fact that it leads to a footpath with access to 
Church Cowley School, Bartholomew Road and Barns Road with its bus services 
to Oxford via the Cowley Centre. They would like to see some planting to soften 
the impact of the loss of open space.

Public representations

9.4. 2 local residents commented on this application from addresses in Van Diemans 
Lane. 

In summary, the main points of objection (2 residents) were:

 Loss of pavement and creation of different uneven surfaces.
 Pedestrian access to the rear of 45 Van Diemans Lane should be retained.

Officer Response

9.5. The pavement is to be retained albeit a different surface. This will need to be 
flush with the existing pavement to ensure that a level surface is retained. 
Vehicular movements from the spaces are not expected to be frequent and will 
be at slow speed. The Local Highway Authority has assessed the proposal and 
has raised no concerns with highway safety due to good pedestrian and 
vehicular visibility when cars are emerging from spaces.

9.6. The plans show that a tarmac path will be retained to the rear garden of 45 Van 
Diemans Lane.

9.7. Additional planting as requested by the Parish Council has been could reduce 
visibility for pedestrians and drivers. Green spaces have been retained between 
the pairs of spaces to reduce the mass of hard standing. This is a significant 
visual improvement of the existing concrete hardstanding.

149



10. PLANNING MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

10.1. Officers consider the determining issues to be:

i) Design
ii) Impact on amenity
iii) Parking Standards
iv)Trees and Landscaping
v) Drainage

i. Design

10.2. The proposed development would be acceptable in design terms. Large parts of 
the existing grass area would be retained which would ensure that the pleasant 
and verdant appearance of the area would be preserved and not completely 
dominated by car parking. The rearrangement of spaces and use of materials is 
considered to a significant visual improvement to the existing concrete parking 
area which is not visually broken up. 

ii. Impact on amenity

10.3. The proposed development would be in an area where there is an existing 
parking area and on-street parking. Therefore the impact of noise and activity 
associated with car parking would not be materially different from the existing 
situation for residents. The parking spaces have also been pulled away from the 
neighbouring properties, 21 and 45 Van Diemans Lane so the parking spaces 
will not be up against the side elevations of these properties.

10.4. The site experiences a sense of overlooking and the proposal would not form an 
enclosed parking court. The proposal is therefore considered to comply with the 
principles of policy CS19 of the Core Strategy.

iii. Parking

10.5. The area already has parking on the western verge and the road already 
experiences on street parking. The application seeks to alleviate on-street 
parking and create formalised parking spaces with good visibility and comply with 
highway safety requirements.

10.6. The spaces are adequately sized and meet the standard size required. No 
provision has currently been made for the provision of disabled parking spaces 
however spaces could easily be adapted for this purpose in the future if there is 
demand. Disabled spaces are allocated spaces and if there is currently no 
demand for these spaces this would reduce the capacity available to current 
residents.

iv. Trees and Landscaping

10.7. The eastern verge lies adjacent to an existing silver birch tree. Due to the 
proximity the tree would need to be adequately protected during the construction 

150



phase. Any permission should therefore be subject to the approval of a tree 
protection plan and an arboricultural method statement by condition.

v. Drainage

10.8. The proposed development lies within Flood Zone 1 according to the 
Environment Agency’s Flood Maps. Furthermore the Environment Agency’s 
Surface Flood Mapping does not indicate the development as being in an area at 
risk to surface water flooding.

10.9. The proposal does however result in the partial loss of a permeable grass verge 
area and introduce approximately 238m2 of hardstanding. Whilst it is proposed to 
use SuDs to drain the parking areas no details have been provided with the 
application or on the drawings, further information is therefore requested by 
condition including supporting calculations to ensure that the development 
complies with policy CS11 of the Core Strategy. 

11. CONCLUSION

11.1.  The proposed development is considered to make a more efficient use of the 
land, reduce on street parking and provide safe SuDs compliant parking spaces 
whilst retaining green verges and existing trees.

11.2. It is recommended that the Committee resolve to grant planning permission for the 
development proposed subject to the approval of satisfactory conditions.

12. CONDITIONS

1. Time Limit

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later 
than the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended by the Planning Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. Develop in accordance with the approved plans

The development permitted shall be constructed in complete accordance with 
the specifications in the application and approved plans listed below, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: To avoid doubt and to ensure an acceptable development as 
indicated on the submitted drawings in accordance with policy CP1 of the 
Oxford Local Plan 2001-2016.

3. Materials as specified

The materials used in the external construction of the approved development 

151



shall be those specified in the submitted application form and approved plans 
unless agreed otherwise in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the development is visually satisfactory as required by 
Policy CP1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2001-2016.

4. Tree Protection Plan

Detailed measures for the protection of trees to be retained during the 
development shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority (LPA) before any works on site begin.  Such measures 
shall include scale plans indicating the positions of barrier fencing and/or 
ground protection materials to protect Root Protection Areas (RPAs) of 
retained trees and/or create Construction Exclusion Zones (CEZ) around 
retained trees. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA the approved 
measures shall be in accordance with relevant sections of BS 5837:2012 
Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction- Recommendations. 
The approved measures shall be in place before the start of any work on site 
and shall be retained for the duration of construction unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the LPA. Prior to the commencement of any works on site the 
LPA shall be informed in writing when the approved measures are in place in 
order to allow Officers to make an inspection. No works or other activities 
including storage of materials shall take place within CEZs unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the LPA. 

Reason: To protect retained trees during construction.  In accordance with 
policies CP1, CP11 and NE16 of the Adopted Local Plan 2001-2016.

5. Arboricultural Method Statement

A detailed statement setting out the methods of working within the Root 
Protection Areas of retained trees shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA) before any works on site begin. 
Such details shall take account of the need to avoid damage to tree roots 
through excavation, ground skimming, vehicle compaction and chemical 
spillages including lime and cement. The development shall be carried out in 
strict accordance with of the approved AMS unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the LPA.

Reason: To protect retained trees during construction.   In accordance with 
policies CP1,CP11 and NE16 of the Adopted Local Plan 2001-2016.

6. Drainage – SuDs

Prior to the commencement of development, drainage details to show how 
surface water will be dealt with and disposed of on-site through the use of 
sustainable drainage methods (SuDS) and supporting calculations shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
drainage infrastructure shall be constructed in accordance with the approved 
details and thereafter retained and maintained.

152



Reason: To avoid increasing surface water run-off and thereby attenuating 
flood risk in accordance with Policy CS11 of the Oxford Core Strategy 2011-
2026.

Informatives

1. In accordance with guidance set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework, the Council tries to work positively and proactively with applicants 
towards achieving sustainable development that accords with the 
Development Plan and national planning policy objectives. This includes the 
offer of pre-application advice and, where reasonable and appropriate, the 
opportunity to submit amended proposals as well as time for constructive 
discussions during the course of the determination of an application. However, 
development that is not sustainable and that fails to accord with the 
requirements of the Development Plan and/or relevant national policy 
guidance will normally be refused. The Council expects applicants and their 
agents to adopt a similarly proactive approach in pursuit of sustainable 
development.

13. HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998

13.1. Officers have considered the implications of the Human Rights Act 1998 in 
reaching a recommendation to refuse this application.  They consider that the 
interference with the human rights of the applicant under Article 8/Article 1 of 
Protocol 1 is justifiable and proportionate for the protection of the rights and freedom 
of others or the control of his/her property in this way is in accordance with the 
general interest.

14 SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998
13.2. Officers have considered, with due regard, the likely effect of the proposal on 
the need to reduce crime and disorder as part of the determination of this 
application, in accordance with section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  In 
reaching a recommendation to refusal of planning permission, officers consider that 
the proposal will not undermine crime prevention or the promotion of community

153



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 
17/01115/CT3 - Land Between 21 And 45 

 
© Crown Copyright and database right 2011. 
Ordnance Survey 100019348 
 

 
 
 
 

155



This page is intentionally left blank



EAST AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 5th July 2017

Application Number: 17/00586/FUL

Decision Due by: 22nd May 2017

Extension of Time: TBC

Proposal: Enlargement of 1no. existing window including formation of 
Juliette balcony. Insertion of 1no. side door. Relocation of 
cycle and bin storage. Erection of single storey front 
extension to existing annexe (part retrospective).

Site Address: 3 David Nicholls Close Oxford OX4 4QX

Ward: Littlemore Ward

Agent: N/A Applicant: David Henwood

Reason at Committee:  Applicant is an Oxford City Council Councillor.

1. RECOMMENDATION

1.1. East Area Planning Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Approve the application for the reasons given in the report and subject to 
the required planning conditions set out in section 12 of this report and grant 
planning permission. 

(b) Agree to delegate authority to the Head of Planning, Sustainable 
Development and Regulatory Services to finalise the recommended conditions 
as set out in this report including such refinements, amendments, additions and/or 
deletions as the Head of Planning, Sustainable Development and Regulatory 
Services considers reasonably necessary;

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2.1.  This report considers an application for works to no. 3 David Nicholls Close.  
The application proposes the enlargement an existing first floor rear window and 
inclusion of a Juliette balcony; the insertion of 1 replacement side facing door; 
and the relocation of the existing cycle and bin stores to the north of the existing 
annexe building.  The proposal also seeks retrospective permission for a single 
storey front infill extension.

2.2. The key matters for assessment set out in this report include the following:

 Design and Impact on Conservation Area;
 Impact on Neighbouring amenity;

157

Agenda Item 8



 Other Issues.

3. LEGAL AGREEMENT

3.1. Not applicable.

4. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

4.1. Not applicable.

5. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

5.1. David Nicholls Close is a residential cul-de-sac characterised by large detached 
dwellings set within spacious plots.  The application site is located towards the 
end of the cul-de-sac and comprises a detached two storey red brick building to 
the south west of no. 3 David Nicholls Close. 

5.2. The site location plan is at Appendix 1.

6. PROPOSAL

6.1. The application proposes the enlargement of an existing first floor rear window 
and inclusion of a Juliette balcony; the insertion of 1 replacement side facing 
door; and the relocation of the existing cycle and bin stores to the north of the 
existing annexe building.

6.2. The application also seeks retrospective consent for a single storey front 
extension and supporting front canopy.  The extension infills an area measuring 
5.6 metres in width and 1 metre in depth.  The front canopy extends the porch 
canopy with a ridge height of 2.9 metres.

7. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

7.1.  The table below sets out the relevant planning history for the application site:

Application 
Reference

Description of Development Decision

99/00126/NF Extension at side and rear of existing 
garage. Approved 10th March 1999.

Approved 10th 
March 1999.

99/00928/NFH Extension at side & rear of garage, raise 
walls of existing structure & provide new 
roof to provide storage in roof space & 
domestic workshop on ground floor.  
(Amendment to application 99/126/NF).

Approved 16th 
September 1999.

00/00724/NFH Alterations to existing garage. Additional 
windows to front elevation, raising the roof 
to ridge height of 7.30m and the provision 
of a 1st floor for use as games room, 
sensory room and storage.

Refused 11th July 
2000.

158



00/00724/NFH - 
00/00022/REFUS
E

Alterations to existing garage. Additional 
windows to front elevation, raising the roof 
to ridge height of 7.30m and the provision 
of a 1st floor for use as games room, 
sensory room and storage.

Appeal dismissed 
1st January 2001.

02/00010/FUL Alterations to existing garage including the 
introduction of additional windows to front 
elevation, raising the roof to a ridge height 
of 5.75 m and provision of a 1st floor.

Withdrawn 19th 
March 2002.

02/01542/FUL Retention of existing garage, including first 
floor, with ridge height of 5.75 metres 
incorporating windows at first floor to front 
elevation, roof lights to rear elevation and 
false chimney as owl nesting box.

Refused 14th 
October 2002.

02/01542/FUL - 
03/00013/REFUS
E

Retention of existing garage, including first 
floor, with ridge height of 5.75 metres 
incorporating windows at first floor to front 
elevation, roof lights to rear elevation and 
false chimney as owl nesting box.

Appeal Dismissed 
26th June 2003.

04/01550/FUL Erection of canopy and insertion of 
windows at first floor level to front 
elevation. (Amended Plan).

Refused 30th 
September 2004.

04/01550/FUL - 
04/00101/REFUS
E

Erection of canopy and insertion of 
windows at first floor level to front 
elevation. (Amended Plan).

Appeal dismissed 
27th June 2005.

05/02177/FUL Erection of canopy.  Alterations to window. 
(Amended plans).

Refused 19th 
December 2005.

05/02177/FUL - 
06/00019/REFUS
E

Erection of canopy.  Alterations to window. 
(Amended plans).

Appeal allowed 
19th June 2006.

06/01569/VAR Velux rooflight to rear elevation of garage 
(variation of condition 4 of planning 
permission 99/00126/NF).

Approved 22nd 
September 2006.

06/02014/VAR Velux rooflights to rear elevation of garage 
(variation of condition 4 of planning 
permission 99/00126/NF) and erection of 
canopy to front.

Approved 11th 
December 2006.

07/00561/VAR Insertion of two rear first floor windows 
(variation of condition 4 of planning 
permission 99/00126/NF) (Amended 
plan).

Refused 4th May 
2007

07/00561/VAR - 
07/00044/REFUS
E

Insertion of two rear first floor windows 
(variation of condition 4 of planning 
permission 99/00126/NF) (Amended 
plan).

Appeal dismissed 
11th December 
2007.

08/00357/VAR Four (in total) velux roof lights in rear 
elevation of garage (variation of condition 
4 of planning permission 99/00126/NF).

Approved 7th May 
2008.

159



08/00980/FUL Retention of first floor window and screen 
to garage.

Refused 10th July 
2008.

08/00980/FUL - 
08/00081/REFUS
E

Retention of first floor window and screen 
to garage.

Appeal withdrawn 
10th November 
2008.

08/01935/CEU Application for a Lawful Development 
Certificate for the retention of 1st floor 
North facing window.

Approved 27th 
October 2008.

08/02327/CEU Application for a Lawful Development 
Certificate for the retention of a first floor 
north facing window.

Approved 24th 
December 2008.

09/00019/CEU Application for a lawful development 
certificate for the retention of a first floor 
north facing window.

Approved 27th 
February 2009.

09/00729/FUL Erection of canopy. Approved 3rd June 
2009.

09/02797/FUL Erection of car port. Refused 20th May 
2010.

09/02797/FUL - 
10/00051/REFUS
E

Erection of car port. Appeal dismissed 
18th August 2010.

10/01412/FUL Two storey front extension (amended 
description and plans).

Refused 17th 
December 2010.

10/01412/FUL - 
11/00017/REFUS
E

Two storey front extension (amended 
description and plans).

Appeal dismissed 
7th July 2011.

11/00394/FUL Increase in ridge height of roof of garage 
to 5.85m. (Retrospective).

Refused 21st April 
2011.

12/01722/CEU Certificate of lawfulness to certify that the 
ridge height at 5.9m is lawful.

Refused 28th 
August 2012.

12/02105/FUL Change of use of garage to 1-bedroom 
dwelling (class C3). (Amended plans).

Refused 10th 
October 2012.

12/02105/FUL - 
13/00005/REFUS
E

Change of use of garage to 1-bedroom 
dwelling (class C3). (Amended plans).

Appeal dismissed 
1st July 2013.

15/02061/FUL Increase in ridge height of garage roof. 
(Retrospective). Conversion of garage into 
1 x 1-bed annexe (Use Class C3).

Approved 9th 
September 2015.

160



8. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY
 
8.1.  The following policies are relevant to the application:

Topic National 
Planning 
Policy 
Framework 
(NPPF)

Local Plan Core 
Strategy

Sites and 
Housing Plan

Other Planning 
Documents

Design 7
Paragraphs 
56 – 68

CP.1, CP8, CS18 HP9, HP14 Technical 
Advice Note 3 
– Waste Bins 
Storage

Conservation/ 
Heritage

12
Paragraphs 
126 – 141

HE.7

Housing 6
Paragraphs 
47 - 55

CP.6, 
CP.10

9. CONSULTATION RESPONSES

9.1. Site notices were displayed around the application site on 5th April 2017 and an 
advertisement was published in The Oxford Times newspaper on 5th April 2017.  
Subsequently, the description of development for this application was amended 
and additional amended site notices were displayed around the application site 
and advertisement published in The Oxford Times on 7th June 2017.  

Statutory and Non-Statutory Consultees

Littlemore Parish Council

9.2. Initially objected to the application in the first round of consultation on the basis 
that the then proposed dwelling would be situated at the back corner of the site 
and that the amenity space would be located to the front of the proposed 
dwelling and would be enclosed by a 2 metre high fence which would not be 
acceptable at the front of the property.  Concerns were also raised that the 
proposed enlarged upstairs window would overlook the back boundary of the 
site.

9.3. No further comments were received in the second round of consultation following 
amendments to the proposed development.

Oxfordshire County Council (Highways)

9.4. Raised no objections to the initial proposals subject to a condition requiring 
details to be submitted relating to cycle storage.

161



9.5. No further comments were received in the second round of consultation following 
amendments to the proposed development.

Public representations

9.6. No public comments have been received.

Officer Response

9.7. The comments made by Oxfordshire County Council Highways are no longer 
relevant to the current proposal and therefore are not addressed further in this 
report.  

9.8. Likewise, the comments made by Littlemore Parish Council are no longer 
relevant with the exception of the concerns about the enlargement of the first 
floor window which is considered further in paragraph 10.11.

10. PLANNING MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

10.1. Officers consider the determining issues to be:

 Design and Impact on Conservation Area;
 Impact on Neighbouring amenity;
 Other Issues.

i. Design and Impact on Character on Conservation Area

10.2. David Nicholls Close is characterized by large detached dwellings set within 
spacious plots.  The frontages of the dwellings are predominantly open and 
uncluttered and contribute to the overall open character of the quiet residential 
road.  The application site is located within Littlemore Conservation Area. 
 

10.3. The application proposes minor changes to the existing fenestration on the rear 
and side elevations.  Views of the new replacement window and door will 
therefore be limited from the public highway and the surrounding Conservation 
Area.

10.4. The extension to the front of the building is highly visible from David Nicholls 
Close, however, Officers consider that the appearance of the building has not 
significantly altered following the works to infill the previous porch area.  The 
materials used in the construction of the extension match the existing building 
and it is relatively modest in terms of size.

10.5. The proposed bin store would measure 0.81 metres in depth and 1.3 metres in 
height and would be constructed from natural timber.  The existing bicycle store 
measures 1.82 metres in width, 0.8 metres in depth and 1.4 metres in height and 
is constructed from natural timber.  It would remain unchanged except for its 
positioning.   

162



10.6. The existing bicycle and bin stores are located to the side of the north west 
elevation however the applicant has indicated that this positioning is difficult to 
access.  The application proposes to relocate the bin store further to the north of 
the building and the bicycle store north towards the existing brick pillars.  While 
the proposed positioning of these storage areas would be more visible than 
currently,  they would both be set significantly back from the principal elevation of 
3 David Nicholls Close and therefore would retain subservience within the street 
scene.  Due to their size and set back from the public highway Officers consider 
the proposed structures in their new locations to be acceptable.

10.7. Consequently the proposed development is considered to be acceptable and 
would preserve the character and appearance of the surrounding Conservation 
Area.  The proposals are found to comply with Policies CP1, CP6, CP8 and HE7 
of the Oxford Local Plan, together with Policy CS18 of the Core Strategy and 
Policies HP9 and HP14 of the Sites and Housing Plan which, in combination, 
require that development proposals incorporate high standards of design and 
respect local character and heritage.

 
ii. Impact on Neighbouring Amenity

10.8. The nearest residential properties to the application building are no. 3 David 
Nicholls Close, approximately 2 metres to the north east of the site, and no. 3 
Lanham Way ‘Woodlands’, approximately 15 metres to the south west.  To the 
immediate south/ south west of the building is an undeveloped area of green 
space.

10.9. The application proposes minor external changes including a single storey front, 
infill, extension and the insertion of a larger window and Juliette balcony in the 
rear elevation.  Officers consider that due to the location and size of the 
extension there are no significant impacts on the occupiers of no. 3 David 
Nicholls Close.

10.10. The proposed relocation of the existing bin and bicycle stores would not result in 
any detrimental impacts for neighbouring occupiers do to their modest size and 
the significant distance between them and any neighbouring properties.

10.11. The location of the new window would be on the southern elevation of the 
building at the furthest point from no. 3 Lanham Way.  As such, Officers 
conclude that there would not be significant harmful overlooking impacts arising 
from the proposal.  There would be a slight increase in the amount of overlooking 
of the green space to the south but this is not considered harmful to existing 
residential occupiers.

10.12. The proposals are therefore found to be acceptable and compliant with Sites and 
Housing Plan Policy HP14.

iii. Other Issues

163



10.13. Officers do not consider there to be any other issues which need to be 
addressed in the determining of this application.

11. CONCLUSION

11.1. The proposed development is found to be acceptable and compliant with the 
relevant national and local plan policies.  The extension element has already 
been constructed but would preserve the character and appearance of the 
conservation area.  There would be no harm to the living conditions of 
surrounding neighbouring occupiers.  The design is considered to be appropriate 
and the materials match the existing building. 

11.2.   As such, it is recommended that the Committee resolve to grant planning 
permission for the development proposed subject to the conditions set out below.

12. CONDITIONS

1. Time Limit

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than 
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as amended by the Planning Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. Development in accordance with approved plans

The development permitted shall be constructed in complete accordance with the 
specifications in the application and approved plans listed below, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: To avoid doubt and to ensure an acceptable development as indicated 
on the submitted drawings in accordance with policy CP1 of the Oxford Local Plan 
2001-2016.

3. Materials
The materials to be used in the development shall be as shown on the approved 
plans.  Where details are not provided materials shall match the existing building 
in terms of style, colour, size and general appearance.  There shall be no variation 
of these materials without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory visual appearance of the new development in 
accordance with policies CP1, CP7, CP8 and HE7 of the Adopted Oxford Local 
Plan 2001-2016 and policy CS18 of the Oxford Core Strategy 2026.

164



Informatives

1. NPPF (paras 186 and 187)

In accordance with guidance set out in the National Planning Policy Framework, 
the Council tries to work positively and proactively with applicants towards 
achieving sustainable development that accords with the Development Plan and 
national planning policy objectives. This includes the offer of pre-application 
advice and, where reasonable and appropriate, the opportunity to submit 
amended proposals as well as time for constructive discussions during the course 
of the determination of an application. However, development that is not 
sustainable and that fails to accord with the requirements of the Development 
Plan and/or relevant national policy guidance will normally be refused. The 
Council expects applicants and their agents to adopt a similarly proactive 
approach in pursuit of sustainable development.

1. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Site Location Plan

1. HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998
12.1. Officers have considered the implications of the Human Rights Act 1998 in 

reaching a recommendation to refuse this application.  They consider that the 
interference with the human rights of the applicant under Article 8/Article 1 of 
Protocol 1 is justifiable and proportionate for the protection of the rights and 
freedom of others or the control of his/her property in this way is in accordance 
with the general interest.

2. SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998
12.2. Officers have considered, with due regard, the likely effect of the proposal on the 

need to reduce crime and disorder as part of the determination of this 
application, in accordance with section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  
In reaching a recommendation to refusal of planning permission, officers 
consider that the proposal will not undermine crime prevention or the promotion 
of community

165



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 
17/00586/FUL – 3 David Nicholls Close 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
© Crown Copyright and database right 2011. 
Ordnance Survey 100019348 
 

 
 
 
 

167



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes of a meeting of the 
EAST AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE
on Monday 5 June 2017 

Committee members:

Councillor Taylor (Chair) Councillor Henwood (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Chapman Councillor Clarkson
Councillor Malik Councillor Tanner
Councillor Wilkinson Councillor Wolff

Officers: 
Adrian Arnold, Development Management Service Manager
Amanda Ball, Lawyer
Nadia Robinson, Senior Planning Officer
Sian Saadeh, Development Management Team Leader
Jennifer Thompson, Committee and Members Services Officer

Apologies:
No apologies were received 

1. Election of Chair for the 2017/18 Council year 

Councillor Taylor was elected as Chair of the Committee for the 2017/18 municipal 
year.

2. Election of Vice-Chair for the 2017/18 Council year 

Councillor Henwood was elected as Vice-Chair for the 2017/18 municipal year.

3. Declarations of interest 

Councillor Henwood declared he had a disclosable pecuniary interest in application 
17/00586/FUL as this related to his property.

169

Agenda Item 9



4. S 247 TCPA - footpath diversion re Windrush Tower 

With the agreement of the committee, the Chair took this item first.

The Committee considered a draft order for the stopping up under Section 257 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 of a public path at Windrush Tower, Blackbird 
Leys
The planning officer reported further technical amendments to the draft order to comply 
with procedural and legislative requirements, circulated to the committee as part of the 
presentations.

The Committee resolved that order be made providing for the stopping up of part of 
the public highway footways outside Windrush Tower as shown on the plans 
and that, if after making the order objections are received that cannot be resolved, it 
shall be submitted to the Secretary of State for a decision, or, in the event that no 
objections are received, the order shall be confirmed.

5. 17/00770/FUL: Sir Michael Sobell House Hospice, Old Road, 
Headington, OX3 7LE 

The Committee considered an application for planning permission for the erection of a 
two-storey annexe (with plant room at third-floor level) to create 6 new palliative care 
bedrooms, a new lymphoedema clinic, administration office space and staff welfare 
facilities at Sir Michael Sobell House Hospice, Old Road, Headington, OX3 7LE.
The planning officer reported that the consultation had highlighted errors in the flood 
risk assessment which had been corrected and the drainage had been carefully 
considered and had insignificant impact on the Lye Valley SSSI. She reported that any 
proposal for solar panels may require separate planning permission and was not part of 
this application.
Diane Gardner (CEO of the hospice), Georgia Burt and Robin Edwards (the architects) 
came to the table and answered questions from the committee.
Councillor Wilkinson requested that the Construction Management Plan take into 
account the multiple road works in Headington and route construction traffic away from 
residential roads.

The Committee resolved to grant planning permission for application 17/00770/FUL 
subject to the following conditions:
1. Development begun within time limit.
2. Develop in accordance with approved plans.
3. Materials.
4. Cycle parking.
5. Construction Traffic Management Plan.
6. Travel Plan.

170



7. Landscape plan.
8. Landscape Implementation.
9. Hard Surface Design – tree roots.
10. Underground Services – tree roots.
11. Tree Protection Plan Implementation.
12. Arboricultural Method Statement Implementation.
13. Sustainable drainage – details.
14. Sustainable drainage – implementation.
15. Sustainable drainage – inert gravel materials.
16. Biodiversity enhancements.
17. Archaeology.
18. Air quality – boiler details.
19. Air quality – mitigation measures during construction.
20. Land quality – phased risk assessment.
21. Land quality – remedial works and validation report.

6. 17/00690 FUL: 26 Horspath Road Oxford OX4 2QS 

The Committee considered an application for planning permission for aa garden 
outbuilding at 26 Horspath Road Oxford OX4 2QS.
The Committee noted that condition 4 required the outbuilding is used solely for 
purposes incidental to the main dwelling, and could not be used as a separate dwelling 
or as primary living space such as a bedroom. The council would consider enforcement 
action should a notified breach of planning conditions occur.

The Committee resolved to grant planning permission for application 17/00690 FUL 
subject to the following conditions:
1. Development begun within time limit.
2. Develop in accordance with approved plans.
3. Materials as specified.
4. Use of outbuilding.

7. 17/00692/FUL: 28 Horspath Road Oxford OX4 2QS 

The Committee considered an application for planning permission for aa garden 
outbuilding at 28 Horspath Road Oxford OX4 2QS.
The Committee noted that condition 4 required the outbuilding is used solely for 
purposes incidental to the main dwelling, and could not be used as a separate dwelling 
or as primary living space such as a bedroom. The council would consider enforcement 
action should a notified breach of planning conditions occur.

The Committee resolved to grant planning permission for application 17/00692 FUL 
subject to the following conditions:
1. Development begun within time limit.

171



2. Develop in accordance with approved plans.
3. Materials as specified.
4. Use of outbuilding.
5. Removal of existing outbuilding.

8. 17/00586/FUL: 3 David Nicholls Close,Oxford, OX4 4QX 

The planning officer reported that this item was withdrawn from the agenda to allow for 
consideration of an amended description and plans to be submitted by the applicant. 
The application would not be discussed here but at a future meeting.

9. Minutes 

The Committee resolved to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 10 May 2017 
as a true and accurate record.

10. Forthcoming applications 

The Committee noted the list of forthcoming applications.

11. Dates of future meetings 

The Committee noted the dates.

The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 7.05 pm

Chair ………………………….. Date:  Wednesday 5 July 2017

172


	Agenda
	3 16/03006/FUL: Templars Square, Between Towns Road, Oxford
	16-03006-FULTemplars Square - Appendix 1a Site location Plan
	16-03006-FULTemplars Square - Appendix 1b Proposed Site Plan
	16-03006-FULTemplars Square Appendix 2 Oxfordshire CC response (updated after publication to show comments from April 2017)
	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan.pdf
	8 S 247 TCPA - footpath diversion re Windrush Tower
	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan


	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan.pdf
	8 S 247 TCPA - footpath diversion re Windrush Tower
	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan


	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan.pdf
	8 S 247 TCPA - footpath diversion re Windrush Tower
	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan


	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan.pdf
	8 S 247 TCPA - footpath diversion re Windrush Tower
	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan


	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan.pdf
	8 S 247 TCPA - footpath diversion re Windrush Tower
	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan


	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan.pdf
	8 S 247 TCPA - footpath diversion re Windrush Tower
	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan


	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan.pdf
	8 S 247 TCPA - footpath diversion re Windrush Tower
	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan


	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan.pdf
	8 S 247 TCPA - footpath diversion re Windrush Tower
	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan


	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan.pdf
	8 S 247 TCPA - footpath diversion re Windrush Tower
	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan


	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan.pdf
	8 S 247 TCPA - footpath diversion re Windrush Tower
	14-02641-CONSLT Windrush Tower Appendix 1 site plan



	16-03006-FULTemplars Square - Appendix 3 Summary of third party and indivdual comments
	16-03006-FULTemplars Square - Appendix 4i ODRP Templar Sq Shopping Centre 21. April. 2015
	16-03006-FULTemplars Square - Appendix 4ii ODRP Templar Sq Shopping Centre 23. sept. 2015
	16-03006-FULTemplars Square - Appendix 4iii ODRP Templar Sq Shopping Centre 17. dec. 2015
	16-03006-FULTemplars Square - Appendix 5 Environmental Statement Technical Summary

	4 17/00923/FUL: Royal Mail, 7000 Alec Issigonis Way, Oxford, OX4 2JZ
	7000 Alec Issigonis Way 17-00923-FUL Site Plan

	5 17/01101/CEU: 99 Gipsy Lane
	17 01101 CEU 99 Gipsy Lane Site Plan

	6 17/01102/CEU: 7 Old Road, OX3 7JY
	17/01102/CEU: 7 Old Road, OX3 7JY - Site Plan

	7 17/01115/CT3 Btw 21 and 45 Van Diemans Lane
	17 01115 CT3 21 and 45 Van Diemans Lane Site Plan

	8 17/00586/FUL: 3 David Nicholls Close,Oxford, OX4 4QX
	17-00586-FUL - 3 David Nicholls Close - Site Plan

	9 Minutes



